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 Key Financial and Operational Highlights 

 

 Total system sales grew 4% year over year ("YoY"), excluding foreign currency translation ("F/X"). 

 Same-store sales grew 1% YoY.  

 Total revenues increased 4% YoY to $11.8 billion, also a 4% increase excluding F/X. 

 Opened 1,706 net new stores, of which 31% were opened by franchisees. Total store count reached 

18,101 as of December 31, 2025. 

 Operating profit grew 11% YoY to $1.3 billion. Core operating profit grew 11% YoY.  

 OP margin was 10.9%, up 60 basis points YoY. 

 Restaurant margin was 16.3%, an increase of 60 basis points YoY, driven by improvements in Food 

and Paper and Occupancy and Other Operating expenses ratios. 

 Diluted EPS increased 8% YoY to $2.51, also up 8% excluding F/X, and up 14% further excluding the 

impact of the mark-to-market equity investments. 

 Returned $1.5 billion to shareholders in 2025 through $353 million in cash dividends and $1.14 billion 

in share repurchases. 

 Delivery sales grew 25% YoY. Delivery contributed approximately 48% of total Company sales, up 

from 39% last year. 

 Total membership of KFC and Pizza Hut exceeded 590 million, up 13% YoY. Active Members, 
defined as those who transacted in the past 12 months, of KFC or Pizza Hut, exceeded 265 million, 

representing a 13% YoY increase. 
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Independent auditor’s report 

to the stockholders of Yum China Holdings, Inc.  
(incorporated in Delaware, United States of America) 

  

 

Opinion 

  

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yum China Holdings, Inc. (“Yum China”) and its subsidiaries (“the 

Company”) set out on pages 7 to 60, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2025, the consolidated 

statement of income, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of equity and the 

consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a 

summary of significant accounting policies. 

  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 

Company as at December 31, 2025 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year 

then ended in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and have been properly prepared in compliance 
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. 

  
Basis for opinion 

  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 

financial statements section of our report.  We are independent of the Company in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), as applicable to audits of financial statements of public interest entities. 

We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

  
Key audit matters 

  
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 

on these matters. 
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Key audit matters (continued) 

  
 Assessment of impairment of long-lived assets of restaurants 

Refer to notes 6 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 27 to 28, pages 30 to 32, and the accounting 

policies on pages 16 to 17. 

 The Key Audit Matter  How the matter was addressed in our audit 

  Property, plant and equipment, net and operating lease right-

of-use assets were US$2,543 million and US$2,189 million, 

respectively, as of December 31, 2025, which included the 

long-lived assets of the Company’s restaurants. For 

restaurant assets with indicators that the carrying value may 

not be recoverable, the Company evaluates the 

recoverability of these assets by comparing the forecasted 

undiscounted cash flows of the restaurant’s operation to the 

carrying value of such assets. For restaurant assets that are 

not deemed to be recoverable, the Company writes down the 

restaurant assets to the estimated fair value. The Company 
determines the fair value of the restaurant assets based on 

the higher of the forecasted discounted cash flows of the 

restaurant’s operation and the price market participants 

would pay to sub-lease the operating lease right-of-use 

assets and acquire the remaining restaurant assets.  

  

We identified the assessment of impairment of long-lived 

assets of restaurants as a key audit matter. A high degree of 

auditor judgment was required in assessing the sales growth 

rates used to estimate the forecasted undiscounted cash 

flows of the restaurants’ operations. In addition, specialized 
skills and knowledge were needed to assess the Company’s 

market rental assumptions to estimate the fair values of the 

operating lease right-of-use assets. 

  

  

    The following are the primary procedures we performed to 

address this key audit matter. We evaluated the design and 

tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls 

related to the Company’s long-lived assets of restaurants 

impairment assessment process. This included controls 

related to the determination of the sales growth rates and the 

market rentals. To evaluate the sales growth rates, we 

compared the sales growth rates of a sample of restaurants 

to the historical sales growth rates and the Company’s 

operation plans for the respective restaurants. We performed 

sensitivity analyses over the sales growth rates for a 
selection of restaurants to assess their impact on the 

restaurants’ forecasted undiscounted cash flows. We 

involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and 

knowledge, who assisted in: 

 Comparing the market rentals of a sample of 

restaurants to respective market rental ranges 

that we independently developed using external 

data; and 

 Developing independent estimates of the fair 

values of the operating lease right-of-use assets 

based on the price that market participants 
would pay to sub-lease the right-of-use assets 

for a sample of restaurants and comparing the 

results of our estimates to the Company’s 

estimates. 
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Key audit matters (continued) 

  
 Evaluation of uncertain tax position 

Refer to note 14 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 39 to 42 and the accounting policies on pages 17 to 18. 

 The Key Audit Matter  How the matter was addressed in our audit 

  The Company recognizes the benefit of positions taken or 

expected to be taken in tax returns in the financial statements 

when it is more likely than not (more than a 50% likelihood) 

that the position would be sustained upon examination by 

tax authorities. Since 2016, the Company has been under a 

national audit on transfer pricing by the Chinese State 

Taxation Administration (“STA”) in China regarding the 

related party transactions for the period from 2006 to 2015.  

  

We identified the evaluation of the Company’s uncertain tax 

position pertaining to the transfer pricing used in the related 

party transactions under audit by the STA as a key audit 
matter. A high degree of auditor judgment and specialized 

skills and knowledge were required in evaluating the 

Company's interpretation of the applicable tax laws and 

regulations and the estimate of the more likely than not 

assessment of tax position being sustained under 

examination by tax authorities. 

    The following are the primary procedures we performed to 

address this key audit matter. We evaluated the design and 

tested the operating effectiveness of the internal control 

related to the Company’s assessment process pertaining to 

the transfer pricing audit, including the control related to the 

interpretation of the applicable tax laws and regulations and 

the assessment of the uncertain tax position being sustained 

under examination by tax authorities. Since tax law is 

complex and often subject to interpretation, we involved tax 

professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who 

assisted in: 

 Evaluating the Company’s identification and 
consideration of information that could 

significantly affect the recognition and 

measurement of the uncertain tax position; and 

 Evaluating the Company’s interpretation of 

applicable tax laws and regulations, technical 

analysis and the application of the accounting 

standards in assessing the recognition and 

measurement of the potential impact from the 

uncertain tax position. 

  

  

  
Information other than the consolidated financial statements and auditor’s report thereon 

  
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the information included in the 

annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

  
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon. 

  

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 

in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or 

our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 

required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

  
Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements 

  

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 

  

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Company’s financial 

reporting process. 

  
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This 

report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do 

not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.  

   
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs 

will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 

taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.   

  

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 

throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 

resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 

intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Company’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by the directors. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 

audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 

are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 

conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 

in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 
information of the entities or business units within the Company as a basis for forming an opinion on the 

consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work 

performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

  

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
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Auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

 

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 

independence and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 

independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

  
From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 

audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 

matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 

rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 

of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

  

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Wong, Chi Yeung (practising certificate 

number: P08077). 

  

  

  

  
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

KPMG  
Certified Public Accountants 

  

8th Floor, Prince’s Building 
10 Chater Road 

Central, Hong Kong 

  

February 27, 2026 
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Consolidated Statements of Income 

Yum China Holdings, Inc.  

Years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023  

(in US$ millions, except per share data) 

  2025   2024   2023  

Revenues          

Company sales  $ 11,039   $ 10,651   $ 10,391  

Franchise fees and income   104    94    89  

Revenues from transactions with franchisees   502    420    372  

Other revenues   152    138    126  

Total revenues   11,797    11,303    10,978  

Costs and Expenses, Net          

Company restaurants          

Food and paper   3,455    3,387    3,224  

Payroll and employee benefits   2,987    2,787    2,725  

Occupancy and other operating expenses   2,794    2,798    2,752  

Company restaurant expenses   9,236    8,972    8,701  

General and administrative expenses   581    568    638  
Franchise expenses   41    37    36  

Expenses for transactions with franchisees   481    404    356  

Other operating costs and expenses   132    122    112  

Closures and impairment expenses, net   37    39    29  

Other income, net   (1 )   (1 )   —  

Total costs and expenses, net   10,507    10,141    9,872  

Operating Profit   1,290    1,162    1,106  

Interest income, net   92    129    169  

Investment (loss) gain   (24 )   40    (49 ) 

Income Before Income Taxes and Equity in  

   Net Earnings (Losses) from Equity Method Investments   1,358    1,331    1,226  

Income tax provision   (369 )   (356 )   (329 ) 

Equity in net earnings (losses) from  

   equity method investments   15    5    4  

Net income – including noncontrolling interests   1,004    980    901  
Net income – noncontrolling interests   75    69    74  

Net Income – Yum China Holdings, Inc.  $ 929   $ 911   $ 827  

Weighted-average common shares outstanding (in millions):          

Basic   369    388    416  

Diluted   371    390    420  

Basic Earnings Per Common Share  $ 2.52   $ 2.34   $ 1.99  

Diluted Earnings Per Common Share  $ 2.51   $ 2.33   $ 1.97  
 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 

Yum China Holdings, Inc. 

Years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023 

(in US$ millions) 

  

  2025   2024   2023  

Net income – including noncontrolling interests  $ 1,004   $ 980   $ 901  

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax          

Foreign currency translation adjustments   212    (130 )   (146 ) 

Comprehensive income – including noncontrolling interests   1,216    850    755  

Comprehensive income – noncontrolling interests   103    51    54  

Comprehensive Income – Yum China Holdings, Inc.  $ 1,113   $ 799   $ 701  

  

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

Yum China Holdings, Inc. 

Years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023 

(in US$ millions) 

  2025   2024   2023  

Cash Flows – Operating Activities          

Net income – including noncontrolling interests  $ 1,004   $ 980   $ 901  

Depreciation and amortization   448    476    453  

Non-cash operating lease cost   401    408    404  

Closures and impairment expenses   37    39    29  

Investment loss (gain)   24    (40 )   49  

Equity in net (earnings) losses from equity method investments   (15 )   (5 )   (4 ) 

Distributions of income received from equity method investments   16    11    11  

Deferred income taxes   (14 )   (7 )   (10 ) 

Share-based compensation expense   42    41    64  

Changes in accounts receivable   (11 )   (9 )   (6 ) 

Changes in inventories   (14 )   8    (19 ) 

Changes in prepaid expenses, other current assets and value-added tax assets   (51 )   (27 )   (35 ) 

Changes in accounts payable and other current liabilities   (33 )   (3 )   84  

Changes in income taxes payable   9    (12 )   25  

Changes in non-current operating lease liabilities   (411 )   (411 )   (407 ) 

Other, net   34    (30 )   (66 ) 

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities   1,466    1,419    1,473  

Cash Flows – Investing Activities          

Capital spending   (626 )   (705 )   (710 ) 

Purchases of short-term investments, long-term bank deposits and notes   (7,583 )   (4,728 )   (3,517 ) 

Maturities of short-term investments, long-term bank deposits and notes   8,216    5,251    3,499  

Acquisitions of equity investments   (14 )   —    (20 ) 

Other, net   2    4    5  

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities   (5 )   (178 )   (743 ) 

Cash Flows – Financing Activities          

Proceeds from short-term borrowings   29    307    264  

Repayment of short-term borrowings   (129 )   (346 )   (100 ) 

Repurchase of shares of common stock   (1,144 )   (1,249 )   (613 ) 

Cash dividends paid on common stock   (353 )   (248 )   (216 ) 

Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests   (75 )   (80 )   (77 ) 

Acquisitions of noncontrolling interests   (8 )   —    —  

Contributions from noncontrolling interests   —    —    35  

Payment of acquisition related holdback   —    —    (3 ) 

Other, net   (9 )   (20 )   (6 ) 

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities   (1,689 )   (1,636 )   (716 ) 

Effect of Exchange Rates on Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash   11    (10 )   (16 ) 

Net Decrease in Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash   (217 )   (405 )   (2 ) 

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash - Beginning of Year   723    1,128    1,130  

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash - End of Year  $ 506   $ 723   $ 1,128  

          

Supplemental Cash Flow Data          

Cash paid for income tax   370    393    324  

Cash paid for interest   —    4    3  

Non-cash Investing and Financing Activities          

Capital expenditures included in accounts payable and other current liabilities   166    192    226  
 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets 

Yum China Holdings, Inc.  

December 31, 2025 and 2024 

(in US$ millions) 

 

  2025   2024  

ASSETS       

Current Assets       

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 506   $ 723  

Short-term investments   878    1,121  

Accounts receivable, net   95    79  

Inventories, net   438    405  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets   440    366  

Total Current Assets   2,357    2,694  

Property, plant and equipment, net   2,543    2,407  

Operating lease right-of-use assets   2,189    2,146  

Goodwill   1,963    1,880  

Intangible assets, net   148    144  

Long-term bank deposits and notes   678    1,088  

Equity investments   387    368  

Deferred income tax assets   156    138  

Other assets   362    256  

Total Assets   10,783    11,121  

LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTEREST 

 AND EQUITY       

Current Liabilities       

Accounts payable and other current liabilities   2,127    2,080  

Short-term borrowings   30    127  

Income taxes payable   89    76  

Total Current Liabilities   2,246    2,283  

Non-current operating lease liabilities   1,823    1,816  

Non-current finance lease liabilities   51    49  

Deferred income tax liabilities   406    389  

Other liabilities   158    157  

Total Liabilities   4,684    4,694  

       

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest   —    13  

       

Equity       

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 1,000 million shares authorized; 

  355 million shares and 379 million shares issued at December 31, 2025 and 2024,  

  respectively; 354 million shares and 378 million shares outstanding at December 31,  

  2025 and 2024, respectively.   4    4  

Treasury stock   (28 )   (52 ) 

Additional paid-in capital   3,796    4,028  

Retained earnings   1,764    2,089  

Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (157 )   (341 ) 

Total Yum China Holdings, Inc. Stockholders' Equity   5,379    5,728  

Noncontrolling interests   720    686  

Total Equity   6,099    6,414  

Total Liabilities, Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest and Equity  $ 10,783   $ 11,121  
  

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Consolidated Statements of Equity 

Yum China Holdings, Inc. 

Years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023 

(in US$ millions) 

 

  
  Yum China Holdings, Inc.           

              Accumulated                 

  Common   Additional      Other               Redeemable  

  Stock   Paid-in   Retained   Comprehensive   Treasury Stock   Noncontrolling   Total   Noncontrolling  

  Shares*   Amount   Capital   Earnings   Income (Loss)   Shares*   Amount   Interests   Equity   Interest  

Balance at December 31, 2022   419   $ 4   $ 4,390   $ 2,191   $ (103 )   —   $ —   $ 666   $ 7,148   $ 12  

Net Income            827             73    900    1  

Foreign currency translation adjustments               (126 )         (20 )   (146 )   —  

Comprehensive income                           754    1  

Cash dividends declared 

 ($0.52 per common share)            (216 )               (216 )    

Distributions to/contributions from noncontrolling interests                        (19 )   (19 )    

Repurchase and retirement of shares   (12 )   —    (131 )   (492 )      —    —       (623 )    

Exercise and vesting of share-based awards   1    —    (2 )                  (2 )    

Share-based compensation         63                1    64     

Balance at December 31, 2023   407   $ 4   $ 4,320   $ 2,310   $ (229 )   —   $ —   $ 701   $ 7,106   $ 13  

Net Income            911             69    980    —  

Foreign currency translation adjustments               (112 )         (18 )   (130 )   —  

Comprehensive income                           850    —  

Cash dividends declared 

 ($0.64 per common share)            (248 )               (248 )    

Distributions to/contributions from noncontrolling interests                        (66 )   (66 )    

Repurchase and retirement of shares   (30 )   —    (319 )   (884 )      (1 )   (52 )      (1,255 )    

Exercise and vesting of share-based awards   2    —    (14 )                  (14 )    

Share-based compensation         41                —    41     

Balance at December 31, 2024   379   $ 4   $ 4,028   $ 2,089   $ (341 )   (1 )  $ (52 )  $ 686   $ 6,414   $ 13  

Net Income            929             75    1,004    —  

Foreign currency translation adjustments               184          28    212    —  

Comprehensive income                           1,216    —  

Acquisition of noncontrolling interest         2                   2    (13 ) 

Cash dividends declared 

 ($0.96 per common share)            (353 )               (353 )    

Distributions to/contributions from noncontrolling interests                        (69 )   (69 )    

Repurchase and retirement of shares   (25 )   —    (271 )   (901 )      1    24       (1,148 )    

Exercise and vesting of share-based awards   1    —    (5 )                  (5 )    

Share-based compensation         42                —    42     

Balance at December 31, 2025   355   $ 4   $ 3,796   $ 1,764   $ (157 )   (1 )  $ (28 )  $ 720   $ 6,099   $ —  

  
*: Shares may not add due to rounding.  
 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

(Tabular amounts in US$ millions, except as otherwise noted) 

 

Note 1 – Description of Business 

 

Yum China Holdings, Inc. (“Yum China” and, together with its subsidiaries, the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our”) was 

incorporated in Delaware on April 1, 2016. The Company separated from Yum! Brands, Inc. (“YUM”) on October 31, 2016 (the 

“separation”). 

 

The Company owns, franchises or has ownership in entities that own and operate restaurants (also referred to as “stores” or “units”) 

under the KFC, Pizza Hut, Lavazza, Huang Ji Huang, Little Sheep and Taco Bell concepts (collectively, the “concepts”). Our right 

to use and sublicense the use of intellectual property owned by YUM and its subsidiaries for the development and operation of the 

KFC, Pizza Hut and Taco Bell brands and their related marks and other intellectual property rights for restaurant services is governed 

by the master license agreement between Yum Restaurants Consulting (Shanghai) Company Limited (“YCCL”), a wholly-owned 

indirect subsidiary of the Company and YUM, through YRI China Franchising LLC, a subsidiary of YUM, effective from January 

1, 2020 and previously through Yum! Restaurants Asia Pte. Ltd., another subsidiary of YUM, from October 31, 2016 to December 
31, 2019. Pursuant to the master license agreement, we are the exclusive licensee of the KFC, Pizza Hut and, subject to the agreed 

terms, Taco Bell brands and their related marks and other intellectual property rights for restaurant services in the People’s Republic 

of China (the “PRC” or “China”), excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan. The term of the license is 50 years from October 31, 

2016 for the KFC and Pizza Hut brands and, subject to achieving certain agreed-upon milestones, 50 years from April 15, 2022 for 

the Taco Bell brand, with automatic renewals for additional consecutive renewal terms of 50 years each, subject only to us being in 

“good standing” and unless we give notice of our intent not to renew. In exchange, we pay a license fee to YUM equal to 3% of net 

system sales from both our Company and franchise restaurants. The agreed-upon milestone for the Taco Bell brand included at least 

225 stores by the end of 2025, subject to the terms of the agreement. There were 28 Taco Bell restaurants in China at the end of 

2025, and the Company and YUM are currently in the process of renegotiating the terms with respect to the development of the Taco 

Bell brand in China. We own the intellectual property of Huang Ji Huang and Little Sheep and pay no license fee related to these 

concepts. 
 

In 1987, KFC was the first major global restaurant brand to enter China. As of December 31, 2025, there were 12,997 KFC stores 

in China. We maintain a controlling interest of 58%, 70%, 83%, 92% and approximately 60% in the entities that own and operate 

the KFCs in and around Shanghai, Beijing, Wuxi, Suzhou and Hangzhou, respectively.  

 

The first Pizza Hut in China opened in 1990. As of December 31, 2025, there were 4,168 Pizza Hut restaurants in China. 

 

In the second quarter of 2020, the Company partnered with Luigi Lavazza S.p.A. (“Lavazza Group”), the world-renowned family-

owned Italian coffee company, and established a joint venture (“Lavazza joint venture”) to explore and develop the Lavazza coffee 

concept in China. Lavazza joint venture operates both the coffee shop business and the retail business. We maintain a controlling 

interest of 65% equity interest in the Lavazza joint venture. 

 

In 2017, the Company acquired a controlling interest in the holding company of DAOJIA.com.cn (“Daojia”), an online food delivery 

service provider in China. This business was extended to also include a team managing the delivery services for restaurants, including 

restaurants in our system, with their results reported under our delivery operating segment. 

 

The Company has two reportable segments: KFC and Pizza Hut. Our non-reportable operating segments, including the operations 

of Lavazza, Huang Ji Huang, Little Sheep, Taco Bell and our delivery operating segment are combined and referred to as All Other 
Segments, as these operating segments are insignificant both individually and in the aggregate. For 2023 and 2024, All Other 

Segments also consisted of e-commerce segment, which included the operating results of Shaofaner, a retail brand selling packaged 

foods through online and offline channels until August 2024. Additional details on our segment reporting are included in Note 15. 
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The Company’s common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “YUMC”. On September 

10, 2020, the Company completed a secondary listing of its common stock on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange 

(“HKEX”) under the stock code “9987,” in connection with a global offering of 41,910,700 shares of its common stock. Net proceeds 

raised by the Company from the global offering after deducting underwriting fees and the offering expenses amounted to $2.2 billion. 

On October 24, 2022, the Company’s voluntary conversion of its secondary listing status to a primary listing status on the HKEX 

became effective (“Primary Conversion”) and the Company became a dual primary listed company on the NYSE and HKEX. On 
the same day, the Company’s shares of common stock traded on the HKEX were included in the Shanghai-Hong Kong Stock Connect 

and Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect. The Company’s common stock listed on the NYSE and HKEX continue to be fully 

fungible. 

 

Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 

Our preparation of the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”) requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of 

assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts 

of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates. We have also prepared the 

Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities 

on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Listing Rules”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance (Cap.622 of the Laws of Hong Kong). 

 

Basis of Preparation and Principles of Consolidation. Intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in 

consolidation. We consolidate entities in which we have a controlling financial interest, the usual condition of which is ownership 
of a majority voting interest. We also consider consolidating an entity in which we have certain interests where the controlling 

financial interest may be achieved through arrangements that do not involve voting interests. Such an entity, known as a variable 

interest entity (“VIE”), is required to be consolidated by its primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary is the entity that possesses 

the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact its economic performance and has the obligation to absorb 

losses or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that are significant to it. 

 

Our most significant variable interests are in entities that operate restaurants under franchise arrangements. We do not generally have 

an equity interest in our franchisee businesses. Additionally, we do not typically provide significant financial support such as loans 

or guarantees to our franchisees. We have variable interests in certain entities that operate restaurants under franchise agreements 
through real estate and property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) lease arrangements with them to which we are a party. At December 

31, 2025, the Company had future lease payments due from franchisees, on a nominal basis, of approximately $25 million. As our 

franchise arrangements provide our franchisee entities the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact their economic 

performance, we do not consider ourselves the primary beneficiary of any such entity that might otherwise be considered a VIE. 

 

Through the acquisition of Daojia, the Company also acquired a VIE and subsidiaries of the VIE effectively controlled by Daojia. 

There exists a parent-subsidiary relationship between Daojia and its VIE as a result of certain exclusive agreements that require 

Daojia to consolidate its VIE and subsidiaries of the VIE because Daojia is the primary beneficiary that possesses the power to direct 

the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact its economic performance, and is entitled to substantially all of the profits 
and has the obligation to absorb all of the expected losses of the VIE. The acquired VIE and its subsidiaries were considered 

immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate. The results of Daojia’s operations have been included in the Company’s 

Consolidated Financial Statements since the acquisition date. 

 

We consolidate the entities that operate KFCs in and around Shanghai, Beijing, Wuxi, Suzhou and Hangzhou, as well as the Lavazza 

joint venture where we have controlling interests since the respective acquisition dates.  

 

Comparative Information. Certain comparative items in the Consolidated Financial Statements have been reclassified 

to conform to the current year’s presentation to facilitate comparison. 

 

Fiscal Calendar. Our fiscal year ends on December 31, with each quarter comprised of three months. 
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Foreign Currency. Our functional currency for the operating entities in China is the Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”), the currency of 

the primary economic environment in which they operate. Income and expense accounts for our operations are then translated into 

U.S. dollars at the average exchange rates prevailing during the period. Assets and liabilities are then translated into U.S. dollars at 

exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Foreign currency translation adjustments are recorded in the Accumulated other 

comprehensive income on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Gains and losses arising from the impact of foreign currency exchange 

rate fluctuations on transactions in foreign currency, to the extent they arise, are included in our Consolidated Statements of Income. 
 

Franchise Operations. We execute agreements which set out the terms of our arrangement with franchisees. Our franchise 

agreements typically require the franchisee to pay a combination of upfront franchise fees and continuing fees based upon a 

percentage of sales. Subject to our approval and their payment of a renewal fee, a franchisee may generally renew the franchise 

agreement upon its expiration. 

 

The 3% license fees we pay to YUM for the right to sublicense the KFC, Pizza Hut and Taco Bell intellectual property to franchisees 

are recorded in Franchise expenses. License fees due to YUM for our Company-owned stores are included in Occupancy and other 

operating expenses. Total license fees paid to YUM were $344 million, $327 million and $317 million during the years ended 
December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

 

Certain direct costs of our franchise operations are charged to Franchise expenses. These costs include provisions for estimated 

uncollectible fees, rent or depreciation expense associated with restaurants we sub-lease to franchisees, and certain other direct 

incremental franchise support costs. 

 

We also have certain transactions with franchisees, which consist primarily of sales of food and paper products, advertising services, 

delivery services and other services. Related revenues and expenses are included in Revenues from and Expenses for transactions 

with franchisees. 

 

Revenue Recognition. The Company’s revenues include Company sales, Franchise fees and income, Revenues from transactions 

with franchisees, and Other revenues. 
 

Company Sales 

 

Revenues from Company-owned restaurants are recognized when a customer takes possession of the food and tenders payment, 

which is when our obligation to perform is satisfied. The Company presents sales net of sales-related taxes. We also offer our 

customers delivery through both our own mobile applications and third-party aggregators’ platforms. We use both our dedicated 

riders and platform riders to deliver orders. When orders are fulfilled by our dedicated riders or platform riders, we control and 

determine the price for the delivery service and generally recognize revenue, including delivery fees, when a customer takes 

possession of the food. When orders are fulfilled by the delivery staff of third-party aggregators, who control and determine the price 

for the delivery service, we recognize revenue, excluding delivery fees, when control of the food is transferred to the third-party 

aggregators’ delivery staff. The payment terms with respect to these sales are short-term in nature. 
 

We recognize revenues from prepaid stored-value products, including gift cards and product vouchers, when they are redeemed by 

the customer. Prepaid gift cards sold at any given point generally expire over the next 36 months, and product vouchers generally 

expire over a period of up to 12 months. We recognize breakage revenue, which is the amount of prepaid stored-value products that 

is not expected to be redeemed, either (1) proportionally in earnings as redemptions occur, in situations where the Company expects 

to be entitled to a breakage amount, or (2) when the likelihood of redemption is remote, in situations where the Company does not 

expect to be entitled to breakage, provided that there is no requirement for remitting balances to government agencies under 

unclaimed property laws. The Company reviews its breakage estimates at least annually based upon the latest available information 

regarding redemption and expiration patterns.  

 

Our privilege membership programs offer privilege members rights to multiple benefits, such as free delivery and discounts on 

certain products. For certain privilege membership programs offering a pre-defined amount of benefits that can be redeemed ratably 
over the membership period, revenue is ratably recognized over the period based on the elapse of time. With respect to privilege 

membership programs offering members a mix of distinct benefits, including a welcome gift and assorted discount coupons with 

pre-defined quantities, consideration collected is allocated to the benefits provided based on their relative standalone selling price 

and revenue is recognized when food or services are delivered or the benefits expire. In determining the relative standalone selling 

price of the benefits, the Company considers likelihood of future redemption based on historical redemption pattern and reviews 

such estimates periodically based upon the latest available information regarding redemption and expiration patterns. 
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Franchise Fees and Income 

 

Franchise fees and income primarily include a combination of upfront franchise fees and continuing fees. We have determined that 

the services we provide in exchange for upfront franchise fees and continuing fees are highly interrelated with the franchise right. 

We recognize upfront franchise fees received from a franchisee as revenue over the term of the franchise agreement or the renewal 

agreement because the franchise rights are accounted for as rights to access our symbolic intellectual property. The franchise 
agreement term is generally 10 years for KFC and Pizza Hut, generally five years for Little Sheep and three to 10 years for Huang 

Ji Huang. We recognize continuing fees, which are based upon a percentage of franchisee sales, as those sales occur.  

 

Revenues from Transactions with Franchisees 

 

Revenues from transactions with franchisees consist primarily of sales of food and paper products, advertising services, delivery 

services and other services provided to franchisees. 

 

The Company centrally purchases substantially all food and paper products from suppliers for substantially all of our restaurants, 

including franchisees, and then sells and delivers them to the restaurants. In addition, the Company owns seasoning facilities for its 

Chinese dining business unit, which primarily manufacture and sell seasoning products to Huang Ji Huang and Little Sheep 

franchisees. The Company also provides delivery services to franchisees. The performance obligation arising from such transactions 
is considered distinct from the franchise agreement as it is not highly dependent on the franchise agreement and the customer can 

benefit from such services on its own. We consider ourselves the principal in this arrangement as we have the ability to control a 

promised good or service before transferring that good or service to the franchisees. Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control 

over ordered items or services, generally upon delivery to the franchisees. 

 

For advertising services, the Company often engages third parties to provide services and acts as a principal in the transaction based 

on our responsibilities of defining the nature of the services and administering and directing all marketing and advertising programs 

in accordance with the provisions of our franchise agreements. The Company collects advertising contributions, which are generally 

based on certain percentage of sales from substantially all of our restaurants, including franchisees. Other services provided to 

franchisees consist primarily of customer and technology support services. Advertising services and other services provided are 

highly interrelated to franchise right, and are not considered individually distinct. We recognize revenue when the related sales occur.  

 

Other Revenues 

 

Other revenues primarily include i) sales of products to customers through e-commerce channels, sales of Lavazza coffee retail 

products beyond Lavazza coffee shops, and sales of our seasoning products to distributors, and ii) revenues from logistics and 

warehousing services provided to third parties through our supply chain network. Our segment disclosures also include revenues 

relating to delivery services that were provided to our Company-owned restaurants and, therefore, were eliminated for consolidation 

purposes.   

  

Other revenues are recognized upon transfer of control of promised products or services to customers in an amount that reflects the 

consideration we expect to receive in exchange for those products or services.    

 

Loyalty Programs  

 

Each of the Company’s KFC and Pizza Hut reportable segments operates a loyalty program that allows registered members to earn 
points for each qualifying purchase. Points, which generally expire 18 months after being earned, may be redeemed for future 

purchases of KFC or Pizza Hut branded products or other products for free or at a discounted price. Points cannot be redeemed or 

exchanged for cash. The estimated value of points earned by the loyalty program members is recorded as a reduction of revenue at 

the time the points are earned, based on the percentage of points that are projected to be redeemed, with a corresponding deferred 

revenue liability included in Accounts payable and other current liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and subsequently 

recognized into revenue when the points are redeemed or expire. The Company estimates the value of the future redemption 

obligations based on the estimated value of the product for which points are expected to be redeemed and historical redemption 

patterns and reviews such estimates periodically based upon the latest available information regarding redemption and expiration 

patterns. 
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Direct Marketing Costs. We charge direct marketing costs to expense ratably in relation to revenues over the year in which incurred 

and, in the case of advertising production costs, in the year the advertisement is first shown. Deferred direct marketing costs, which 

are classified as prepaid expenses, consist of media and related advertising production costs which will generally be used for the first 

time in the next fiscal year and have historically not been significant. Our direct marketing expenses incurred for Company-owned 

restaurants were $354 million, $346 million and $374 million in 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and were included in Occupancy 

and other operating expenses. In addition, the direct marketing costs incurred for franchisees were $32 million, $26 million and $25 
million in 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and were recorded in Expenses for transactions with franchisees.  

 

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses associated with our food innovation activities, which 

are expensed as incurred, are reported in general and administrative ("G&A") expenses. Research and development expenses were 

$8 million, $6 million and $6 million during the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023. 

 

Share-Based Compensation. We recognize all share-based payments to employees and directors, including grants of stock options, 

stock appreciation rights (“SARs”), restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and performance share units (“PSUs”), in the Consolidated 

Financial Statements as compensation cost over the service period based on their fair value on the date of grant. This compensation 

cost is recognized over the service period on a straight-line basis, net of an assumed forfeiture rate, for awards that actually vest and 

when performance conditions are probable of being achieved, if applicable. Forfeiture rates are estimated at grant date based on 

historical experience and compensation cost is adjusted in subsequent periods for differences in actual forfeitures from the previous 
estimates. We present this compensation cost consistent with the other compensation costs for the employee recipient in either payroll 

and employee benefits or G&A expenses.  

 

Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. Long-lived assets, primarily PP&E and operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets 

are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the assets may not be 

recoverable. The assets are not recoverable if their carrying value is higher than the undiscounted cash flows we expect to generate 

from such assets. If the assets are not deemed to be recoverable, impairment is measured based on the excess of their carrying value 

over their fair value. 

 

For purposes of impairment testing for our restaurants, we have concluded that an individual restaurant is the lowest level of 

independent cash flows unless our intent is to refranchise restaurants as a group. We review our long-lived assets of such individual 
restaurants (primarily operating lease ROU assets and PP&E) semi-annually for impairment, or whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a restaurant may not be recoverable. Our primary indicators of potential 

impairment for our semi-annual impairment testing of these restaurant assets include two consecutive years of operating losses after 

a restaurant has been open for three years. We evaluate the recoverability of these restaurant assets by comparing the forecasted 

undiscounted cash flows of the restaurant’s operation, which are based on our entity-specific assumptions, to the carrying value of 

such assets. The forecasted undiscounted cash flows incorporate our best estimate of sales growth based upon our operation plans 

for the unit and actual results at comparable restaurants. For restaurant assets that are not deemed to be recoverable, we write down 

an impaired restaurant to its estimated fair value, which becomes its new cost basis. Fair value is an estimate of the price market 

participants would pay for the restaurant and its related assets. In determining the fair value of restaurant-level assets, we considered 

the highest and best use of the assets from market participants’ perspective, which is represented by the higher of the forecasted 

discounted cash flows from operating restaurants and the price market participants would pay to sub-lease the operating lease ROU 

assets and acquire remaining restaurant assets, even if that use differs from the current use by the Company. The after-tax cash flows 
incorporate reasonable assumptions we believe a franchisee would make such as sales growth and include a deduction for royalties 

we would receive under a franchise agreement with terms substantially at market. The discount rate used in the fair value calculation 

is our estimate of the required rate-of-return that a franchisee would expect to receive when purchasing a similar restaurant and the 

related long-lived assets. Estimates of the price market participants would pay to sub-lease the operating lease ROU assets are based 

on comparable market rental information that could be reasonably obtained for the property. In situations where the highest and best 

use of the restaurant-level assets from market participants’ perspective is represented by sub-leasing the operating lease ROU assets 

and acquiring remaining restaurant assets, the Company continues to use these assets in operating its restaurant business, which is 

consistent with its long-term strategy of growing revenue through operating restaurant concepts. 
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When we believe it is more likely than not a restaurant or groups of restaurants will be refranchised for a price less than their carrying 

value, but do not believe the restaurant(s) have met the criteria to be classified as held for sale, we review the restaurants for 

impairment. We evaluate the recoverability of these restaurant assets by comparing estimated sales proceeds plus holding period 

cash flows, if any, to the carrying value of the restaurant or group of restaurants. For restaurant assets that are not deemed to be 

recoverable, we recognize impairment for any excess of carrying value over the fair value of the restaurants, which is based on the 
expected net sales proceeds, and such impairment charges are recorded in Refranchising gain. Refranchising gain also includes the 

gains or losses from the sales of our restaurants to new and existing franchisees, which is recognized when the sale transaction closes 

and control of the franchise operations has transferred to the franchisees. 

 

When we decide to close a restaurant, it is reviewed for impairment, and depreciable lives are adjusted based on the expected disposal 

date. Other costs incurred when closing a restaurant such as costs of disposing of the assets as well as other facility-related expenses 

are generally expensed as incurred. Additionally, at the time we decide to close a restaurant, we reassess whether it is reasonably 

certain that we will exercise the termination option, and remeasure lease liability to reflect changes in lease term and remaining lease 

payments based on the planned exit date, if applicable. The amount of the re-measurement of the lease liability is recorded as an 

adjustment to the operating lease ROU asset first, with any remaining amount recorded in Closures and impairment expenses if the 

carrying amount of the operating lease ROU asset is reduced to zero. Any costs recorded upon store closure as well as any subsequent 

adjustments to remaining operating lease ROU assets and lease liabilities as a result of lease termination are recorded in Closures 
and impairment expenses. In the event we are forced to close a store and receive compensation for such closure, that compensation 

is recorded in Closures and impairment expenses. To the extent we sell assets associated with a closed store, any gain or loss upon 

that sale is also recorded in Closures and impairment expenses. Closures and impairment expenses also included impairment and 

disposal gain or losses for non-restaurant long-lived assets. 

 

Considerable management judgment is necessary to estimate future cash flows, including cash flows from continuing use, terminal 

value, lease term and refranchising proceeds. Accordingly, actual results could vary significantly from our estimates. 

 

Government Subsidies. Government subsidies generally consist of financial subsidies received from provincial and local 

governments for operating a business in their jurisdictions and compliance with specific policies promoted by the local governments. 

The eligibility to receive such benefits and amount of financial subsidy to be granted are determined at the discretion of the relevant 
government authorities. Government subsidies are recognized when it is probable that the Company will comply with the conditions 

attached to them, and the subsidies are received. If the subsidy is related to an expense item, it is recognized as a reduction to the 

related expense to match the subsidy to the costs that it is intended to compensate. If the subsidy is related to an asset, it is deferred 

and recorded in Other liabilities and then recognized ratably over the expected useful life of the related asset in the Consolidated 

Statements of Income. The balances of deferred government subsidies were $6 million as of both December 31, 2025 and 2024, 

respectively, and are included in Other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. There were no significant commitment or 

contingencies for the government subsidies received for the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023. 

 

Government subsidies in the form of cash were recognized as reduction in following expense line items in our Consolidated 

Statements of Income as follows: 

 

Costs and Expenses, Net  2025   2024   2023  

Company restaurant          
Payroll and employee benefits  $ 7   $ 7   $ 7  

Occupancy and other operating expenses   1    2    1  

Company restaurant expenses   8    9    8  

General and administrative expenses   33    25    22  

Total  $ 41   $ 34   $ 30  

 
Income Taxes. We record deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences 

between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases as well as operating 

loss, capital loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to 

apply to taxable income in the years in which those differences or carryforwards are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect 

on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. 

Additionally, in determining the need for recording a valuation allowance against the carrying amount of deferred tax assets, we 

consider the amount of taxable income and periods over which it must be earned, actual levels of past taxable income and known 

trends and events or transactions that are expected to affect future levels of taxable income. Where we determine that it is more likely 

than not that all or a portion of an asset will not be realized, we record a valuation allowance. 
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We are subject to reviews, examinations and audits by Chinese tax authorities, the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) and other taxing 

authorities with respect to income and non-income based taxes. We recognize the benefit of positions taken or expected to be taken 

in our tax returns when it is more likely than not that the position would be sustained upon examination by these tax authorities. A 

recognized tax position is then measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon 

settlement. We evaluate unrecognized tax benefits, including interest thereon, on a quarterly basis to ensure that they have been 

appropriately adjusted for events, including change or developments with respect to tax audits, audit settlements and expiration of 
the statute of limitation, which may impact our ultimate payment for such exposures. 

 

We have investments in our foreign subsidiaries where the carrying values for financial reporting exceed the tax basis. Except for 

the planned but yet to be distributed earnings, we have not provided deferred tax on the portion of the excess that we believe is 

indefinitely reinvested, as we have the ability and intent to indefinitely postpone the basis differences from reversing with a tax 

consequence. The Company’s separation from YUM was intended to qualify as a tax-free reorganization for U.S. income tax 

purposes resulting in the excess of financial reporting basis over tax basis in our investment in the China business continuing to be 

indefinitely reinvested. The excess of financial reporting basis over tax basis as of December 31, 2017 was subject to the one-time 

transition tax under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“Tax Act”) as a deemed repatriation of accumulated undistributed earnings from the 

foreign subsidiaries. However, we continue to believe that the portion of the excess of financial reporting basis over tax basis 

(including earnings and profits subject to the one-time transition tax) is indefinitely reinvested in our foreign subsidiaries for foreign 

withholding tax purposes.  
 

Pursuant to the China Enterprise Income Tax Law (“EIT Law”), a 10% PRC withholding tax is generally levied on dividends declared 

by companies in China to their non-resident enterprise investors unless otherwise reduced according to treaties or arrangements 

between the Chinese central government and the governments of other countries or regions where the non-China resident enterprises 

are incorporated. Hong Kong has a tax arrangement with mainland China that provides for a 5% withholding tax on dividends 

distributed to a Hong Kong resident enterprise, upon meeting certain conditions and requirements, including, among others, that the 

Hong Kong resident enterprise own at least 25% equity interest of the Chinese enterprise and is a “beneficial owner” of the dividends. 

We believe that our principal Hong Kong subsidiary, which is the equity holder of our Chinese subsidiaries operating substantially 

all of our KFC and Pizza Hut restaurants, met the relevant requirements pursuant to the tax arrangement between mainland China 

and Hong Kong in 2018 and in the subsequent years; thus, it is more likely than not that our dividends or earnings expected to be 

repatriated to our principal Hong Kong subsidiary since 2018 are subject to the reduced withholding tax of 5%.  
 

See Note 14 for a further discussion of our income taxes. 

 

Fair Value Measurements. Fair value is the price we would receive to sell an asset or pay to transfer a liability (exit price) in an 

orderly transaction between market participants. For those assets and liabilities we record or disclose at fair value, we determine fair 

value based upon the quoted market price, if available. If a quoted market price is not available for identical assets, we determine 

fair value based upon the quoted market price of similar assets or the present value of expected future cash flows considering the 

risks involved, including counterparty performance risk if appropriate, and using discount rates appropriate for the duration. The fair 

values are assigned a level within the fair value hierarchy, depending on the source of the inputs into the calculation. 

  

Level 1  Inputs based upon quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. 

   
Level 2  Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset, either directly or indirectly. 

   

Level 3  Inputs that are unobservable for the asset. 

 

Cash and Cash Equivalents. Cash equivalents represent highly liquid investments with original maturities not exceeding three 

months and are primarily comprised of time deposits, fixed income debt securities and money market funds. Cash and overdraft 

balances that meet the criteria for right to offset are presented net on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. See Note 10 for detail 

discussion on our Cash equivalents. 
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Short-term Investments. Short-term investments purchased primarily represent i) time deposits, fixed income debt securities with 

original maturities of over three months but less than one year when purchased; ii) time deposits with original maturities over one 

year but are expected to be realized in cash within one year; iii) variable return investments offered by financial institutions measured 

at fair value and expected to be realized in cash within one year; and iv) certain structured deposits that are principal-protected and 

provide returns in the form of both fixed and variable interests with original maturities of less than one year. Such variable interest 

rates indexed to gold prices or foreign exchange rates are considered embedded derivatives and bifurcated from host contracts, and 
measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The fair value change of the embedded derivatives is recorded in Investment gain or loss 

in the Consolidated Statements of Income. The remaining host contracts to receive guaranteed principal and fixed interest are 

measured at amortized cost, with accretion of interest recorded in Interest income, net in the Consolidated Statements of Income. As 

of December 31, 2025 and 2024, the fair value of embedded derivatives included in Short-term investments was immaterial. See 

Note 10 for detail discussion on our Short-term investments. 

 

Long-term Bank Deposits and Notes. Long-term bank deposits and notes represent time deposits, bank notes and structured 

deposits bearing fixed or variable interest rate with remaining maturities exceeding one year for which the Company has the positive 

intent to hold for more than one year. See Note 10 for detail discussion on our Long-term bank deposits and notes. 

 

Accounts Receivable. Accounts receivable primarily consist of trade receivables and royalties from franchisees, and are generally 

due within 30 days of the period in which the corresponding sales occur. Our provision of credit losses for accounts receivable is 
based upon the current expected credit losses ("CECL") model. The CECL model requires an estimate of the credit losses expected 

over the life of accounts receivable since initial recognition, and accounts receivable with similar risk characteristics are grouped 

together when estimating CECL. In assessing the CECL, the Company considers both quantitative and qualitative information that 

is reasonable and supportable, including historical credit loss experience, adjusted for relevant factors impacting collectability and 

forward-looking information indicative of external market conditions. While we use the best information available in making our 

determination, the ultimate recovery of recorded receivables is also dependent upon future economic events and other conditions 

that may be beyond our control. Accounts receivable that are ultimately deemed to be uncollectible, and for which collection efforts 

have been exhausted, are written off against the allowance for doubtful accounts. As of December 31, 2025 and 2024, the ending 

balances of provision for accounts receivable were $2 million and $1 million, respectively, and amounts of accounts receivable past 

due were immaterial. 

 
Receivables from Payment Processors or Aggregators. Receivables from payment processors such as WeChat and Alipay or 

aggregators including delivery aggregators and third-party e-commerce platforms are cash due from them for clearing transactions 

and are included in Prepaid expenses and other current assets. The cash was paid by customers through these payment processors or 

aggregators for food provided or coupons sold by the Company. The Company considers and monitors the credit worthiness of the 

third-party payment processors and aggregators used. We adopted the same methodology of estimating expected credit losses based 

upon the CECL model as described above. Receivable balances are written off after all collection efforts have been exhausted. As 

of December 31, 2025 and 2024, no allowance for doubtful accounts was provided for such receivables. 

 

Inventories. We value our inventories at the lower of cost (computed on the first-in, first-out method) or net realizable value. 

 

Property, Plant and Equipment. We state PP&E at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. We calculate depreciation 

and amortization on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows: generally 20 to 50 years for buildings, 
the lesser of estimated useful lives (generally 6 to 16 years) and remaining lease term for leasehold improvements, 3 to 10 years for 

restaurant machinery and equipment, 3 to 5 years for capitalized software costs and 5 to 20 years for logistics centers machinery and 

equipment. We suspend depreciation and amortization on assets related to restaurants that are held for sale. The useful life of PP&E 

is periodically reviewed.  

 

We capitalize direct costs associated with the site acquisition and construction of a Company unit on that site, including direct 

internal payroll and payroll-related costs. Only those site-specific costs incurred subsequent to the time that the site acquisition is 

considered probable are capitalized. If we subsequently make a determination that it is probable a site for which internal development 

costs have been capitalized will not be acquired or developed, any previously capitalized internal development costs are expensed 

and included in G&A expenses. 

 
We capitalize software costs incurred in connection with developing or obtaining computer software for internal use. We capitalize 

payroll and payroll-related costs for employees that are directly attributable to the development of our internal-use software. Internal 

costs incurred in the software application development stage are capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful lives of software. 

Costs associated with planning and post-implementation operation and software maintenance costs are expensed and included in 

G&A expenses. 
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Leases. ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized upon lease commencement for operating leases based on the present value 

of lease payments over the lease term. As the rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined, we use our incremental 

borrowing rate at the lease commencement date in determining the imputed interest and present value of lease payments. The 

incremental borrowing rate was determined using a portfolio approach based on the rate of interest that we would have to borrow an 

amount equal to the lease payments on a collateralized basis over a similar term. The incremental borrowing rate is primarily 

influenced by the risk-free interest rate of China, the Company’s credit rating and lease term, and is updated on a quarterly basis for 
measurement of new lease liabilities. 

 

For operating leases, the Company recognizes a single lease cost on a straight-line basis over the remaining lease term. For finance 

leases, the Company recognizes straight-line amortization of the ROU asset and interest on the lease liability. For rental payments 

either based on a percentage of the restaurant’s sales in excess of a fixed base amount or solely based on a percentage of the 

restaurant’s sales, they are recognized as variable lease expenses as incurred.  

 

The Company has elected not to recognize ROU assets or lease liabilities for leases with an initial term of 12 months or less; we 

recognize lease expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. In addition, the Company has elected not to 

separate non-lease components (e.g., common area maintenance fees) from the lease components. 

 

From time to time, we purchase the rights to use government-owned land and the building occupying the land for a fixed period of 
time. Prior to the adoption of Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“ASC 842”), these land use rights 

and related buildings were recorded in Other Assets and Property, Plant and Equipment in our Consolidated Balance Sheets, and are 

amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the land use rights. Upon the adoption of ASC 842 on January 1, 2019, land use 

rights acquired are assessed in accordance with ASC 842 and recognized in ROU assets if they meet the definition of lease. 

 

See Note 9 for further discussions on our leases. 

 

 

Goodwill and Intangible Assets. From time to time, the Company acquires restaurants from our existing franchisees or acquires 

another business, including restaurants business of former unconsolidated affiliates that operate our concepts. Goodwill from these 

acquisitions represents the excess of the cost of a business acquired over the net of the amounts assigned to assets acquired, including 
identifiable intangible assets and liabilities assumed. Goodwill is not amortized and has been assigned to reporting units for purposes 

of impairment testing. Our reporting units are our individual operating segments. 

 

We evaluate goodwill for impairment on an annual basis or more often if an event occurs or circumstances change that indicate 

impairment might exist. We have selected the beginning of our fourth quarter as the date on which to perform our ongoing annual 

impairment test for goodwill. We may elect to perform a qualitative assessment for our reporting units to determine whether it is 

more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is greater than its carrying value. If a qualitative assessment is not 

performed, or if as a result of a qualitative assessment it is not more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its 

carrying value, then the reporting unit’s fair value is compared to its carrying value. Fair value is the price a willing buyer would 

pay for a reporting unit, and is generally estimated using discounted expected future after-tax cash flows from the business operation 

of the reporting unit. The discount rate is our estimate of the required rate-of-return that a third-party buyer would expect to receive 

when purchasing a business from us that constitutes a reporting unit. We believe the discount rate is commensurate with the risks 
and uncertainty inherent in the forecasted cash flows. If the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, we will record 

an impairment charge based on that difference. The impairment charge will be limited to the amount of goodwill allocated to that 

reporting unit. 

 

We determine the useful life of intangible assets with consideration of factors including the expected use of the asset, the expected 

useful life of another asset or a group of assets to which the useful life of the intangible asset may relate, any legal, regulatory or 

contractual provisions that may limit the useful life, our historical experience in renewing or extending similar arrangements, the 

effects of obsolescence, demand, competition and other economic factors, and the level of maintenance expenditures required to 

obtain the expected future cash flows from the assets. We evaluate the remaining useful life of an intangible asset that is not being 

amortized each reporting period to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life. If an 

intangible asset that is not being amortized is subsequently determined to have a finite useful life, we amortize the intangible asset 
prospectively over its estimated remaining useful life. The Company’s indefinite-lived intangible asset represents Little Sheep and 

Huang Ji Huang trademarks as we consider their useful life to be indefinite since we intend to use Little Sheep and Huang Ji Huang 

trademarks indefinitely and there are no legal, regulatory or contractual provisions that may limit the useful life of the trademarks. 

Intangible assets that are deemed to have a finite life are generally amortized over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis 

to their residual value as follows: 
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Reacquired franchise rights   1 to 10 years 

Huang Ji Huang franchise related assets   19 years 

Daojia platform   8 years 

Customer-related assets   2 to 15 years 

Others   up to 20 years 

 
The useful life of reacquired franchise rights was determined based on the contractual term whereas both the contractual term and 

historical pattern of renewing franchise agreements were considered in assessing the useful life of Huang Ji Huang franchise related 

assets. Customer-related assets primarily represent the customer relationship and user base acquired and the estimate of the useful 

life was based on the historical pattern of extending similar arrangements and attrition rate of users. Others primarily represent Little 

Sheep’s secret recipe. The useful life of the Daojia platform and Little Sheep’s secret recipe was assessed based on our estimate of 

periods generating cash flows from utilizing such assets. 

 

We evaluate our indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment on an annual basis or more often if an event occurs or circumstances 

change that indicate impairments might exist. We perform our annual test for impairment of our indefinite-lived intangible assets at 

the beginning of our fourth quarter. We may elect to perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not 

that the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset is greater than its carrying value. If a qualitative assessment is not performed, 

or if as a result of a qualitative assessment it is not more likely than not that the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset 
exceeds its carrying value, then the asset’s fair value is compared to its carrying value. Fair value is an estimate of the price a willing 

buyer would pay for the intangible asset and is generally estimated by discounting the expected future after-tax cash flows associated 

with the intangible asset.  

 

Our finite-lived intangible assets that are not allocated to an individual restaurant are evaluated for impairment whenever events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the intangible asset may not be recoverable. An intangible asset that 

is deemed not recoverable based on forecasted undiscounted future cash flow is written down to its estimated fair value, which is 

our estimate of the price a willing buyer would pay for the intangible asset based on discounted expected future after-tax cash flows. 

For purposes of our impairment analysis, we update the cash flows that were initially used to value the finite-lived intangible asset 

to reflect our current estimates and assumptions over the asset’s future remaining life.  

 
Equity Investments. The Company’s equity investments include investments in equity method investees, investments in equity 

securities with readily determinable fair value and investments in available-for-sale debt securities.  

 

The Company applies the equity method to account for the investments in equity method investees over which it has significant 

influence but does not control. Our share of earnings or losses and share of changes in other comprehensive income or losses of 

equity method investees is included in net income and other comprehensive income or losses, respectively. We record impairment 

charges related to an investment in equity method investees whenever events or circumstances indicate that a decrease in the fair 

value of an investment has occurred which is other than temporary. Management’s assessment as to the nature of a decline in fair 

value is based on, among other things, the length of time and the extent to which the market value has been less than our cost basis; 

the financial condition and near-term prospects of the equity method investees; and our intent and ability to retain the investment for 

a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in market value. 

 
For our investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair value, over which the Company has neither significant 

influence nor control, they are measured at fair value with subsequent changes recognized in net income. 

 

Certain of our investments may contain preferential rights, including the right to redeem at the Company’s option upon contingent 

events and is therefore accounted for as available-for sales debt securities measured at the estimated fair value, with unrealized gains 

or losses, arising from the change in fair value, net of tax, recognized in Other comprehensive income (loss) in the Consolidated 

Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 

See Note 3 and Note 6 for further discussions on our equity investments. 

 

Short-term Borrowings. Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of debt discounts or premiums and debt issuance 
costs, if applicable. Debt discounts or premiums and debt issuance costs are recorded as an adjustment to the principal amount and 

the related accretion is amortized into interest expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income over the term of the borrowings 

using the effective interest method. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost. Interest expense is recognized over 

the term of the borrowing and recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Income. See Note 8 for additional information. 
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Financial Instruments. We account for derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The 

financial instruments are recorded at their respective fair value as determined on the day of issuance and subsequently adjusted to 

the fair value at each reporting date. Changes in the fair value of financial instruments are recognized periodically in the Consolidated 

Statements of Income. The estimated fair values of derivative instruments are determined at discrete points in time using standard 

valuation techniques. 

 
Noncontrolling Interests. We report Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests separately on the face of our Consolidated 

Statements of Income. The portion of equity attributable to noncontrolling interests is reported within equity, separately from the 

Company’s stockholders’ equity on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

 

When the noncontrolling interest is redeemable at the option of the noncontrolling shareholder, or contingently redeemable upon the 

occurrence of a conditional event that is not solely within the control of the Company, the noncontrolling interest is separately 

classified as mezzanine equity. In connection with the acquisition of Huang Ji Huang in April 2020, redeemable noncontrolling 

interests were initially recognized at fair value and classified outside of permanent equity on our Consolidated Balance Sheets due 

to redemption rights being held by noncontrolling shareholders. Subsequent changes in the redemption value of redeemable 

noncontrolling interests are immediately recognized as they occur and adjusted to the carrying amount of redeemable noncontrolling 

interests. In September 2025, the Company acquired the remaining 6.7% equity interest for a cash consideration of $9 million 

pursuant to the redemption right. This was accounted for as an equity transaction, with the difference between the carrying amount 
of redeemable noncontrolling interest and purchase consideration recorded in Additional paid-in capital in our Consolidated 

Statement of Equity. 

 

Guarantees. We account for guarantees in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 460 (“ASC 460”), 

Guarantees. Accordingly, the Company evaluates its guarantees to determine whether (a) the guarantee is specifically excluded from 

the scope of ASC 460, (b) the guarantee is subject to ASC 460 disclosure requirements only, but not subject to the initial recognition 

and measurement provisions, or (c) the guarantee is required to be recorded in the financial statements at fair value. The Company 

provides: (i) indemnifications to certain investors and other parties for certain losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified party 

in connection with third-party claims; and (ii) indemnifications of officers and directors against third-party claims arising from the 

services they provide to the Company. To date, the Company has not incurred costs as a result of these obligations and does not 

expect to incur material costs in the future. Accordingly, the Company has not accrued any liabilities on the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets related to these indemnifications. 

 

Asset Retirement Obligations. We recognize an asset and a liability for the fair value of a required asset retirement obligation 

(“ARO”) when such an obligation is incurred. The Company’s AROs are primarily associated with leasehold improvements which, 

at the end of the lease, the Company is contractually obligated to remove in order to comply with the lease agreement. As such, we 

amortize the asset on a straight-line basis over the lease term and accrete the liability to its nominal value using the effective interest 

method over the lease term. 

 

Contingencies. The Company records accruals for certain of its outstanding legal proceedings or claims when it is probable that a 

liability will be incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. The Company evaluates, on a quarterly basis, 

developments in legal proceedings or claims that could affect the amount of any accrual, as well as any developments that would 

make a loss contingency both probable and reasonably estimable. The Company discloses the amount of the accrual if it is material. 
 

Retirement Plans. The Company offers certain defined contribution plans to employees. The total contribution for such employee 

benefits was expensed as incurred. The Company has no additional legal obligation or liabilities for the benefits beyond the paid and 

accrued amounts. See Note 11 for additional information.  

  

PRC Value-Added Tax (“VAT”). The Company has been subject to VAT within the normal course of its restaurant business 

nationwide since May 1, 2016. 

 

Entities that are VAT general taxpayers are permitted to offset qualified input VAT paid to suppliers against their output VAT upon 

receipt of appropriate supplier VAT invoices on an entity-by-entity basis. When the output VAT exceeds the input VAT, the 

difference is remitted to tax authorities, usually on a monthly basis; whereas when the input VAT exceeds the output VAT, the 
difference is treated as a VAT asset which can be carried forward indefinitely to offset future net VAT payables. VAT related to 

purchases and sales which have not been settled at the balance sheet date is disclosed separately as an asset and liability, respectively, 

on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. VAT assets are classified as Prepaid expenses and other current assets if they are expected to 

be used within one year. At each balance sheet date, the Company reviews the outstanding balance of VAT assets for recoverability 

assessment. 
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Pursuant to the tax policy issued by relevant government authorities, general VAT taxpayers in certain industries that meet certain 

criteria are allowed to claim an additional 10% or 15% input VAT, which will be used to offset their VAT payables. This VAT 

policy was further extended to December 31, 2023 but the additional deduction was reduced to 5% or 10% respectively. Accordingly, 

the Company recognized such VAT deductions of $44 million in 2023. The VAT deductions were recorded as a reduction to the 

related expense item, primarily in Company restaurant expenses included in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Such 

preferential policy was not extended beginning in 2024. 
 

Earnings Per Share. Basic earnings per share represent net earnings to common stockholders divided by the weighted-average 

number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per share reflect the potential dilution that could occur if 

securities or other contracts to issue common shares were exercised or converted into common shares. See Note 5 for further 

information. 

 

Common Stock Repurchases. We may repurchase shares of Yum China common stock under a program authorized by our Board 

of Directors from time to time in open market or, subject to applicable regulatory requirements, through privately negotiated 

transactions, block trades, accelerated share repurchase transactions and the use of Rule 10b5-1 trading plans. Shares repurchased 

are included in treasury stock in the financial statements until they are retired. When repurchased shares are retired, the Company’s 

accounting policy is to allocate the excess of the repurchase price over the par value of shares acquired between Additional paid-in 

capital and Retained earnings. The amount allocated to Additional paid-in capital is based on the value of Additional paid-in capital 
per share outstanding at the time of retirement and the number of shares to be retired. Any remaining amount is allocated to Retained 

earnings. See Note 13 for further information. 

  

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements 

 

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740) — Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures (“ASU                               

2023-09”), requiring public business entities to provide additional information in the rate reconciliation and additional disclosures 

about income taxes paid. ASU 2023-09 is effective for the Company’s annual disclosure from January 2025, with early adoption 

permitted. We adopted this standard on January 1, 2025, and applied the disclosure requirements retrospectively to all periods 

presented. See Note 14 for further information. 

 

 

Note 3 – Business Acquisitions and Equity Investments 

 

Consolidation of Hangzhou KFC and Equity Investment in Hangzhou Catering  

 

In the fourth quarter of 2021, the Company completed its investment in a 28% equity interest in Hangzhou Catering, an entity holding 

a 45% equity interest in Hangzhou KFC, of which the Company previously held a 47% equity interest. Upon completion of the 

transaction, the Company directly and indirectly holds an approximately 60% equity interest in Hangzhou KFC and has majority 

representation on the board, and thus obtained control over Hangzhou KFC and started to consolidate its results from the acquisition 

date. In addition to its equity interest in Hangzhou KFC, Hangzhou Catering operates Chinese dining restaurants under four time-

honored brands and a food processing business. The Company applies the equity method of accounting to the 28% equity interest in 
Hangzhou Catering excluding the Hangzhou KFC business and recorded this investment in Equity investments based on its then fair 

value. The Company elected to report its share of Hangzhou Catering’s financial results with a one-quarter lag because its results 

are not available in time for the Company to record them in the concurrent period. The Company’s equity earnings (losses) from 

Hangzhou Catering, net of taxes, were immaterial for the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, and included in Equity 

in net earnings (losses) from equity method investments in our Consolidated Statement of Income. As of December 31, 2025 and 

2024, the carrying amount of the Company’s equity method investment in Hangzhou Catering was $54 million and $45 million, 

respectively, exceeding the Company’s interest in Hangzhou Catering’s underlying net assets by $22 million and $22 million, 

respectively. Substantially all of this difference was attributable to its self-owned properties and impact of related deferred tax 

liabilities determined upon acquisition, which is being depreciated over a weighted-average remaining useful life of 20 years. 

 

The Company purchased inventories of $1 million, $4 million and $6 million from Hangzhou Catering for the years ended December 

31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The Company’s accounts payable and other current liabilities due to Hangzhou Catering were 
immaterial at both December 31, 2025 and 2024. 
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Fujian Sunner Development Co., Ltd. (“Sunner”) Investment  

 

In the first quarter of 2021, the Company acquired a 5% equity interest in Sunner, a Shenzhen Stock Exchange listed company. 

Sunner is China’s largest white-feathered chicken producer and the Company’s largest poultry supplier. 

 

In May 2021, the Company obtained one seat on Sunner’s board of directors upon Sunner’s shareholder approval. The representation 
on the board, along with the Company being one of Sunner’s significant shareholders, provides the Company with the ability to 

exercise significant influence over the operating and financial policies of Sunner. As a result, the Company started to apply the equity 

method of accounting to the investment in May 2021 based on its then fair value. The Company elected to report its share of Sunner’s 

financial results with a one-quarter lag because Sunner’s results are not available in time for the Company to record them in the 

concurrent period. The Company’s equity earnings from Sunner, net of taxes, was $10 million, $1 million and $6 million for the 

years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and included in Equity in net earnings (losses) from equity method 

investments in our Consolidated Statement of Income. 

 

The Company purchased inventories of $367 million, $476 million and $507 million for years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 

2023, respectively. The Company’s accounts payable and other current liabilities due to Sunner were $34 million and $46 million 

as of December 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively. 

 
As of December 31, 2025 and 2024, the Company’s investment in Sunner was stated at the carrying amount of $231 million and 

$216 million, respectively, which was $153 million and $147 million higher than the Company’s interest in Sunner’s underlying net 

assets, respectively. Of this basis difference, $15 million and $15 million was related to finite-lived intangible assets which are being 

amortized over estimated useful life of 20 years, respectively. The remaining differences were related to goodwill and indefinite-

lived intangible assets, which are not subject to amortization, as well as deferred tax liabilities impact. As of December 31, 2025 and 

2024, the market value of the Company’s investment in Sunner was $147 million and $123 million based on its quoted closing price, 

respectively. 

 

Meituan Dianping (“Meituan”) Investment  

 

In the third quarter of 2018, the Company subscribed for 8.4 million, or less than 1%, of the ordinary shares of Meituan, a delivery 
aggregator in China, for a total consideration of approximately $74 million, when it launched its initial public offering on the HKEX 

in September 2018. In the second quarter of 2020, the Company sold 4.2 million of the ordinary shares of Meituan.  

 

The Company accounts for the equity securities at fair value with subsequent fair value changes recorded in our Consolidated 

Statements of Income. The fair value of the investment in Meituan is determined based on the closing market price for the shares at 

the end of each reporting period. The fair value change, to the extent the closing market price of shares of Meituan as of the end of 

reporting period is higher than our cost, is subject to U.S. tax. 

 

A summary of pre-tax gains or losses on investment in equity securities of Meituan recognized, which were included in Investment 

gain (loss) in our Consolidated Statements of Income, is as follows: 

 

  2025   2024   2023  

Unrealized (loss) gain recorded on equity securities 
   still held as of the end of the year  $ (26 )  $ 38   $ (50 ) 

 

Other Equity Investments  

 
In addition, the Company has strategic equity investments in its eco-system partners, including food and information technology 

service suppliers.  For investments over which the Company has significant influence but does not control, the Company applies 

equity method to account for such investments. These investments were immaterial both individually and in aggregate, totaling $30 

million and $25 million as of December 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively. The Company purchased inventories or services from these 

investees and the purchase amounts were immaterial for the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023. 
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In the first quarter of 2025, the Company completed a strategic investment in SnowValley Agricultural Group, one of the Company’s 

key suppliers for potato and a private company, for a total consideration of $14 million. The investment contains certain preferential 

rights, including the right to redeem shares at the Company’s option upon contingent events, and is therefore accounted for as 

available-for-sale debt securities measured at the estimated fair value. The unrealized gains or losses, arising from the change in fair 

value, net of tax, is recognized in Other comprehensive income (loss) in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. As 

of December 31, 2025, the carrying amount of the investment was $15 million and fair value change, net of tax was immaterial for 
the year ended December 31, 2025. 

 

Note 4 – Revenue 

 

The following tables present revenue disaggregated by types of arrangements and segments: 

 

  2025  

Revenues  KFC   Pizza Hut   
All Other 
Segments   

Corporate and 
Unallocated   Combined   Elimination   Consolidated  

Company sales  $ 8,717   $ 2,282   $ 40   $ —   $ 11,039   $ —   $ 11,039  
Franchise fees and income   81    10    13    —    104    —    104  
Revenues from transactions 
 with franchisees   69    7    79    347    502    —    502  
Other revenues   4    25    802    71    902    (750 )   152  

Total revenues  $ 8,871   $ 2,324   $ 934   $ 418   $ 12,547   $ (750 )  $ 11,797  

 

  2024  

Revenues  KFC   Pizza Hut   
All Other 
Segments   

Corporate 
and 

Unallocated   Combined   Elimination   Consolidated  

Company sales  $ 8,375   $ 2,223   $ 53   $ —   $ 10,651   $ —   $ 10,651  
Franchise fees and income   69    8    17    —    94    —    94  
Revenues from transactions 

 with franchisees   55    5    71    289    420    —    420  
Other revenues   10    24    648    64    746    (608 )   138  

Total revenues  $ 8,509   $ 2,260   $ 789   $ 353   $ 11,911   $ (608 )  $ 11,303  

 

  2023  

Revenues  KFC   Pizza Hut   

All Other 

Segments   

Corporate 
and 

Unallocated   Combined   Elimination   Consolidated  

Company sales  $ 8,116   $ 2,214   $ 61   $ —   $ 10,391   $ —   $ 10,391  
Franchise fees and income   62    7    20    —    89    —    89  
Revenues from transactions 
 with franchisees   45    4    74    249    372    —    372  
Other revenues   17    21    624    44    706    (580 )   126  

Total revenues  $ 8,240   $ 2,246   $ 779   $ 293   $ 11,558   $ (580 )  $ 10,978  

 

Franchise Fees and Income 

 

  2025   2024   2023  

Initial fees, including renewal fees  $ 8   $ 7   $ 6  

Continuing fees and rental income   96    87    83  

Franchise fees and income  $ 104   $ 94   $ 89  
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Costs to Obtain Contracts 

 

Costs to obtain contracts consist of license fees that are payable to YUM in relation to our deferred revenue of prepaid stored-value 

products, privilege membership programs and customer loyalty programs, as well as upfront franchise fees that we paid to YUM 

prior to the separation in relation to initial fees or renewal fees we received from franchisees. They meet the requirements to be 

capitalized as they are incremental costs of obtaining contracts with customers and the Company expects to generate future economic 
benefits from such costs incurred. Such costs to obtain contracts are included in Other assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and 

are amortized on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the assets 

relate. Subsequent to the separation, we are no longer required to pay YUM initial or renewal fees that we receive from franchisees. 

The Company did not incur any impairment losses related to costs to obtain contracts during any of the periods presented. Costs to 

obtain contracts were $6 million at both December 31, 2025 and 2024. 

 

Contract Liabilities 

 

Contract liabilities at December 31, 2025 and 2024 were as follows: 
 

  2025   2024  

Contract liabilities       

- Deferred revenue related to prepaid stored-value products  $ 133   $ 144  

- Deferred revenue related to upfront franchise fees   57    55  

- Deferred revenue related to customer loyalty programs   18    15  

- Deferred revenue related to privilege membership programs   44    30  

Total  $ 252   $ 244  

 

Contract liabilities primarily consist of deferred revenue related to prepaid stored-value products, privilege membership programs, 

customer loyalty programs and upfront franchise fees, including initial fees and pre-opening service fees. Deferred revenue related 

to prepaid stored-value products, privilege membership programs, and customer loyalty programs is included in Accounts payable 

and other current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Deferred revenue related to upfront franchise fees that we expect to 

recognize as revenue in the next 12 months is included in Accounts payable and other current liabilities, and the remaining balance 

is included in Other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Revenue recognized that was included in the contract liability 

balance at the beginning of the year amounted to $110 million and $109 million in 2025 and 2024, respectively. Changes in contract 

liability balances were not materially impacted by business acquisition, change in estimate of transaction price or any other factors 

during any of the years presented. 
 

The Company has elected, as a practical expedient, not to disclose the value of remaining performance obligations associated with 
sales-based royalty promised to franchisees in exchange for franchise right and other related services. The remaining duration of the 

performance obligation is the remaining contractual term of each franchise agreement. We recognize continuing franchisee fees and 

revenues from advertising services and other services provided to franchisees based on a certain percentage of sales, as those sales 

occur. 
 

Note 5 – Earnings Per Common Share (“EPS”) 

 

The following table summarizes the components of basic and diluted EPS (in millions, except per share data): 

 

  2025   2024   2023  

Net Income – Yum China Holdings, Inc.  $ 929   $ 911   $ 827  

Weighted-average common shares outstanding 

 (for basic calculation)(a)   369    388    416  

Effect of dilutive share-based awards(a)   2    2    4  

Weighted-average common and dilutive potential common shares 

 outstanding (for diluted calculation)   371    390    420  

Basic Earnings Per Common Share  $ 2.52   $ 2.34   $ 1.99  

Diluted Earnings Per Common Share  $ 2.51   $ 2.33   $ 1.97  

Share-based awards excluded from the diluted EPS computation(b)   3    5    3  
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(a) As a result of the separation, shares of Yum China common stock were distributed to YUM’s shareholders of record as of 

October 19, 2016 and were included in the calculated weighted-average common shares outstanding. Holders of outstanding 

YUM equity awards generally received both adjusted YUM awards and Yum China awards, or adjusted awards of either YUM 

or Yum China in their entirety. Any subsequent exercise of these awards, whether held by the Company’s employees or YUM’s 

employees, would increase the number of common shares outstanding. The incremental shares arising from outstanding equity 

awards are included in the computation of diluted EPS, if there is dilutive effect. See Note 12 for a further discussion of share-
based compensation.   

(b) These outstanding SARs, RSUs and PSUs were excluded from the computation of diluted EPS because to do so would have 

been antidilutive for the years presented, or because certain PSUs are contingently issuable based on the achievement of 

performance and market conditions, which have not been met as of December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023. 
 

Note 6 – Supplemental Balance Sheet Information 

 

Accounts Receivable, net  2025   2024  

Accounts receivable, gross  $ 97   $ 80  

Allowance for doubtful accounts   (2 )   (1 ) 

Accounts receivable, net  $ 95   $ 79  

 

The Company generally allows its customers a credit period within 30 days of the period in which the corresponding sales occur or 

the invoices are issued. An aging analysis of accounts receivable as of December 31, 2025 and 2024, based on the date of delivering 

goods and services, is as follows:  

 
  2025   2024  

Within 30 days  $ 79   $ 64  

31-90 days   15    13  

Over 91 days   3    3  

Total  $ 97   $ 80  

 

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets  2025   2024  

VAT assets  $ 142   $ 117  

Interest receivables   100    48  

Receivables from payment processors and aggregators   72    72  

Deposits, primarily lease deposits   24    22  

Other prepaid expenses and current assets   102    107  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets  $ 440   $ 366  

 

PP&E  2025   2024  

Buildings and improvements, and construction in progress  $ 3,340   $ 3,156  

Finance leases, primarily buildings   90    80  

Machinery and equipment   2,035    1,855  

PP&E, gross   5,465    5,091  

Accumulated depreciation   (2,922 )   (2,684 ) 

PP&E, net  $ 2,543   $ 2,407  

 

Depreciation and amortization expense related to property, plant and equipment was $438 million, $467 million and $442 million in 

2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

 

Equity Investments  2025   2024  

Investment in equity method investees  $ 315   $ 285  

Investment in equity securities   57    83  

Investment in available-for-sale debt securities   15    —  

Equity investments  $ 387   $ 368  
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Other Assets  2025   2024  

Prepayment for acquisition of PP&E(a)  $ 122   $ 27  

Long-term deposits, primarily lease deposits   104    97  

Land use right(b)   98    107  
VAT assets   14    8  

Costs to obtain contracts   6    6  

Others   18    11  

Other assets  $ 362   $ 256  
 

(a) The increase was primarily due to a prepayment made in relation to the acquisition of a building located in Shanghai to house 

the Company’s headquarters and flagship stores, which is currently expected to be delivered to the Company in 2027. 

(b) Amortization expense related to land use right was $4 million, $4 million and $4 million in 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

 

Accounts Payable and Other Current Liabilities  2025   2024  

Accounts payable  $ 793   $ 801  

Operating lease liabilities   438    417  

Accrued compensation and benefits   261    235  

Contract liabilities   205    196  

Accrued capital expenditures   166    192  

Dividends payable   51    40  

Accrued marketing expenses   40    33  

Other current liabilities   173    166  

Accounts payable and other current liabilities  $ 2,127   $ 2,080  

 

An aging analysis of the accounts payable as of December 31, 2025 and 2024 is as follows: 

 

  2025   2024  

Within 60 days  $ 792   $ 800  

Over 60 days   1    1  

Total  $ 793   $ 801  

 

The accounts payable consist of invoiced and certain accrued balances, and are generally repaid within one to two months depending 

on payment term and the invoice date. Accrued accounts payable reflect payable of goods and services that have not yet been invoiced 

to the Company, and will be reclassified to invoiced accounts payable when invoices are received. Aging analysis of invoiced 

accounts payable has been presented based on invoice date and the amounts of accrued accounts payable were categorized as within 
60 days. 

 

Accounts payable and Other current liabilities also include remuneration payable to auditors. Total auditors' remuneration was $3 

million in each of 2025, 2024 and 2023. 

 

Other Liabilities  2025   2024  

Contract liabilities  $ 47   $ 48  

Accrued income tax payable   24    23  

Other non-current liabilities   87    86  

Other liabilities  $ 158   $ 157  
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Note 7 – Goodwill and Intangible Assets 

 

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill are as follows: 

  

Total 

Company   KFC   Pizza Hut   

All Other 

Segments  

Balance as of December 31, 2023             

Goodwill, gross  $ 2,323   $ 1,840   $ 18   $ 465  

Accumulated impairment losses(a)   (391 )   —    —    (391 ) 

Goodwill, net  $ 1,932   $ 1,840   $ 18   $ 74  

Effect of currency translation adjustments   (52 )   (50 )   —    (2 ) 

Balance as of December 31, 2024             

Goodwill, gross   2,271    1,790    18    463  

Accumulated impairment losses(a)   (391 )   —    —    (391 ) 

Goodwill, net  $ 1,880   $ 1,790   $ 18   $ 72  

Effect of currency translation adjustments   83    80    1    2  

Balance as of December 31, 2025             

Goodwill, gross   2,354    1,870    19    465  

Accumulated impairment losses(a)   (391 )   —    —    (391 ) 

Goodwill, net  $ 1,963   $ 1,870   $ 19   $ 74  

(a) Accumulated impairment losses represent goodwill impairment attributable to the reporting units of Little Sheep and Daojia.  

 

Intangible assets, net as of December 31, 2025 and 2024 are as follows: 

 
  2025   2024  

  

Gross Carrying  

Amount(a)   

Accumulated  

Amortization(a)   

Accumulated 

Impairment 

Losses(b)   

Net 

Carrying 

Amount   

Gross Carrying  

Amount   

Accumulated  

Amortization   

Accumulated 

Impairment 

Losses(b)   

Net 

Carrying 

Amount  

Finite-lived intangible assets                         

Reacquired franchise rights  $ 274   $ (271 )  $ —   $ 3   $ 262   $ (259 )  $ —   $ 3  

Huang Ji Huang franchise  

   related assets   21    (7 )   —    14    20    (5 )   —    15  

Daojia platform   9    (2 )   (7 )   —    9    (2 )   (7 )   —  

Customer-related assets   11    (10 )   (1 )   —    11    (10 )   (1 )   —  

Other   9    (6 )   —    3    8    (5 )   —    3  

  $ 324   $ (296 )  $ (8 )  $ 20   $ 310   $ (281 )  $ (8 )  $ 21  

Indefinite-lived intangible assets                         

Little Sheep trademark  $ 51   $ —   $ —   $ 51   $ 49   $ —   $ —   $ 49  

Huang Ji Huang trademark   77    —    —    77    74    —    —    74  

  $ 128   $ —   $ —   $ 128   $ 123   $ —   $ —   $ 123  

                         

Total intangible assets  $ 452   $ (296 )  $ (8 )  $ 148   $ 433   $ (281 )  $ (8 )  $ 144  

 

(a) Changes in gross carrying amount and accumulated amortization include the effect of currency translation adjustments.  

(b) Accumulated impairment losses represent impairment charges on intangible assets acquired from Daojia primarily attributable 

to the Daojia platform. 

 
Amortization expense for finite-lived intangible assets was $2 million in 2025, $2 million in 2024 and $4 million in 2023. 

Amortization expense for finite-lived intangible assets is expected to approximate $2 million in each of 2026, 2027, 2028, 2029 and 

2030.   

 

Note 8 – Credit Facilities and Short-term Borrowings 

 

As of December 31, 2025, the Company had credit facilities of RMB10,495 million (approximately $1,502 million), comprised of 

onshore credit facilities in the aggregate amount of RMB7,700 million (approximately $1,102 million), offshore credit facilities in 

the aggregate amount of $200 million and a credit facility of $200 million that can be used for either onshore or offshore. 
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The credit facilities had remaining terms ranging from less than one year to three years as of December 31, 2025. Our credit facilities 

mainly include term loans, overdrafts, letters of credit, banker’s acceptance notes and bank guarantees. The credit facilities in general 

bear interest based on the Loan Prime Rate (“LPR”) published by the National Interbank Funding Centre of the PRC, or Secured 

Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York. Each credit facility contains a cross-

default provision whereby our failure to make any payment on a principal amount from any credit facility will constitute a default 

on other credit facilities. Some of the credit facilities contain covenants limiting, among other things, certain additional indebtedness 
and liens, and certain other transactions specified in the respective agreements. As of December 31, 2025 and 2024, we had 

outstanding short-term bank borrowings of $30 million and $127 million, respectively, mainly to manage working capital at our 

operating subsidiaries. The RMB denominated bank borrowings bear a weighted-average interest rate of 1.5% and 1.7% for the years 

ended December 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively, and are due within one year from their issuance dates. As of December 31, 2025, 

we also had outstanding bank guarantees of RMB296 million (approximately $42 million) mainly to secure our lease payments to 

landlords for certain Company-owned restaurants, as well as outstanding bank guarantees of RMB360 million (approximately $52 

million) to secure the balance of prepaid stored-value cards issued by the Company pursuant to regulatory requirements. Our credit 

facilities were therefore reduced by outstanding short-term bank borrowings, adjusted for unamortized interest and collateral, and 

outstanding guarantees. As of December 31, 2025, the Company had unused credit facilities of approximately $1,378 million. 

 

Note 9 – Leases 

 
As of December 31, 2025, we leased approximately 15,000 properties in China for our Company-owned restaurants. We generally 

enter into lease agreements for our restaurants with initial terms of 10 to 20 years. Most of our lease agreements contain termination 

options that permit us to terminate the lease agreement early if the restaurant profit is negative for a specified period of time. We 

generally do not have renewal options for our leases. Such options are accounted for only when it is reasonably certain that we will 

exercise the options. The rent under the majority of our current restaurant lease agreements is generally payable in one of three ways: 

(i) fixed rent; (ii) the higher of a fixed base rent or a percentage of the restaurant’s sales; or (iii) a percentage of the restaurant’s sales. 

Most leases require us to pay common area maintenance fees for the leased property. In addition to restaurants leases, we also lease 

office spaces, logistics centers and equipment. Our lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material 

restrictive covenants. 

 

In limited cases, we sub-lease certain restaurants to franchisees in connection with refranchising transactions or lease our properties 
to other third parties. The lease payments under these leases are generally based on the higher of a fixed base rent or a percentage of 

the restaurant’s annual sales. Income from sub-lease agreements with franchisees or lease agreements with other third parties are 

included in Franchise fees and income and Other revenues, respectively, within our Consolidated Statements of Income. 

 

Supplemental Balance Sheet         

  2025/12/31   2024/12/31   Account Classification 

Assets         

Operating lease right-of-use assets  $ 2,189   $ 2,146   Operating lease right-of-use assets 

Finance lease right-of-use assets   49    46   PP&E 

Total leased assets(a)  $ 2,238   $ 2,192    

         

Liabilities         

Current         

Operating lease liabilities  $ 438   $ 417   Accounts payable and other current liabilities 

Finance lease liabilities   6    5   Accounts payable and other current liabilities 
Non-current         

Operating lease liabilities   1,823    1,816   Non-current operating lease liabilities 

Finance lease liabilities   51    49   Non-current finance lease liabilities 

Total lease liabilities  $ 2,318   $ 2,287    
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Summary of Lease Cost           Account Classification 

  2025   2024   2023    

            

Operating lease cost 

 

$ 498  

 

$ 518  

 

$ 517  

 

Occupancy and other operating expenses, 

 G&A or Franchise expenses 

Finance lease cost            

   Amortization of leased assets   6    5    5   Occupancy and other operating expenses 
   Interest on lease liabilities   2    3    2   Interest expense, net 

Variable lease cost(b) 

 

 438  

 

 420  

 

 402  

 

Occupancy and other operating expenses  

  or Franchise expenses 

Short-term lease cost 

 

 12  

 

 13  

 

 15  

 

Occupancy and other operating expenses  

  or G&A 

Sub-lease income   (17 )   (19 )   (21 )  Franchise fees and income or Other revenues 

Total lease cost  $ 939   $ 940   $ 920    

 

(a) As of December 31, 2025, excluding the impact of foreign currency translation, right-of-use (“ROU”) assets decreased, 

primarily due to the amortization of assets relating to existing leases with fixed lease payments and a higher portion of our 

leases with variable lease payments. The decrease of lease liabilities, excluding the impact of foreign currency translation, was 

consistent with the decrease of ROU assets. 

(b) The Company was granted $11 million in lease concessions from landlords related to the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic 

for the year ended December 31, 2023. The lease concessions were primarily in the form of rent reduction over the period of 

time when the Company’s restaurant business was adversely impacted. The Company applied the interpretive guidance in a 

FASB staff question-and-answer document issued in April 2020 and elected: (1) not to evaluate whether a concession received 

in response to the COVID-19 pandemic is a lease modification and (2) to assume such concession was contemplated as part 
of the existing lease contract with no contract modification. Such concession was recognized as negative variable lease cost in 

the period the concession was granted. The Company was no longer granted such lease concession beginning in 2024. 

 

Supplemental Cash Flow Information          

  2025   2024   2023  

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:          

Operating cash flows from operating leases  $ 504   $ 516   $ 531  

Operating cash flows from finance leases   2    3    2  

Financing cash flows from finance leases   5    5    5  

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities(c):          

Operating leases  $ 341   $ 379   $ 456  

Finance leases   6    11    7  

(c) This supplemental non-cash disclosure for ROU assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities includes an increase in lease 

liabilities associated with obtaining new ROU assets of $355 million, $400 million and $451 million for the years ended 

December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively, as well as adjustments to lease liabilities or ROU assets due to modification 

or other reassessment events, which resulted in a decrease of $8 million, a decrease of $10 million, and an increase of $12 

million in lease liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

 

Lease Term and Discount Rate  2025   2024  

Weighted-average remaining lease term (years)       

Operating leases   6.8    6.9  

Finance leases   10.3    10.8  

       

Weighted-average discount rate       

Operating leases   4.1 %   4.5 % 
Finance leases   4.3 %   4.7 % 
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Summary of Future Lease Payments and Lease Liabilities 

 

Maturities of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2025 were as follows: 

 

  

Amount of 

Operating Leases   

Amount of 

Finance Leases   Total  

2026  $ 516   $ 8   $ 524  
2027   444    8    452  

2028   381    7    388  

2029   311    7    318  

2030   254    7    261  

Thereafter   686    34    720  

Total undiscounted lease payment   2,592    71    2,663  

Less: imputed interest(d)   331    14    345  

Present value of lease liabilities  $ 2,261   $ 57   $ 2,318  

(d) As the rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined, we use our incremental borrowing rate based on the information 

available at the lease commencement date in determining the imputed interest and present value of lease payments. We used 

the incremental borrowing rate on January 1, 2019 for operating leases that commenced prior to that date.  

 

As of December 31, 2025, we have additional lease agreements that have been signed but not yet commenced, with total undiscounted 

minimum lease payments of $68 million. These leases will commence between 2026 and 2027 with lease terms of 1 year to 20 years. 
 

 

Note 10 – Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures 

 

The Company’s financial assets and liabilities primarily consist of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, long-term 

bank deposits and notes, accounts receivable, accounts payable, short-term borrowings and lease liabilities, and the carrying values 

of these assets and liabilities approximate their fair value in general.  

 

The Company’s financial assets also include its investment in equity securities and available-for-sale debt securities. Investment in 

equity securities is measured at fair value based on the closing market price for the shares at the end of each reporting period, with 

subsequent fair value changes recorded in our Consolidated Statements of Income. Investment in available-for-sales debt securities 

is measured at estimated fair value with subsequent fair value changes recorded in Other comprehensive income (loss) in the 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income. 

 
The following table is a summary of our financial assets measured on a recurring basis or disclosed at fair value and the level within 

the fair value hierarchy in which the measurement falls. The Company classifies its cash equivalents, short-term investments, long-

term bank deposits and notes, and investment in equity securities within Level 1 or Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy because it uses 

quoted market prices or alternative pricing sources and models utilizing market observable inputs to determine their fair value, 

respectively. The Company classifies its investment in available-for-sale debt securities in Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy because 

it is valued based on unobservable inputs. No transfers among the levels within the fair value hierarchy occurred in 2025 and 2024. 
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Fair Value Measurement or Disclosure  

at December 31, 2025 

 

 

Balance at  

December 31, 2025   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   

Cash equivalents:              

Fixed income debt securities(a)  $ 185   $ 43   $ 142      

Money market funds   93    93         

Total cash equivalents   278    136    142    —   

Short-term investments:              

Time deposits   420       420      

Fixed income debt securities(a)   200       200      

Variable return investments   162    162         

Structured deposits   96       96      

Total short-term investments   878    162    716    —   

Long-term bank deposits and notes              

Time deposits   352       352      

Variable return investments   151       151      

Fixed income bank notes   150       150      

Structured deposits   25       25      

Total long-term bank deposits and notes   678    —    678    —   

Equity investments:              

Investment in equity securities   57    57         

Investment in available-for-sale debt securities   15          15   

Total Equity investments   72    57    —    15   

Total  $ 1,906   $ 355   $ 1,536   $ 15   

 

 

 

    

Fair Value Measurement or Disclosure  

at December 31, 2024 

 

 

Balance at  

December 31, 2024   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   

Cash equivalents:              

Time deposits  $ 145      $ 145      

Fixed income debt securities(a)   196       196      

Money market funds   30    30         

Total cash equivalents   371    30    341    —   

Short-term investments:              

Time deposits   1,017       1,017      

Structured deposits   90       90      

Variable return investments   14    14         

Total short-term investments   1,121    14    1,107    —   

Long-term bank deposits and notes              

Time deposits   554       554      

Fixed income bank notes   534       534      

Total long-term bank deposits and notes   1,088    —    1,088    —   

Equity investments:              

Investment in equity securities   83    83         

Total  $ 2,663   $ 127   $ 2,536   $ —   

(a) Classified as held-to-maturity investments and measured at amortized cost. 
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The Company is required to provide bank deposits, insurance or guarantees to secure the balance of prepaid stored-value cards issued 

by the Company pursuant to regulatory requirements. $29 million of time deposits in Short-term investments and $34 million of 

time deposits in Long-term bank deposits and notes were restricted for use as of December 31, 2025. $60 million of time deposits in 

Long-term bank deposits and notes were restricted for use as of December 31, 2024. 

 
Non-recurring fair value measurements 

 

In addition, certain of the Company’s restaurant-level assets (including operating lease ROU assets and PP&E), goodwill and 

intangible assets are measured at fair value based on unobservable inputs (Level 3) on a non-recurring basis, if determined to be 

impaired. As of each relevant measurement date, the fair value of restaurant-level assets, if determined to be impaired, is primarily 

represented by a price market participant would pay to sub-lease the operating lease ROU assets and acquire the remaining restaurant 

assets, which reflects the highest and best use of the assets. Significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement 

include market rental prices, which were determined with the assistance of an independent valuation specialist. The direct comparison 

approach is used as the valuation technique by assuming a sub-lease of each of the properties in its existing state with vacant 
possession. By making reference to lease transactions as available in the relevant market, comparable properties in close proximity 

have been selected and adjustments have been made to account for any difference in factors such as location and property size. 

 

The following table presents amounts recognized from all non-recurring fair value measurements based on unobservable inputs 

(Level 3) during the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023. These amounts exclude fair value measurements made for 

restaurants that were subsequently closed or refranchised prior to those respective year-end dates. 

 

  2025   2024   2023   Account Classification 

            

Restaurant-level impairment(a)  $ 21   $ 18   $ 20   Closures and impairment expenses, net 

 

(a) Restaurant-level impairment charges are recorded in Closures and impairment expenses, net and resulted mainly from our 

semi-annual impairment evaluation of long-lived assets of individual restaurants that were being operated at the time of 

impairment and had not been offered for refranchising. After considering the impairment charges recorded during the 

corresponding years, the fair value of such assets as of the relevant measurement date was $62 million, $51 million and $68 
million during the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

 

Note 11 – Retirement Plans 

 

As stipulated by Chinese state regulations, the Company participates in a government-sponsored defined contribution retirement 

plan. Substantially all employees are entitled to an annual pension equal to a fixed proportion of the average basic salary amount of 

the geographical area of their last employment at their retirement date. We are required to make contributions to the local social 

security bureau between 13% and 20% of the previous year’s average basic salary amount of the geographical area where the 

employees are under our employment. Contributions are recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Income as they become payable. 

We have no obligation for the payment of pension benefits beyond the annual contributions as set out above. The Company 

contributed $232 million, $239 million and $230 million to the government-sponsored plan for the year ended December 31, 2025, 
2024 and 2023, respectively. 

 

The Company also offers certain of the Company’s employees and executives retirement benefits under defined contribution plans, 

through which we provide a Company-funded contribution ranging from 5% to 10% of the base salary. Under the plans, participants 

will receive a lump sum equal to a percentage of the Company’s contributions inclusive of investment return upon termination. This 

percentage is generally based on a vesting schedule that provides participants with a vested 30% interest upon completion of a 

minimum of 3 years of service, and an additional 10% vested interest for each additional completed year, up to a maximum of 100%. 

The Company’s contribution amount to the plans for the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023 was immaterial. Forfeited 

contribution utilized under the plans to reduce the existing level of contribution during the years of 2025, 2024 and 2023 was 

immaterial. Unutilized forfeited contribution as of December 31, 2025 was immaterial as well. 
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Note 12 – Share-Based Compensation 

 

Overview 

 

Upon the separation, holders of outstanding YUM equity awards generally received both adjusted YUM awards and Yum China 

awards, or adjusted awards of either YUM or Yum China in their entirety, to maintain the pre-separation intrinsic value of the awards. 
Share issuances for Yum China awards held by YUM’s employees will be satisfied by Yum China. Share issuances for YUM awards 

held by the Company’s employees will be satisfied by YUM. As a result, Yum China may issue shares of common stock to YUM’s 

employees upon exercise or vesting of various types of awards, including stock options, SARs, RSUs, and awards from the executive 

income deferral plan.   

 

Effective October 31, 2016, the Company adopted the Yum China Holdings, Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan (the “2016 Plan”). The 

Company has reserved for issuance under the 2016 Plan of 45,000,000 shares of our common stock. Under this plan, the exercise 

price of stock options and SARs granted must be equal to or greater than the fair market value of the Company’s stock on the date 

of grant. 

 

In connection with the Primary Conversion, the Company’s stockholders approved the Yum China Holdings, Inc. 2022 Long Term 

Incentive Plan (the “2022 Plan”), with 31,000,000 shares of Company common stock authorized for grants. The 2022 Plan replaced 
the 2016 Plan and became effective on October 24, 2022. The 2016 Plan continued to govern awards granted prior to the effectiveness 

of the 2022 Plan. Under the 2022 Plan, the exercise price of stock options and SARs granted must be the higher of 1) the fair market 

value of the Company’s stock on the date of grant and (ii) the average fair market value for the five trading days immediately 

preceding the date of grant. The 2022 Plan is largely based on the 2016 Plan, but with updates to conform to the requirements of the 

HKEX, to delete provisions relating to our spin-off that are no longer applicable and to make certain other administrative changes. 

 

Similar to the 2016 Plan, potential awards to employees and non-employee directors under the 2022 Plan include stock options, 

incentive options, SARs, common stock, restricted stock, RSUs, performance shares, PSUs, and cash incentive awards. Awards 

under the 2016 and 2022 Plan have varying vesting provisions and exercise periods. Stock options and SARs expire 10 years after 

grant. 

 
The Company recognizes all share-based payments to employees and non-employee directors in the Consolidated Financial 

Statements as compensation cost on a straight-line basis over the service period based on their fair value on the date of grant, for 

awards that actually vest and when performance conditions are probable of being achieved, if applicable. If no substantive service 

condition exists, the grant-date fair value is fully recognized as expense upon grant. 

 

Award Valuation 

 

SARs 

 

The Company estimated the fair value of each SAR award granted to the Company’s employees as of the date of grant, using the BS 

model with the following assumptions: 

 

  2025   2024   2023  

Risk-free interest rate   4.3 %   4.1 %   3.9 % 

Expected term (years)   6.75    6.50    6.50  

Expected volatility   37.2 %   36.2 %   36.3 % 

Expected dividend yield   2.0 %   1.6 %   0.8 % 

 

SAR awards granted to employees typically have a graded vesting schedule of 25% per year over four years and expire 10 years 

after grant. The Company uses a single weighted-average term for awards that have a graded vesting schedule and determined 

average terms of exercise based on analysis of the historical exercise and post-vesting termination behavior. Forfeitures were 

estimated based on historical experience. Historical data used to estimate the expected term and forfeiture rate include data associated 

with the Company’s employees who were granted share-based awards by YUM prior to the separation. 

 
For those awards granted by the Company after the separation, the Company considered the historical volatility of the Company’s 

common stock. The dividend yield was estimated based on the Company’s dividend policy at the time of the grant.  
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RSUs 

 

RSU awards generally vest over three to four years, with either cliff vesting or graded vesting on anniversary dates. The fair values 

of RSU awards are based on the closing price of the Company’s stock on the date of grant.  

 

PSUs 
 

The Company grants PSUs that cliff vest only if threshold performance goals are achieved over a performance period, with the 

payout ranging from 0% to 200% of the target number of shares. These PSU awards are based on the achievement of one or more 

performance goals, including stock price, relative total shareholder return against selected indices or the constituents of the indices, 

sales growth, profitability, and strategic imperative. 

 

In February 2020, the Company’s Board of Directors granted a special award of PSUs (“Partner PSU Awards”) to select employees 

who were deemed critical to the Company’s execution of its strategic operating plan under the 2016 Plan. These Partner PSU Awards 

are subject to market and performance conditions, and will cliff vest only if threshold performance goals are achieved over a four-

year performance period, with the payout ranging from 0% to 200% of the target number of shares. These awards vested as of 

December 31, 2023 with a payout in the first quarter of 2024. 

 
The fair value of PSU awards with performance conditions was determined based on the closing price of the Company’s stock on 

the date of the grant. The fair value of PSU awards with market conditions was determined based on the outcome of the MCS model 

with the following assumptions: 

 

          

  2025   2024   2023  

Risk-free interest rate   4.2 %   4.1 %   4.2 % 

Expected volatility   39.6 %   38.8 %   39.3 % 

 

Compensation costs associated with PSU awards are recognized on a straight-line basis over the performance period when 

performance conditions are probable of being achieved, adjusted for estimated forfeiture rate. 

 
Others 

 

Commencing from November 11, 2016, Yum China also granted annual awards of common stock to non-employee directors for 

their service on Yum China’s Board of Directors. The fair value of these awards is based on the closing price of the Company’s 

common stock on the date of grant. The shares were issued outright to the directors on the date of grant, with no conditions attached. 

Therefore, the fair value of the awards was fully recognized as expenses upon grant. For the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 

and 2023, the Company recognized in full the grant-date fair value of $3.3 million, $3.2 million and $2.7 million, respectively, in 

the Consolidated Statements of Income and issued a total of 74,885, 86,972 and 45,843 shares of Yum China common stock, 

respectively. 

 

Award Activity 

 
SARs 

  

  

Shares 

(in thousands)    

Weighted-average 

Exercise 

Price   

Weighted-average 

Remaining 

Contractual Term 

(years)   

Aggregate Intrinsic 

Value  
(in millions)  

Outstanding at the beginning of 2025   7,090    $ 39.28        
Granted   223     48.07        
Exercised   (1,202 )    26.42        
Forfeited or expired   (229 )    51.87        

Outstanding at the end of 2025   5,882  (a)   41.75    3.87   $ 49  

Exercisable at the end of 2025   5,147     40.87    3.31   $ 46  

  

(a) Outstanding awards represent Yum China’s SAR awards held by employees of both the Company and YUM. 
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The weighted-average grant-date fair value of SARs granted in 2025, 2024 and 2023 was $17.65, $14.55 and $24.67, respectively. 

The total intrinsic value of SARs exercised by the Company’s employees during the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023 

was $25 million, $17 million and $25 million, respectively.  

 

As of December 31, 2025, $7 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested SARs, which will be reduced by any 

forfeitures that occur, is expected to be recognized over a remaining weighted-average vesting period of approximately 1.53 years. 
The total fair value at grant date of awards held by the Company’s employees that vested during 2025, 2024 and 2023 was $10 

million, $13 million and $15 million, respectively. 

 

RSUs 

 

  

Shares 

(in thousands)   

Weighted- 

Average 

Grant Date 

Fair Value  

Unvested at the beginning of 2025   1,265   $ 47.76  

Granted   557    47.72  

Vested   (444 )   50.42  

Forfeited   (120 )   46.77  

Unvested at the end of 2025   1,258    46.89  

 

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of RSUs granted in 2025, 2024 and 2023 was $47.72, $40.47 and $61.17, respectively. 

As of December 31, 2025, $33 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to 1,258,233 unvested RSUs, which will be 

reduced by any forfeiture that occurs, is expected to be recognized over a remaining weighted-average vesting period of 
approximately 1.58 years. The total fair value at grant date of awards that vested during 2025, 2024 and 2023 was $22 million, $32 

million and $8 million, respectively. 

 

 

PSUs 

 

  

Shares 

(in thousands)   

Weighted- 

Average 

Grant Date 

Fair Value  

Unvested at the beginning of 2025   400   $ 56.05  

Granted   186    54.37  
Vested   (109 )   77.15  

Forfeited   (106 )   54.43  

Unvested at the end of 2025   371    49.45  

 

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of PSUs granted in 2025, 2024 and 2023 was $54.37, $44.52 and $71.01, respectively. 

As of December 31, 2025, $10 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to 370,662 unvested PSUs, which will be reduced 
by any forfeiture that occurs and adjusted based on the Company’s achievement of performance goals, is expected to be recognized 

over a remaining weighted-average vesting period of approximately 1.78 years. The total fair value at grant date of awards that 

vested during 2025, 2024 and 2023 was $8 million, $4 million and $41 million, respectively. 

 

Impact on Net Income 

 

Share-based compensation expense was $42 million, $41 million and $64 million for 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Deferred 

tax benefits and tax benefits realized on our tax returns from tax deductions associated with share-based compensation were 

immaterial in each of 2025, 2024 and 2023. 

 

Note 13 – Equity 

 

Immediately after the separation on October 31, 2016, Yum China authorized capital stock consisted of 1,000 million shares of 

common stock, par value $0.01 per share, and 364 million shares of Yum China common stock were issued and outstanding. As of 

December 31, 2025, 355 million shares of Yum China common stock were issued and 354 million shares were outstanding. 
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Share Repurchase and Retirement 

 

The Company repurchased 24.7 million shares of common stock for $1,136 million, 31.3 million shares of common stock for $1,242 

million and 12.4 million shares of common stock for $617 million, excluding transaction costs and excise tax, for the years ended 

December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively. In December 2025, our Board of Directors increased the share repurchase 

authorization by $1 billion to an aggregate of $5.4 billion, of which $1.2 billion remained available as of December 31, 2025. 
 

Of the shares repurchased for the year ended December 31, 2025, 24.1 million shares were retired and resumed the status of 

authorized and unissued shares of common stock, and 0.6 million shares repurchased on the HKEX are expected to be retired 

subsequent to December 31, 2025 and included in Treasury stock in the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 

The Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (“IRA”), which is discussed further in Note 14, imposes an excise tax of 1% on net share 

repurchases that occur after December 31, 2022. Excise tax on net share repurchases, which was recognized as part of the cost of the 

shares repurchased, amounted to $11 million, $12 million and $6 million for the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, 

respectively. 

 

Cash Dividend 

 
On October 4, 2017, the Board of Directors approved a regular quarterly cash dividend program, and we have paid a quarterly cash 

dividend on Yum China’s common stock since the fourth quarter of 2017, except for the second and third quarters of 2020 due to 

the unprecedented effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. Cash dividends totaling $353 million, $248 million and $216 million were 

paid to stockholders in 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

 

Restricted net assets 

 

The Company’s ability to pay dividends is primarily dependent on the Company receiving distributions of funds from its subsidiaries. 

Relevant PRC statutory laws and regulations permit payments of dividends by the Company’s PRC subsidiaries only out of their 

retained earnings, if any, as determined in accordance with PRC accounting standards and regulations. The results of operations 

reflected in the Consolidated Financial Statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP differ from those reflected in the 
statutory financial statements of the Company’s subsidiaries. 

 

In accordance with the PRC Company Law, the Company’s PRC subsidiaries are required to provide certain statutory reserves, 

namely statutory surplus reserve and the discretionary surplus reserve which are appropriated from net profit as reported in the 

enterprises’ PRC statutory accounts. Appropriations to the statutory surplus reserve are required to be at least 10% of their annual 

after-tax profit until cumulative reserve has reached 50% of their respective registered capital based on the enterprises’ PRC statutory 

accounts. Appropriations to the discretionary surplus reserve are at the discretion of the board of directors for respective PRC 

subsidiaries. The aforementioned reserves can only be used for specific purposes and are not distributable as cash dividends.  

 

As a result of these Chinese laws and regulations subject to the limit discussed above that require annual appropriations of 10% of 

after-tax income to be set aside, prior to payment of dividends as statutory reserves, the Company’s PRC subsidiaries are restricted 

in their ability to transfer a portion of their net assets to the Company in the form of dividend payments, loans or advances. The 
restricted net assets including paid-in capital and the statutory reserves of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries were approximately $1.5 

billion as of December 31, 2025. 

 

Furthermore, cash transfers from the Company’s PRC subsidiaries to its subsidiaries outside of China are subject to PRC government 

control of currency conversion. Shortages in the availability of foreign currency may restrict the ability of the PRC subsidiaries to 

remit sufficient foreign currency to pay dividends or other payments to the Company, or otherwise satisfy their foreign currency-

denominated obligations. 
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Note 14 – Income Taxes 

 

In December 2017, the U.S. enacted the Tax Act, which included a broad range of tax reforms. The Tax Act requires a U.S. 

shareholder to be subject to tax on Global Intangible Low Taxed Income (“GILTI”) earned by certain foreign subsidiaries. We have 

elected the option to account for current year GILTI tax as a period cost as incurred. 

 
In August 2022, the IRA was signed into law in the U.S., which contains certain tax measures, including a Corporate Alternative 

Minimum Tax (“CAMT”) of 15% on certain large corporations. On December 27, 2022, the U.S. Treasury Department and the 

Internal Revenue Services (the “IRS”) released Notice 2023-7, announcing their intention to issue proposed regulations addressing 

the application of the new CAMT. Additional notices or proposed regulations were released subsequently to continue to provide 

interim guidance regarding certain CAMT issues before proposed regulations are published. The Company will monitor the 

regulatory developments and continue to evaluate the impact on our financial statements, if any. 

 

 

In December 2022, a refined Foreign Sourced Income Exemption (“FSIE”) regime was published in Hong Kong and took effect 

from January 1, 2023.  Under the new FSIE regime, certain foreign sourced income would be deemed as being sourced from Hong 

Kong and chargeable to Hong Kong Profits Tax, if the recipient entity fails to meet the prescribed exception requirements. Certain 

dividends, interests, intellectual property income and disposal gains, if any, received by us and our Hong Kong subsidiaries may be 
subject to the new tax regime. Based on our preliminary analysis, this legislation did not have a material impact on our financial 

statements. The Company will monitor the developments and continue to evaluate the impact, if any. 

 

The Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (the“OECD”), the European Union and other jurisdictions (including 

jurisdictions in which we have operations or presence) have committed to enacting substantial changes to numerous long-standing 

tax principles impacting how large multinational enterprises are taxed. In particular, the OECD’s Pillar Two initiative introduced a 

15% global minimum tax applied on a jurisdiction-by-jurisdiction basis and for which many jurisdictions have now committed to an 

effective enactment date starting January 1, 2024. Based on our analysis, this legislation did not have a material impact on our 

financial statements. The Company will monitor the regulatory developments and continue to evaluate the impact, if any. 

 

In July 2025, the One Big Beautiful Bill Act (the “OBBBA”) was signed into law in the U.S. The OBBBA includes a broad range 
of provisions, such as the permanent extension of certain expiring provisions of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, modifications to the 

international tax framework and others. These provisions have multiple effective dates beginning in 2025. Based on our preliminary 

analysis, we do not expect this legislation to have a material impact on our financial statements. The Company will monitor the 

regulatory developments and continue to evaluate the impact, if any. 

 

As described in Note 2, effective for the year ended December 31, 2025, we adopted ASU 2023-09 and applied the disclosure 

requirements retrospectively to all periods presented. 

 

U.S. and foreign income (loss) before taxes are set forth below: 

 

  2025   2024   2023  

U.S.  $ 8   $ 28   $ 42  

Mainland China   1,335    1,219    1,165  
Other Foreign Jurisdictions   15    84    19  

  $ 1,358   $ 1,331   $ 1,226  
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The details of our income tax provision are set forth below: 

 

    2025   2024   2023  

Current:  Federal  $ 4   $ 10   $ 14  

  State   —    —    —  

  Foreign   379    353    325  

    $ 383   $ 363   $ 339  

            

Deferred:  Federal  $ (4 )  $ 8   $ (11 ) 

  State   —    —    —  

  Foreign   (10 )   (15 )   1  

    $ (14 )  $ (7 )  $ (10 ) 

    $ 369   $ 356   $ 329  

  

The reconciliation of income taxes calculated at the U.S. federal statutory rate to our effective tax rate is set forth below: 

 

  2025   2024   2023  

U.S. federal statutory rate  $ 285    21.0 %  $ 280    21.0 %  $ 257    21.0 % 

State and local income taxes   —    —    —    —    —    —  

Foreign tax effects                   

      Mainland China                   

            Statutory tax rate difference between  

               Mainland China and the U.S.   53    3.9    48    3.6    46    3.8  

            Effect of preferential tax benefit   (17 )   (1.2 )   (15 )   (1.1 )   (19 )   (1.6 ) 

            Withholding tax on distributable earnings   41    3.0    36    2.7    36    2.9  

            Others   4    0.3    6    0.5    12    1.0  

      Other foreign jurisdictions   4    0.3    (11 )   (1.0 )   3    0.4  

Effect of changes in tax laws or rates enacted in  

    the current period   —    —    —    —    —    —  

Effect of cross-border tax laws   (1 )   (0.1 )   12    1.0    (4 )   (0.4 ) 

Tax credits   —    —    —    —    (1 )   (0.1 ) 

Changes in valuation allowances   1    0.1    —    —    (1 )   (0.1 ) 

Nontaxable or nondeductible items   (1 )   (0.1 )   —    —    —    —  

Change in unrecognized tax benefits   —    —    —    —    —    —  

Effective income tax rate  $ 369    27.2 %  $ 356    26.7 %  $ 329    26.9 % 

 

Statutory tax rate difference between Mainland China and the U.S.  A majority of our income is earned in China, which is generally 

subject to a 25% tax rate. The negative impact in 2025, 2024 and 2023 is primarily due to the U.S. federal statutory rate of 21%, 

which is lower than China’s statutory income tax rate. 

 

Effect of preferential tax benefit. This item represents the benefits from preferential tax rates applied at certain qualified Chinese 

subsidiaries. 

 

Withholding tax on distributable earnings. This item represents withholding tax impact on planned or actual repatriation of earnings 

outside of China, at the withholding tax rate of 5% or 10% depending on the manner of repatriation, the applicable tax treaties or tax 

arrangements, as well as the interpretation in applying these treaties and arrangements. 
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The details of 2025 and 2024 deferred tax assets (liabilities) are set forth below: 

 

  2025   2024  

  Assets   Liabilities   Total   Assets   Liabilities   Total  

Operating losses and tax credit carryforwards  $ 38   $ —   $ 38   $ 37   $ —   $ 37  

Tax benefit from Little Sheep restructuring   14    —    14    14    —    14  

Employee compensation and benefits   8    —    8    10    —    10  

Deferred income and other   135    —    135    119    —    119  

Lease   587    (550 )   37    578    (538 )   40  

Property, plant and equipment   —    (146 )   (146 )   —    (145 )   (145 ) 

Intangible assets   —    (38 )   (38 )   —    (36 )   (36 ) 

Gain from re-measurement of equity interest  

     upon acquisition   —    (221 )   (221 )   —    (214 )   (214 ) 

Withholding tax on distributable earnings   —    (16 )   (16 )   —    (17 )   (17 ) 

Unrealized gains from equity securities   —    (4 )   (4 )   —    (9 )   (9 ) 

Others   7    (7 )   —    9    (4 )   5  

Valuation Allowance   (57 )   —    (57 )   (55 )   —    (55 ) 

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)  $ 732    (982 )  $ (250 )  $ 712    (963 )  $ (251 ) 

 
We have investments in our foreign subsidiaries where the carrying values for financial reporting exceed the tax basis. Except for 

the planned but yet to be distributed earnings, we have not provided deferred tax on the portion of the excess that we believe is 

indefinitely reinvested, as we have the ability and intent to indefinitely postpone the basis differences from reversing with a tax 

consequence. The Company’s separation from YUM was intended to qualify as a tax-free reorganization for U.S. income tax 

purposes resulting in the excess of financial reporting basis over tax basis in our investment in the China business continuing to be 

indefinitely reinvested. The excess of financial reporting basis over tax basis as of December 31, 2017 was subject to the one-time 

transition tax under the Tax Act as a deemed repatriation of accumulated undistributed earnings from the foreign subsidiaries. 

However, we continue to believe that the portion of the excess of financial reporting basis over tax basis (including earnings and 

profits subject to the one-time transition tax) is indefinitely reinvested in our foreign subsidiaries for foreign withholding tax 

purposes. We estimate that our total temporary difference for which we have not provided foreign withholding taxes is approximately 

$3 billion at December 31, 2025. The foreign withholding tax rate on this amount is 5% or 10% depending on the manner of 
repatriation, the applicable tax treaties or tax arrangements, as well as the interpretation in applying these treaties and arrangements. 

 

At December 31, 2025, the Company had operating loss carryforwards of $157 million, primarily related to certain underperforming 

entities, most of which will expire by 2030. These losses are being carried forward in jurisdictions where we are permitted to use tax 

losses from prior periods to reduce future taxable income. 

 

Cash payments for tax liabilities on income tax returns filed were $370 million, $393 million and $324 million in 2025, 2024 and 

2023, respectively. 

 

  2025   2024   2023  

Federal  $ 6   $ 38   $ 19  

State   —    —    —  

Mainland China  358   343    302  

Other Foreign Jurisdictions  6   12    3  

  $ 370   $ 393   $ 324  

 

We recognize the benefit of positions taken or expected to be taken in tax returns in the financial statements when it is more likely 

than not that the position would be sustained upon examination by tax authorities. A recognized tax position is measured at the 

largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement. 
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows: 

 

  2025   2024  

Beginning of Year  $ 19   $ 20  

Additions on tax positions   5    4  

Reductions due to statute expiration   (4 )   (5 ) 

End of Year  $ 20   $ 19  

 

In 2025 and 2024, our unrecognized tax benefits were increased by $5 million and $4 million, respectively. The unrecognized tax 

benefits balance of $20 million as of December 31, 2025 related to the uncertainty with regard to the deductibility of certain business 

expenses incurred, all of which, if recognized upon audit settlement or statute expiration, would affect the effective tax rate. The 
accrued interest and penalties related to income taxes at December 31, 2025 and 2024 are set forth below: 

 

  2025   2024  

Accrued interest and penalties  $ 4   $ 4  

 

In each year of 2025, 2024 and 2023, nil net impact for interest and penalties was recognized in our Consolidated Statements of 

Income as components of our income tax provision, respectively. 

 

The Company’s results are subject to examination in the U.S. federal jurisdiction as well as various U.S. state jurisdictions as part 

of YUM’s and our own income tax filings, and separately in foreign jurisdictions. Any liability arising from these examinations 

related to periods prior to the separation is expected to be settled among the Company, YCCL and YUM in accordance with the tax 

matters agreement we entered into in connection with the separation. 

 
We are subject to reviews, examinations and audits by Chinese tax authorities, the IRS and other tax authorities with respect to 

income and non-income based taxes. Since 2016, we have been under a national audit on transfer pricing by the STA in China 

regarding our related party transactions for the period from 2006 to 2015. The information and views currently exchanged with the 

tax authorities focus on our franchise arrangement with YUM. We continue to provide information requested by the tax authorities 

to the extent it is available to the Company. It is reasonably possible that there could be significant developments, including expert 

review and assessment by the STA, within the next 12 months. The ultimate assessment and decision of the STA will depend upon 

further review of the information provided, as well as ongoing technical and other discussions with the STA and in-charge local tax 

authorities, and therefore, it is not possible to reasonably estimate the potential impact at this time. We will continue to defend our 

transfer pricing position. However, if the STA prevails in the assessment of additional tax due based on its ruling, the assessed tax, 

interest and penalties, if any, could have a material adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows. 
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Note 15 – Segment Reporting  

 

The Company has two reportable segments: KFC and Pizza Hut. Our non-reportable operating segments, including the operations 

of Lavazza, Huang Ji Huang, Little Sheep, Taco Bell and our delivery operating segment, and for 2023 and 2024, our e-commerce 

segment, are combined and referred to as All Other Segments, as these operating segments are insignificant both individually and in 

the aggregate. The Company’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) is the chief executive officer, who reviews the financial 
information of each operating segment when making decisions about allocating resources and assessing the performance of the 

segment. 

 
  2025  

  KFC  
 

Pizza Hut  
 

All Other 

Segments  
 

Corporate and 

Unallocated(a)  
 

Combined  
 
Elimination  

 
Consolidated  

                      

Revenue from external customers  $ 8,871   $ 2,324   $ 184   $ 418   (b) $ 11,797   $ —   $ 11,797  

Inter-segment revenue(c)   —    —    750    —    750    (750 )   —  

   8,871    2,324    934    418    12,547    (750 )   11,797  

                      

Less:                      

Food and paper   2,690    752    13    —    3,455    —    3,455  

Payroll and employee benefits   2,338    640    11    —    2,989    (2 )   2,987  

Occupancy and other operating expenses   2,175    598    21    —    2,794    —    2,794  

General and administrative expenses   260    110    30    181    581    —    581  

Franchise expenses   36    4    1    —    41    —    41  

Expenses for transactions with franchisees   58    6    73    344   (b)  481    —    481  

Other operating costs and expenses   3    23    783   (c)  71    880    (748 )   132  

Closures and impairment expenses, net   26    8    3    —    37    —    37  

Other income, net   —    —    —    (1 )   (1 )   —    (1 ) 

                      

Operating Profit (Loss)   1,285    183    (1 )   (177 )   1,290    —    1,290  

                      

Interest income, net(a)            92          92  

Investment loss(a)            (24 )         (24 ) 

Income Before Income Taxes and Equity in  

  Net Earnings (Losses) from Equity Method 

  Investments  

                  $ 1,358  

 

  2024  

  KFC  
 

Pizza Hut  
 

All Other 

Segments  
 

Corporate and 

Unallocated(a)  
 

Combined  
 

Elimination  
 
Consolidated  

                      

Revenue from external customers  $ 8,509   $ 2,260   $ 181   $ 353   (b) $ 11,303   $ —   $ 11,303  

Inter-segment revenue(c)   —    —    608    —    608    (608 )   —  

   8,509    2,260    789    353    11,911    (608 )   11,303  

                      

Less:                      

Food and paper   2,645    727    15    —    3,387    —    3,387  

Payroll and employee benefits   2,146    628    15    —    2,789    (2 )   2,787  

Occupancy and other operating expenses   2,170    600    28    —    2,798    —    2,798  

General and administrative expenses   248    110    37    173    568    —    568  

Franchise expenses   32    4    1    —    37    —    37  

Expenses for transactions with franchisees   49    4    65    286   (b)  404    —    404  

Other operating costs and expenses   8    22    635   (c)  63    728    (606 )   122  

Closures and impairment expenses, net   19    12    8    —    39    —    39  

Other income, net   —    —    —    (1 )   (1 )   —    (1 ) 

                      

Operating Profit (Loss)   1,192    153    (15 )   (168 )   1,162    —    1,162  

                      

Interest income, net(a)            129          129  

Investment gain(a)            40          40  

Income Before Income Taxes and Equity in  

  Net Earnings (Losses) from Equity Method 

  Investments  

                  $ 1,331  
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  2023  

  KFC  
 

Pizza Hut  
 
All Other 

Segments  
 

Corporate and 

Unallocated(a)  
 

Combined  
 

Elimination  
 
Consolidated  

                      

Revenue from external customers  $ 8,240   $ 2,246   $ 199   $ 293   (b) $ 10,978   $ —   $ 10,978  

Inter-segment revenue(c)   —    —    580    —    580    (580 )   —  

   8,240    2,246    779    293    11,558    (580 )   10,978  

                      

Less:                      

Food and paper   2,512    692    20    —    3,224    —    3,224  

Payroll and employee benefits   2,057    649    21    —    2,727    (2 )   2,725  

Occupancy and other operating expenses   2,107    610    35    —    2,752    —    2,752  

General and administrative expenses   263    118    43    214    638    —    638  

Franchise expenses   31    4    1    —    36    —    36  

Expenses for transactions with franchisees   39    4    67    246   (b)  356    —    356  

Other operating costs and expenses   15    19    614   (c)  42    690    (578 )   112  

Closures and impairment expenses, net   12    8    9    —    29    —    29  

Other expenses (income), net   2    —    —    (2 )   —    —    —  

                      

Operating Profit (Loss)   1,202    142    (31 )   (207 )   1,106    —    1,106  

                      

Interest income, net(a)            169          169  

Investment loss(a)            (49 )         (49 ) 

Income Before Income Taxes and Equity in  

  Net Earnings (Losses) from Equity Method 

  Investments  

                  $ 1,226  

 

  Depreciation and Amortization  

  2025   2024   2023  

KFC  $ 304   $ 337   $ 319  

Pizza Hut   97    94    93  

All Other Segments   7    8    9  

Corporate and Unallocated   40    37    32  

  $ 448   $ 476   $ 453  

 

  Impairment Charges  

  2025   2024   2023  

KFC(d)  $ 29   $ 27   $ 18  

Pizza Hut(d)   10    13    10  
All Other Segments(d)   3    9    9  

  $ 42   $ 49   $ 37  

 

  Capital Spending  

  2025   2024   2023  

KFC  $ 302   $ 383   $ 358  

Pizza Hut   89    111    113  

All Other Segments   2    3    18  

Corporate and Unallocated   233    208    221  

  $ 626   $ 705   $ 710  

 

  Total Assets  

  2025   2024  

KFC  $ 5,560   $ 5,334  

Pizza Hut   952    914  

All Other Segments   308    300  

Corporate and Unallocated(e)   3,963    4,573  

  $ 10,783   $ 11,121  

(a) Amounts have not been allocated to any segment for performance reporting purposes. 
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(b) Amounts from corporate and unallocated primarily include revenues and associated expenses of transactions with franchisees 

derived from the Company’s central procurement model whereby the Company centrally purchases substantially all food and 

paper products from suppliers then sells and delivers to KFC and Pizza Hut restaurants, including franchisees. Amounts have 

not been allocated to any segment for purposes of making operating decisions or assessing financial performance as the 

transactions are deemed corporate revenues and expenses in nature. 

(c) Primarily includes revenues and associated costs generated from the delivery services that were provided to our Company-
owned restaurants. 

(d) Primarily includes store closure impairment charges and restaurant-level impairment charges resulting from our semi-annual 

impairment evaluation. See Note 10 for more information.    

(e) Primarily includes cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, long-term bank deposits and notes, equity investments, 

and inventories that are centrally managed and PP&E that are not specifically identifiable within each segment. 

  

As substantially all of the Company’s revenue is derived from the PRC and substantially all of the Company’s long-lived assets are 

located in the PRC, no geographical information is presented. In addition, revenue derived from and long-lived assets located in the 

U.S., the Company’s country of domicile, are immaterial.  
 

 

Note 16 – Contingencies 

 
Indemnification of China Tax on Indirect Transfers of Assets 

 

In February 2015, the STA issued Bulletin 7 on Income arising from Indirect Transfers of Assets by Non-Resident Enterprises. 

Pursuant to Bulletin 7, an “indirect transfer” of Chinese taxable assets, including equity interests in a Chinese resident enterprise, by 

a non-resident enterprise, may be recharacterized and treated as a direct transfer of Chinese taxable assets, if such arrangement does 

not have reasonable commercial purpose and the transferor has avoided payment of Chinese enterprise income tax. As a result, gains 

derived from such an indirect transfer may be subject to Chinese enterprise income tax at a rate of 10%. 

 

YUM concluded and we concurred that it is more likely than not that YUM will not be subject to this tax with respect to the 

distribution. However, there are significant uncertainties regarding what constitutes a reasonable commercial purpose, how the safe 

harbor provisions for group restructurings are to be interpreted and how the taxing authorities will ultimately view the distribution. 
As a result, YUM’s position could be challenged by Chinese tax authorities resulting in a 10% tax assessed on the difference between 

the fair market value and the tax basis of the separated China business. As YUM’s tax basis in the China business is minimal, the 

amount of such a tax could be significant. 

 

Any tax liability arising from the application of Bulletin 7 to the distribution is expected to be settled in accordance with the tax 

matters agreement between the Company and YUM. Pursuant to the tax matters agreement, to the extent any Chinese indirect transfer 

tax pursuant to Bulletin 7 is imposed, such tax and related losses will be allocated between YUM and the Company in proportion to 

their respective share of the combined market capitalization of YUM and the Company during the 30 trading days after the separation. 

Such a settlement could be significant and have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and our financial condition. At 

the inception of the tax indemnity being provided to YUM, the fair value of the non-contingent obligation to stand ready to perform 

was insignificant and the liability for the contingent obligation to make payment was not probable or estimable.   

 
Indemnification of Officers and Directors 

 

The Company’s amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws include provisions that require 

the Company to indemnify directors or officers for monetary damages for actions taken as a director or officer of the Company or 

while serving at the Company’s request as a director or officer or another position at another corporation or enterprise, as the case 

may be. The Company purchases standard directors and officers insurance to cover claims or a portion of the claims made against 

its directors and officers. Since a maximum obligation is not explicitly stated in the Company’s bylaws or in the indemnification 

agreements and will depend on the facts and circumstances that arise out of any future claims, the overall maximum amount of the 

obligations cannot be reasonably estimated. The Company has not been required to make payments related to these obligations, and 

the fair value for these obligations is zero as of December 31, 2025.  



  

46 

 

Legal Proceedings 

 

The Company is subject to various lawsuits covering a variety of allegations from time to time. The Company believes that the 

ultimate liability, if any, in excess of amounts already provided for these matters in the Consolidated Financial Statements, is not 

likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s annual results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. Matters 
faced by the Company from time to time include, but are not limited to, claims from landlords, employees, customers and others 

related to operational, contractual or employment issues. 

 

Note 17 – Subsequent Events 

 

Cash Dividend  

 

On February 4, 2026, the Company announced that the Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.29 per share on Yum 

China’s common stock, payable on March 25, 2026, to stockholders of record as of the close of business on March 4, 2026. Total 

estimated cash dividend payable is approximately $102 million.  
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Note 18 – Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the Company 

 

The following list contains the particulars of subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Company.  

 

Name of Major Subsidiaries   

Place of 

Incorporation 

and 

Operation 

  

Issued and Fully 

Paid Share 

Capital 

   

Equity 

Interest 

Held 

  Principal Activities 

Major subsidiaries engaging in investment holding and/or the operation of our restaurants 

 

Bai Sheng Restaurants China Holdings Limited   Hong Kong   USD 523,024,044   100.0%  
Investment holding and operating a 
Little Sheep restaurant in Hong Kong 

Yum! Restaurants (China) Investment Company 
Limited 

 PRC   USD 128,127,095   100.0%  Investment holding 

Yum! Restaurants (Shenyang) Co., Ltd.     USD 12,200,000   100.0%  

Operating our KFC, Pizza Hut and 
Taco Bell restaurants in respective 
areas 

Yum! Restaurants (Guangdong) Co., Ltd.     USD 45,406,000   100.0%   

Yum! Restaurants (Chengdu) Co., Ltd.     USD 4,200,000   100.0%   

Yum! Restaurants (Wuhan) Co., Ltd.     USD 10,100,000   100.0%   

Yum! Restaurants (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd.     USD 5,100,000   100.0%   

Beijing KFC Co., Ltd.    RMB 58,675,169   70.0%   

Shanghai KFC Co., Ltd.     USD 27,010,000   58.0%   

Wuxi KFC Co. Ltd.     USD 6,200,000   83.0%   

Hangzhou KFC Co., Ltd.     USD 21,500,000   59.6%   

Suzhou KFC Co., Ltd.     USD 10,000,000   92.0%   

Nanjing KFC Co., Ltd.     USD 19,060,000   100.0%   

Qingdao KFC Co., Ltd.     USD 8,600,000   100.0%   

Tianjin KFC Co., Ltd.     USD 7,100,000   100.0%   

Changsha KFC Co., Ltd.     USD 2,100,000   100.0%   

Nanning KFC Co., Ltd.     USD 2,700,000   100.0%   

Shanghai Pizza Hut Co., Ltd.     USD 13,173,000   100.0%   

Beijing Pizza Hut Co., Ltd.    RMB 23,508,800   100.0%   

Inner Mongolia Little Sheep Catering Chain Co., Ltd.     USD 76,180,000   100.0%  Operating our Little Sheep business 

Beijing Huang Ji Huang Catering Management Co., 
Ltd.  

 
 

RMB 1,000,000  
 

100.0% 
 

Operating our Huang Ji Huang 
business 

Yi Bai Coffee (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.     USD 214,500,000   65.0%  Operating Lavazza business in China 

Major subsidiaries engaging in the provision of support and services to other entities in our system 

 

Yum! Restaurants Consulting (Shanghai) Company 
Limited 

 

PRC 

 

 USD 5,000,000  

 

100.0% 

 

Sub-licensing the brands licensed 

from YUM; performing headquarters 
functions and providing support and 
services to other entities in our 
system 

HuanSheng Advertising (Shanghai ) Company Limited 
 

 
 

RMB 500,000  
 

100.0% 
 

Marketing and advertising services to 
other entities in our system 

Huansheng E-Commerce (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.    RMB 5,000,200   100.0%  Operating our e-commerce business 

Chuan Sheng Supply Chain Management (Shanghai) 
Co., Ltd. 

 

  RMB 380,000,000   100.0%  
Purchase of food, paper products and 
equipment for other entities in our 

system 

Shanghai You Song Jia Information and Technology 
Co., Ltd.  

  RMB 500,000   100.0%  
Managing delivery services for our 
restaurants 

 
All our subsidiaries established in the PRC are limited liability companies. 
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Note 19 – Condensed Financial Statements of Parent Company 

 

Condensed Balance Sheets 

 

  2025   2024  

ASSETS       

Current Assets       

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 100   $ 96  

Short-term investments   250    480  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets   40    9  

Total Current Assets   390    585  

Long-term bank deposits and notes   —    275  

Long-term investment in subsidiaries   5,017    4,897  

Total Assets   5,407    5,757  

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY       

Current Liabilities       

Accounts payable and other current liabilities   24    21  

Total Current Liabilities   24    21  

Deferred income tax liabilities   4    8  

Total Liabilities   28    29  

       

Equity       

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 1,000 million shares authorized; 

  355 million shares and 379 million shares issued at December 31, 2025 and 2024,  

  respectively; 354 million shares and 378 million shares outstanding at December 31,  

  2025 and 2024, respectively.   4    4  

Treasury stock   (28 )   (52 ) 

Additional paid-in capital   3,796    4,028  

Retained earnings   1,764    2,089  

Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (157 )   (341 ) 

Total Yum China Holdings, Inc. Stockholders' Equity   5,379    5,728  

Total Liabilities and Equity  $ 5,407   $ 5,757  

 

 

Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Income 

 

  2025   2024   2023  

General and administrative expenses   17    18    17  

Interest income, net   22    43    57  

Income Before Income Taxes and Equity in  

   Net Earnings from Subsidiaries   5    25    40  

Income tax provision   —    18    3  

Equity in net earnings from subsidiaries   924    904    790  

Net Income — Yum China Holdings, Inc.   929    911    827  

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax          

 Foreign currency translation adjustments   184    (112 )   (126 ) 

Comprehensive Income – Yum China Holdings, Inc.   1,113    799    701  
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Condensed Statements of Cash Flows 

 

  2025   2024   2023  

Cash Flows – Operating Activities          

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities (a)   1,019    1,659    14  

Cash Flows – Investing Activities          

Purchases of short-term investments, long-term bank deposits and notes   —    (598 )   (921 ) 

Maturities of short-term investments, long-term bank deposits and notes   480    426    1,151  

Proceeds from repayments of loan due from subsidiaries   —    39    461  

Net Cash Provided by/(Used in) Investing Activities   480    (133 )   691  

Cash Flows – Financing Activities          

Repurchase of shares of common stock   (1,144 )   (1,249 )   (613 ) 

Cash dividends paid on common stock   (353 )   (248 )   (216 ) 

Other, net   2    (1 )   14  

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities   (1,495 )   (1,498 )   (815 ) 

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents   4    28    (110 ) 

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year   96    68    178  

Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of Year  $ 100   $ 96   $ 68  

 

(a) Includes dividends received from subsidiaries of $1,023 million, $1,674 million and nil for the years ended December 31, 

2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
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A summary of the Company’s statement of changes in equity is as follows: 
  Yum China Holdings, Inc.  

              Accumulated           

  Common   Additional      Other           

  Stock   Paid-in   Retained   Comprehensive   Treasury Stock   Total  

  Shares   Amount   Capital   Earnings   Income (Loss)   Shares   Amount   Equity  

                         

Balance at December 31, 2022   419   $ 4   $ 4,390   $ 2,191   $ (103 )   -   $ —   $ 6,482  

Net Income            827             827  

Foreign currency translation adjustments               (126 )         (126 ) 

Comprehensive income                        701  

Cash dividends declared 

 ($0.52 per common share)            (216 )            (216 ) 

Repurchase and retirement of shares   (12 )   —    (131 )   (492 )      —    —    (623 ) 

Exercise and vesting of share-based awards   1    —    (2 )               (2 ) 

Share-based compensation         63                63  

Balance at December 31, 2023   407   $ 4   $ 4,320   $ 2,310   $ (229 )   —   $ —   $ 6,405  

Net Income            911             911  

Foreign currency translation adjustments               (112 )         (112 ) 

Comprehensive income                        799  

Cash dividends declared 

 ($0.64 per common share)            (248 )            (248 ) 

Repurchase and retirement of shares   (30 )   —    (319 )   (884 )      (1 )   (52 )   (1,255 ) 

Exercise and vesting of share-based awards   2    —    (14 )               (14 ) 

Share-based compensation         41                41  

Balance at December 31, 2024   379   $ 4   $ 4,028   $ 2,089   $ (341 )   (1 )  $ (52 )  $ 5,728  

Net Income            929             929  

Foreign currency translation adjustments               184          184  

Comprehensive income                        1,113  

Acquisition of noncontrolling interest         2                2  

Cash dividends declared 

 ($0.96 per common share)            (353 )            (353 ) 

Repurchase and retirement of shares   (25 )   —    (271 )   (901 )      1    24    (1,148 ) 

Exercise and vesting of share-based awards   1    —    (5 )               (5 ) 

Share-based compensation         42                42  

Balance at December 31, 2025   355   $ 4   $ 3,796   $ 1,764   $ (157 )   (1 )  $ (28 )  $ 5,379  

 

The above Condensed Financial Statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and in conformity with the disclosure requirements of the Hong 

Kong Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The Company’s accounting policies are the same as set out in the consolidated financial statements and the equity 

method of accounting has been adopted for investment in subsidiaries based on ASC 323, Investments – Equity Method and Joint Ventures. The above financial information of the 

Company should be read in conjunction with the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 
 

The Company provides full guarantee to certain subsidiary under a credit facility of $100 million. As the credit facility was undrawn as of December 31, 2025, there was no 

outstanding borrowing. Other than above, the Parent Company did not have material contingencies, long-term obligations and guarantees as of December 31, 2025 and 2024, except 

for those disclosed in the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Note 20 – Directors’ Remuneration 

 

Our non-employee directors were each compensated with an annual retainer, payable in Company common stock or, if requested by 

a director, up to one-half in cash. In addition to the annual retainer paid to all non-employee directors, the Chairman of the Board, 

committee chairs and committee members received additional stock retainers. 
 

Total remuneration to Joey Wat, chief executive and employee director, includes base salary, annual performance-based cash bonus, 

share-based awards, benefits, tax reimbursements, and pension scheme contributions. 

 

The remuneration of each director including the chief executive is set out below:  

 

 
  2025  

Name 

 

Fees 

Earned 

or Paid 

in Cash 

 

 

Salaries  

 

Performance  

Related  

Bonuses 

 

 

Share-

based 

Awards 

 

 

Pension  

Scheme  

Contributions(b) 

  

Allowances 

and 

Benefits(c) 

  Others  

 

Total  

Remuneration* 
 

  (in US$ thousands)  

Employee director and 

     chief executive                         

Joey Wat  $ —   $ 1,425   $ 6,156   $ 10,655  (a) $ 142   $ 1,214   $ —   $ 19,592  

                         

Non-employee directors                         

Robert B. Aiken (d)   158          168             325  

Mikel A. Durham (e)   158          205             363  

Edouard Ettedgui   —          348             348  

Grace Xin Ge (f)   158          198             355  

David Hoffmann   —          343             343  

Fred Hu   —          560             560  

Ruby Lu   —          338             338  

Zili Shao   158          195             353  

William Wang   —          328             328  

Zhe (David) Wei (g)   131          139             270  

Min (Jenny) Zhang   158          193             350  

Christina Xiaojing Zhu   —          325             325  

Peter A. Bassi (h)                     162    162  

   919    —    —    3,336    —    —    162    4,417  

Total  $ 919   $ 1,425   $ 6,156   $ 13,991   $ 142   $ 1,214   $ 162   $ 24,009  

 

 
  2024  

Name 

 

Fees 

Earned 

or Paid 

in Cash 

 

 

Salaries  

 

Performance  

Related  

Bonuses 

 

 

Share-

based 

Awards 

 

 

Pension  

Scheme  

Contributions(b) 

  

Allowances 

and 

Benefits(c) 

  Others  

 

Total  

Remuneration* 
 

  (in US$ thousands)  

Employee director and 

     chief executive                         

Joey Wat  $ —   $ 1,425   $ 2,445   $ 10,000  (a) $ 143   $ 209   $ —   $ 14,222  

                         

Non-employee directors                         

Robert B. Aiken (d)   —          325             325  

Peter A. Bassi (h)   158          203             360  

Mikel A. Durham (e)   131          154             285  

Edouard Ettedgui   —          348             348  

David Hoffmann   —          333             333  

Fred Hu   —          560             560  

Ruby Lu   —          338             338  

Zili Shao   158          195             353  

William Wang   —          328             328  

Min (Jenny) Zhang   158          210             368  

Christina Xiaojing Zhu   158          168             325  

   761    —    —    3,159    —    —    —    3,920  

Total  $ 761   $ 1,425   $ 2,445   $ 13,159   $ 143   $ 209   $ —   $ 18,142  
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  2023  

Name 

 

Fees 

Earned 

or Paid 

in Cash 

 

 

Salaries  

 

Performance  

Related  

Bonuses 

 

 

Share-

based 

Awards 

 

 

Pension  

Scheme  

Contributions(b) 

  

Allowances 

and 

Benefits(c) 

  Others  

 

Total  

Remuneration* 
 

  (in US$ thousands)  

Employee director and 

     chief executive                         

Joey Wat  $ —   $ 1,425   $ 4,916   $ 10,000  (a) $ 143   $ 3,852   $ —   $ 20,336  

                         

Non-employee directors                         

Peter A. Bassi (h)   158          203          50    410  

Edouard Ettedgui   158          190             348  

David Hoffmann   —          305             305  

Fred Hu   —          560             560  

Ruby Lu   —          350             350  

Zili Shao   158          195             353  

William Wang   —          328             328  

Min (Jenny) Zhang   158          198             355  

Christina Xiaojing Zhu   —          315             315  

   630    —    —    2,642    —    —    50    3,322  

Total  $ 630   $ 1,425   $ 4,916   $ 12,642   $ 143   $ 3,852   $ 50   $ 23,658  

 

 

*: Total remuneration may not add due to rounding. 

 

(a) The amounts represent the grant date fair value of the share-based awards, including SARs, RSUs, and PSUs, granted to chief 

executive and employee director in the applicable year, and not the expense recognized during the applicable reporting year. 

The Company recognizes compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period based on their grant date fair 

value and, if applicable, estimated payout when performance conditions are probable of being achieved. The amounts expensed 

as share-based compensation are impacted by the estimated payout, which may change in accordance with the estimated and 
actual achievement of the underlying performance goals during the service period. Together with share-based awards granted 

in prior years, total share-based compensation expenses recognized were $11 million, $9 million and $15 million for the years 

ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the amount recognized as 

share-based compensation expense included an increase recognized in relation to Partner PSU awards granted in 2020 and 

annual PSU awards granted in 2021 to the chief executive and employee director. Such PSU awards vested as of December 

31, 2023, with the actual payout higher than the past estimates used to determine the expense during the service period. See 

Note 2 and Note 12 for additional information. 

(b) The pension scheme contribution reported for the employee director represents retirement benefits that are contributed by the 

Company under relevant retirement scheme, with further details set out in Note 11. 

(c) The amounts primarily represent other benefits and allowance provided by the Company, including education, housing cost, 

home leave reimbursement and transportation allowance. During the years ended December 31, 2025 and 2023, they also 
included legacy tax reimbursement arrangements entered into with the Company’s former parent, which provide for the 

reimbursement of taxes incurred with respect to the gains realized upon exercise of share-based awards granted before 2018.  

These legacy tax reimbursement arrangements do not represent any new benefits but rather the settlement of existing 

contractual agreements that the Company is required to satisfy. As of the end of 2025, Ms. Wat had exercised all awards 

subject to the legacy tax reimbursement arrangements. 

(d) Mr. Aiken was first elected to the Board at the 2024 annual meeting of stockholders. 

(e) Ms. Durham was first appointed as a director by the Board in August 2024 and received a prorated director annual retainer for 

2024. 

(f) Ms. Ge was first elected to the Board at the 2025 annual meeting of stockholders. 

(g) Mr. Wei was first appointed as a director by the Board in August 2025 and received a prorated director annual retainer for 

2025. 
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(h) Mr. Bassi did not stand for re-election at the 2025 annual meeting of stockholders. While Mr. Bassi served as a director before 

May in 2025, he did not receive any compensation in 2025 with respect to such service, as his 2024 equity grant, which was 

fully recognized in 2024 upon grant, represented compensation for his service until May 2025. On June 19, 2025, Mr. Bassi 

entered into a senior advisor service contract with the Company, pursuant to which Mr. Bassi will provide governance and 

Board advisory services to the Board from June 1, 2025 to May 31, 2026, with a monthly retainer of $23,100. Mr. Bassi also 
received an additional award in the amount of $50,000 for his contribution to a project in 2022 at the request of the Board, of 

which 50% was paid in cash and 50% was paid in stock in June 2023. 

 

Except as mentioned above, there was no other remuneration payable to directors during the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 

and 2023. 

 

Note 21 – Five Highest Paid Individuals 

 

The five individuals whose emoluments are the highest in the Company included one chief executive whose emoluments are reflected 

in the analysis shown in Note 20. 

 

Details of the total remuneration for the remaining four highest paid employees, who are not directors of the Company, are as follows 
for the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023: 

 

  2025   2024   2023  

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind  $ 3   $ 3   $ 3  

Performance related bonuses   5    1    4  

Share-based awards(a)   5    6    6  

Pension scheme contributions   —    —    —  

Total Remuneration*  $ 13   $ 10   $ 14  

 

*Total remuneration may not add due to rounding. 

 

(a) The amounts represent the grant date fair value of the share-based awards, including SARs, RSUs, and PSUs, granted to 

executives and employees in the applicable year, and not the expense recognized during the applicable reporting year. The 

Company recognizes share-based awards to employees as compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the service period 

based on their fair value on the date of grant and, if applicable, estimated payout based on the probability of the performance 

conditions being achieved. The amounts expensed as share-based compensation are impacted by the estimated payout, which 

may change in accordance with the estimated and actual achievement of the underlying performance goals during the service 
period. Together with share-based awards granted in prior years, total share-based compensation expenses recognized for 

remaining four highest paid employees were $5 million, $4 million and $11 million for the years ended December 31, 2025, 

2024 and 2023, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the amount recognized as share-based compensation 

expense included an increase recognized in relation to Partner PSU awards granted in 2020 and annual PSU awards granted 

in 2021. Such PSU awards vested as of December 31, 2023 with higher actual results as compared to the past estimates used 

to determine the expense during the service period. See Note 2 and Note 12 for additional information. 

 

The number of highest paid non-director employees whose total remuneration fell within the following bands, is as follows: 

 

  2025   2024   2023  

HK$ 13,000,001 to HK$ 13,500,000   —    1    —  

HK$ 16,000,001 to HK$ 16,500,000   —    1    —  

HK$ 17,500,001 to HK$ 18,000,000   1    —    —  

HK$ 19,500,001 to HK$ 20,000,000   —    1    —  

HK$ 21,000,001 to HK$ 21,500,000   —    —    1  

HK$ 23,500,001 to HK$ 24,000,000   1    —    2  

HK$ 26,000,001 to HK$ 26,500,000   1    —    —  

HK$ 30,500,001 to HK$ 31,000,000   —    1    —  

HK$ 32,000,001 to HK$ 32,500,000   1    —    —  

HK$ 37,500,001 to HK$ 38,000,000   —    —    1  

   4    4    4  
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Note 22 – Reconciliation between U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards 

 

The Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP, which differ in certain respects from International Financial Reporting 

Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IFRS Accounting Standards”). The effects of material differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS  

Accounting Standards are as follows: 

 
(i) Reconciliation of Consolidated Statements of Income: 

 

  For the year ended December 31, 2025  

     Adjustments     

  

Amounts as 

Reported 

under 

U.S. GAAP   Lease(a)  

Share-based 

Compensation(b)  

Deferred Taxes on 

Share-based 

Compensation(c)  

Long-lived 

Assets 

Impairment(d)  

Redeemable 

Noncontrolling 

Interest(e)   

Amounts  

under IFRS 

Accounting 

Standards  

Revenues                  

Franchise fees and income  $ 104   $ (2 )          $ 102  

Other revenues   152    (1 )           151  

Total revenues   11,797    (3 )  —   —   —   —    11,794  

Costs and Expenses, Net                  

Company restaurants                  

Payroll and employee benefits   2,987      —          2,987  

Occupancy and other operating expenses   2,794    (80 )      (2 )     2,712  

Company restaurant expenses   9,236    (80 )  —   —   (2 )  —    9,154  

General and administrative expenses   581    (2 )  (2 )         577  

Franchise expenses   41    (3 )           38  

Other operating costs and expenses   132    (1 )           131  

Closures and impairment expenses, net   37    (5 )      1      33  

Total costs and expenses, net   10,507    (91 )  (2 )  —   (1 )  —    10,413  

Operating Profit   1,290    88   2   —   1   —    1,381  

Interest income (expense), net   92    (93 )        2    1  

Income Before Income Taxes and Equity in  

   Net Earnings (Losses) from 

   Equity Method Investments   1,358    (5 )  2   —   1   2    1,358  

Income tax provision   (369 )   1     (2 )  —      (370 ) 

Net income – including noncontrolling interests   1,004    (4 )  2   (2 )  1   2    1,003  

Net income – noncontrolling interests   75    —       —      75  

Net Income – Yum China Holdings, Inc.  $ 929   $ (4 ) $ 2  $ (2 ) $ 1  $ 2   $ 928  
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  For the year ended December 31, 2024  

     Adjustments     

  

Amounts as 

Reported 

under 

U.S. GAAP   Lease(a)  

Share-based 

Compensation(b)  

Deferred Taxes on 

Share-based 

Compensation(c)  

Long-lived 

Assets 

Impairment(d)   

Amounts  

under IFRS 

Accounting 

Standards  

Revenues                

Franchise fees and income  $ 94   $ (3 )        $ 91  

Other revenues   138    (1 )         137  

Total revenues   11,303    (4 )  —   —   —    11,299  

Costs and Expenses, Net                

Company restaurants                

Payroll and employee benefits   2,787      —        2,787  

Occupancy and other operating expenses   2,798    (81 )      (3 )   2,714  

Company restaurant expenses   8,972    (81 )  —   —   (3 )   8,888  

General and administrative expenses   568    (6 )  (2 )       560  

Franchise expenses   37    (4 )         33  

Other operating costs and expenses   122    (1 )         121  

Closures and impairment expenses, net   39    (5 )      1    35  

Total costs and expenses, net   10,141    (97 )  (2 )  —   (2 )   10,040  

Operating Profit   1,162    93   2   —   2    1,259  

Interest income (expense), net   129    (107 )         22  

Income Before Income Taxes and Equity in  

   Net Earnings (Losses) from 

   Equity Method Investments   1,331    (14 )  2   —   2    1,321  

Income tax provision   (356 )   4     (5 )  —    (357 ) 

Net income – including noncontrolling interests   980    (10 )  2   (5 )  2    969  

Net income – noncontrolling interests   69    (1 )      —    68  

Net Income – Yum China Holdings, Inc.  $ 911   $ (9 ) $ 2  $ (5 ) $ 2   $ 901  
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  For the year ended December 31, 2023  

     Adjustments     

  

Amounts as 

Reported 

under 

U.S. GAAP   Lease(a)  

Share-based 

Compensation(b)  

Deferred Taxes on 

Share-based 

Compensation(c)  

Long-lived 

Assets 

Impairment(d)   

Amounts  

under IFRS 

Accounting 

Standards  

Revenues                

Franchise fees and income  $ 89   $ (4 )        $ 85  

Other revenues   126    (1 )         125  

Total revenues   10,978    (5 )  —   —   —    10,973  

Costs and Expenses, Net                

Company restaurants                

Payroll and employee benefits   2,725      —        2,725  

Occupancy and other operating expenses   2,752    (75 )      (6 )   2,671  

Company restaurant expenses   8,701    (75 )  —   —   (6 )   8,620  

General and administrative expenses   638    (3 )  3        638  

Franchise expenses   36    (4 )         32  

Other operating costs and expenses   112    (1 )         111  

Closures and impairment expenses, net   29    1       4    34  

Total costs and expenses, net   9,872    (82 )  3   —   (2 )   9,791  

Operating Profit   1,106    77   (3 )  —   2    1,182  

Interest income (expense), net   169    (112 )         57  

Income Before Income Taxes and Equity in  

   Net Earnings (Losses) from 

   Equity Method Investments   1,226    (35 )  (3 )  —   2    1,190  

Income tax provision   (329 )   8     (6 )  —    (327 ) 

Net income – including noncontrolling interests   901    (27 )  (3 )  (6 )  2    867  

Net income – noncontrolling interests   74    (4 )      —    70  

Net Income – Yum China Holdings, Inc.  $ 827   $ (23 ) $ (3 ) $ (6 ) $ 2   $ 797  
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(ii) Reconciliation of Consolidated Balance Sheets 

 

  As of December 31, 2025  

     Adjustments     

  

Amounts as 

Reported 

under 

U.S. GAAP   Lease(a)  

Share-based 

Compensation(b)  

Deferred Taxes 

on Share-based 

Compensation(c)  

Long-lived 

Assets 

Impairment(d)  

Redeemable 

Noncontrolling 

Interest(e)   

Amounts  

under 

IFRS 

Accounting 

Standards  

Current Assets                  

Accounts receivable, net  $ 95   $ 2           $ 97  

Total Current Assets   2,357    2   —   —   —   —    2,359  

Property, plant and equipment, net   2,543    (10 )      (6 )     2,527  

Operating lease right-of-use assets   2,189    (102 )           2,087  

Deferred income tax assets   156        (1 )  2      157  

Other assets   362    6            368  

Total Assets   10,783    (104 )  —   (1 )  (4 )  —    10,674  

                  

Current Liabilities                  

Accounts payable and other current liabilities   2,127    —            2,127  

Total Current Liabilities   2,246    —   —   —   —      2,246  

Non-current operating and finance lease liabilities   1,874    —            1,874  

Deferred income tax liabilities   406    (24 )           382  

Total Liabilities   4,684    (24 )  —   —   —      4,660  

                  

Equity                  

Additional paid-in capital   3,796      2   17     (2 )   3,813  

Retained earnings   1,764    (63 )  (2 )  (18 )  (4 )  2    1,679  

Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (157 )   (4 )      —      (161 ) 

Total Yum China Holdings, Inc. Stockholders' Equity   5,379    (67 )  —   (1 )  (4 )  —    5,307  

Noncontrolling interests   720    (13 )      —      707  

Total Equity   6,099    (80 )  —   (1 )  (4 )  —    6,014  

Total Liabilities, Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest 

   and Equity  $ 10,783   $ (104 ) $ —  $ (1 ) $ (4 ) $ —   $ 10,674  

 



  

58 

  As of December 31, 2024  

     Adjustments     

  

Amounts as 

Reported 

under 

U.S. GAAP   Lease(a)  

Share-based 

Compensation(b)  

Deferred Taxes 

on Share-based 

Compensation(c)  

Long-lived 

Assets 

Impairment(d)  

Redeemable 

Noncontrolling 

Interest(e)   

Amounts  

under IFRS 

Accounting 

Standards  

Current Assets                  

Accounts receivable, net  $ 79   $ 3           $ 82  

Total Current Assets   2,694    3   —   —   —   —    2,697  

Property, plant and equipment, net   2,407    (10 )      (8 )     2,389  

Operating lease right-of-use assets   2,146    (95 )           2,051  

Deferred income tax assets   138        (1 )  2      139  

Other assets   256    8            264  

Total Assets   11,121    (94 )  —   (1 )  (6 )  —    11,020  

                  

Current Liabilities                  

Accounts payable and other current liabilities   2,080    1            2,081  

Total Current Liabilities   2,283    1   —   —   —   —    2,284  

Non-current operating and finance lease liabilities   1,865    —            1,865  

Deferred income tax liabilities   389    (23 )           366  

Other liabilities   157            13    170  

Total Liabilities   4,694    (22 )  —   —   —   13    4,685  

                  

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest   13            (13 )   —  

                  

Equity                  

Additional paid-in capital   4,028      4   15        4,047  

Retained earnings   2,089    (59 )  (4 )  (16 )  (5 )     2,005  

Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (341 )   1       —      (340 ) 

Total Yum China Holdings, Inc. Stockholders' Equity   5,728    (58 )  —   (1 )  (5 )  —    5,664  

Noncontrolling interests   686    (14 )      (1 )     671  

Total Equity   6,414    (72 )  —   (1 )  (6 )  —    6,335  

Total Liabilities, Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest 

   and Equity  $ 11,121   $ (94 ) $ —  $ (1 ) $ (6 ) $ —   $ 11,020  
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Notes:  

 

(a) Lease 

 

Lease Amortization 

 
Under U.S. GAAP, there is a dual-classification lease accounting model for lessees: finance leases and operating leases. For 

operating leases, unless the right-of-use asset has been impaired, the amortization of right-of-use assets and the interest 

expense of lease liabilities are recorded together as a single lease cost on a straight-line basis over the remaining lease term.  

 

Under IFRS Accounting Standards, all leases are classified as finance leases, where right-of-use assets are amortized on a 

straight-line basis and recorded in Costs and Expenses, Net above Operating profit, while interest expense of lease liabilities 

are recorded in Interest income (expense), net under the effective interest method, which results in higher expenses at the 

beginning of the lease term and lower expenses near the end of the lease term. 

 

Sublease classification 

 

Under U.S. GAAP, an intermediate lessor classifies a sub-lease as a finance lease or as an operating lease by reference to the 
underlying asset. Under IFRS Accounting Standards sub-lease classification is determined by reference to the right-of-use 

asset arising from the head lease, which may more frequently result in finance lease classification under IFRS Accounting 

Standards.  

 

An intermediate lessor in an operating lease continues to amortize the underlying right-of-use asset, and records lease income 

on a straight-line basis over the lease term. An intermediate lessor in a finance lease derecognizes the leased asset and records 

a net investment in the lease at lease commencement, in addition to any selling profit or loss. The lessor records lease income 

on its net investment in lease under the effective interest method. 

 

(b) Share-based compensation 

 
Share-based compensation with graded vesting feature 

 

Under U.S. GAAP, the Company has elected to recognize compensation expense over the service period on a straight-line 

basis for all employee equity awards with a graded vesting schedule. Under IFRS Accounting Standards, share-based 

compensation with graded vesting feature is recognized based on each tranche, which results in an accelerated expense 

recognition. 

 

Share-based compensation with IPO condition 

 

The Company’s Lavazza joint venture granted equity awards to key employees vested and exercisable upon the 

consummation of a qualified successful IPO. Under U.S. GAAP, a performance condition that may be met after the requisite 

service period is a vesting condition and compensation cost is recognized only if IPO becomes probable of being achieved. 
Under IFRS Accounting Standards, performance condition that may be met after the requisite service period is a non-vesting 

condition and reflected in the measurement of the grant date fair value of an award, which may result in earlier expense 

recognition. 

 

(c) Deferred taxes on share-based compensation 

 

Under U.S. GAAP, deferred taxes are calculated based on the cumulative share-based compensation expense recognized in 

the financial statements, and it required all excess tax benefits and tax deficiencies to be recorded in the Consolidated 

Statement of Income in the period in which tax deduction arises. 

 

Under IFRS Accounting Standards, deferred tax asset is recorded based on estimate of the future tax deduction in accordance 
with the stock price at the end of each reporting period. If the estimated future tax deduction exceeds cumulative compensation 

cost for an individual award, deferred tax based on the excess is credited to shareholders’ equity. If the estimated future tax 

deduction is less than or equal to cumulative compensation cost for an individual award, deferred taxes are recorded in 

Consolidated Statement of Income. 
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(d) Long-lived assets impairment 

 

Under U.S. GAAP, two-step approach is used in the measurement and recognition of impairment loss of long-lived assets of 

our restaurants (primarily PP&E and ROU). During step one recoverability test, the carrying amount is first compared with 

the undiscounted cash flows, using entity specific assumptions. During step two measurement test, if the carrying amount is 

higher than the undiscounted cash flows, an impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying value and 
fair value.  

 

Under IFRS Accounting Standards, only one-step approach is used in impairment testing. The carrying amount is compared 

with the recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal or the asset’s value in use based on the 

net present value of future cash flows. Therefore, the difference in impairment assessment results in difference in impairment 

loss under IFRS Accounting Standards. In addition, the lease accounting difference leads to difference in ROU carrying 

amounts and thus results in difference in impairment loss, which is included in Note (a) together with all other lease related 

GAAP differences.  

 

(e) Redeemable non-controlling interest 

 

Under U.S. GAAP, when the noncontrolling interest is redeemable at the option of the noncontrolling shareholder, or 
contingently redeemable upon the occurrence of a conditional event that is not solely within the control of the Company, the 

noncontrolling interest is separately classified as mezzanine equity which is neither liability nor equity. The redeemable non-

controlling interest is initially recorded at fair value and subsequently measured at the higher of initial fair value, increased 

or decreased for the non-controlling interest’s share of net income or loss, or the redemption value of the non-controlling 

interest. Acquisition of the redeemable noncontrolling interest is accounted for as an equity transaction, with the difference 

between the carrying amount of the redeemable noncontrolling interest and purchase consideration recorded in Additional 

paid-in capital in our Consolidated Statement of Equity. 

  

Under IFRS Accounting Standards, the redeemable noncontrolling interest is presented as liability, as the Company does not 

have the unconditional right to avoid delivering cash or another financial asset, and it is measured at fair value subsequently. 

Acquisition of the redeemable noncontrolling interest is accounted for as derecognition of financial liabilities, with the 
difference between the carrying amount of the redeemable noncontrolling interest and purchase consideration recorded in 

Interest income (expense) in the Consolidated Statement of Income. 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. 

 

All Note references in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) refer to the Notes to the Consolidated 

Financial Statements included in this announcement. Tabular amounts are displayed in millions of U.S. dollars except per 

share and unit count amounts, or as otherwise specifically identified. Percentages may not recompute due to rounding. 

Throughout this announcement when we refer to the “financial statements,” we are referring to the “Consolidated Financial 

Statements,” unless the context indicates otherwise. 

 

Overview 

 

 

Yum China Holdings, Inc. is the largest restaurant company in China in terms of 2025 system sales, with $11.8 billion of 

revenues in 2025 and 18,101 restaurants as of year-end 2025. Our growing restaurant network consists of our flagship KFC 

and Pizza Hut brands, as well as emerging brands such as Lavazza, Huang Ji Huang, Little Sheep and Taco Bell. We have 

the exclusive right to operate and sublicense the KFC, Pizza Hut and, subject to the agreed terms, Taco Bell brands in China 

(excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan) and own the intellectual property of the Little Sheep and Huang Ji Huang 

concepts outright. We also established a joint venture with Lavazza Group, the world-renowned family-owned Italian coffee 

company, to explore and develop the Lavazza coffee concept in China. KFC was the first major global restaurant brand to 

enter China in 1987. With more than three decades of operations, we have developed extensive operating experience in the 

China market. We have since grown to become the largest restaurant company in China in terms of 2025 system sales, with 
18,101 restaurants covering over 2,500 cities primarily in China as of December 31, 2025. We believe that there are significant 

opportunities to further expand within China, and we intend to focus our efforts on increasing our geographic footprint in 

both existing and new cities. 

 

KFC is the leading and the largest quick-service restaurant (“QSR”) brand in China in terms of system sales. As of December 

31, 2025, KFC operated 12,997 restaurants in over 2,500 cities across China.  

 

Pizza Hut is the leading and the largest casual dining restaurant (“CDR”) brand in China in terms of system sales and number 

of restaurants. As of December 31, 2025, Pizza Hut operated 4,168 restaurants in over 1,000 cities.  

 

We have two reportable segments: KFC and Pizza Hut. Our non-reportable operating segments, including the operations of 

Lavazza, Huang Ji Huang, Little Sheep, Taco Bell and our delivery operating segment, and for 2024, also including e-

commerce segment, are combined and referred to as All Other Segments, as these operating segments are insignificant both 

individually and in the aggregate. Additional details on our reportable operating segments are included in Note 15. 

 

We intend for this MD&A to provide the reader with information that will assist in understanding our results of operations, 

including metrics that management uses to assess the Company’s performance. Throughout this MD&A, we discuss the 

following performance metrics: 

  

 Certain performance metrics and non-GAAP measures are presented excluding the impact of foreign currency 

translation (“F/X”). These amounts are derived by translating current year results at prior year average exchange 

rates. We believe the elimination of the F/X impact provides better year-to-year comparability without the 

distortion of foreign currency fluctuations. 
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 System sales growth reflects the results of all restaurants regardless of ownership, including Company-owned 

and franchise restaurants, except for sales from non-Company-owned restaurants for which we do not receive a 

sales-based royalty. Sales of franchise restaurants typically generate ongoing franchise fees for the Company at 

an average rate of approximately 6% of system sales. Franchise restaurant sales are not included in Company 

sales in the Consolidated Statements of Income; however, the franchise fees are included in the Company’s 

revenues. We believe system sales growth is useful to investors as a significant indicator of the overall strength 
of our business as it incorporates all of our revenue drivers, Company and franchise same-store sales as well as 

net unit growth. 

  

 Effective January 1, 2018, the Company revised its definition of same-store sales growth to represent the 

estimated percentage change in sales of food of all restaurants in the Company system that have been open prior 

to the first day of our prior fiscal year, excluding the period during which stores are temporarily closed. We refer 

to these as our “base” stores. Previously, same-store sales growth represented the estimated percentage change 

in sales of all restaurants in the Company system that have been open for one year or more, including stores 

temporarily closed, and the base stores changed on a rolling basis from month to month. This revision was made 

to align with how management measures performance internally and focuses on trends of a more stable base of 

stores. 

 Company sales represent revenues from Company-owned restaurants. Within the analysis of Company sales, 

Total revenue and Restaurant profit, store portfolio actions represent the net impact from new-unit openings, 

acquisitions, refranchising and store closures. Net new unit contribution represents net revenue growth primarily 

from store portfolio actions excluding temporary store closures. Other primarily represents the impact of same-

store sales as well as the impact of changes in restaurant operating costs such as inflation/deflation. 

  

Results of Operations 

 

Summary 

 

All comparisons within this summary are versus the same period a year ago.   

 

In 2025, the Company’s total revenues increased 4%, including or excluding the impact of F/X, mainly attributable to 3% of 

net new unit contribution and 1% same-store sales growth. Operating profit increased 11%, including or excluding the impact 

of F/X, primarily driven by the increase in Total revenues, favorable commodity prices and efficiency improvement from 

streamlined operations, partially offset by increased delivery cost associated with higher delivery sales mix in the current 

year and value-for-money offerings. Net income for 2025 increased 2%, including or excluding the impact of F/X, mainly 

due to the increase in Operating profit, partially offset by the decrease in fair value of our investment in Meituan, less interest 

income due to lower investment balance and interest rates and higher income tax expenses in line with the increase in pre-

tax income. 

 

2025 financial highlights are below: 

 

         %/ppts Change   

 2025   2024   Reported   Ex F/X   

System Sales Growth(a) (%)  4    5   NM   NM   

Same-Store Sales Growth (Decline)(a) (%)  1    (3 )  NM   NM   

Operating Profit  1,290    1,162    +11    +11   

Adjusted Operating Profit(b)  1,290    1,162    +11    +11   

Core Operating Profit(b)  1,292    1,162   NM    +11   

OP Margin(c) (%)  10.9    10.3    +0.6    +0.7   

Core OP Margin(b) (%)  11.0    10.3   NM    +0.7   

Net Income  929    911    +2    +2   

Adjusted Net Income(b)  929    911    +2    +2   

Diluted Earnings Per Common Share  2.51    2.33    +8    +8   

Adjusted Diluted Earnings Per Common Share(b)  2.51    2.33    +8    +8   

 

NM refers to not meaningful. 
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(a) System Sales and Same-Store Sales growth percentages as shown in 2025 financial highlights exclude the impact of 

F/X. Effective January 1, 2018, temporary store closures are normalized in the same-store sales calculation by 

excluding the period during which stores are temporarily closed. 

 

(b) See “Non-GAAP Measures” below for definitions and reconciliations of the most directly comparable GAAP financial 
measures to the non-GAAP measures. 

 

(c) OP margin is defined as Operating Profit divided by Total revenues. 

 

The Consolidated Results of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2025 and 2024 and other data are presented below: 

 

        % B/(W)(a)  

  2025   2024   Reported  Ex F/X  

Company sales  $ 11,039   $ 10,651    4     4    

Franchise fees and income   104    94    10     10    

Revenues from transactions with franchisees   502    420    20     19    

Other revenues   152    138    9     9    

Total revenues  $ 11,797   $ 11,303    4     4    

Company restaurant expenses  $ 9,236   $ 8,972    (3 )    (3 )   

Operating Profit  $ 1,290   $ 1,162    11     11    

OP Margin (%)   10.9 %   10.3 %   0.6  ppts.   0.7  ppts.  

Interest income, net   92    129    (29 )    (29 )   

Investment (loss) gain   (24 )   40   NM    NM    

Income tax provision   (369 )   (356 )   (4 )    (4 )   

Equity in net earnings (losses) from  

   equity method investments   15    5    198     196    

Net Income – including  

    noncontrolling interests   1,004    980    2     3    

Net income – noncontrolling interests   75    69    (7 )    (7 )   

Net Income – Yum China Holdings, Inc.  $ 929   $ 911    2     2    

Diluted Earnings Per Common Share  $ 2.51   $ 2.33    8     8    

Effective tax rate   27.2 %   26.7 %          

Supplementary information 

 – Non-GAAP Measures(b)                

Restaurant profit  $ 1,803   $ 1,679           

Restaurant margin (%)   16.3 %   15.7 %          

Adjusted Operating Profit  $ 1,290   $ 1,162           

Core Operating Profit  $ 1,292   $ 1,162           

Core OP Margin (%)   11.0 %   10.3 %          

Adjusted Net Income – Yum China Holdings, Inc.  $ 929   $ 911           

Adjusted Diluted Earnings Per Common Share  $ 2.51   $ 2.33           

Adjusted Effective Tax Rate   27.2 %   26.7 %          

Adjusted EBITDA  $ 1,780   $ 1,687           

 

 

(a) Represents year-over-year change in percentage.  

 

(b) See “Non-GAAP Measures” below for definitions and reconciliations of the most directly comparable GAAP financial 

measures to the non-GAAP measures. 
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Performance Metrics 

 

      2025   

      % Change   

System Sales Growth       5 %  

System Sales Growth, excluding F/X       4 %  

Same-Store Sales Growth       1 %  

 

Unit Count  2025   2024   % Increase    

Company-owned   15,060    13,887    8                 

Franchisees   3,041    2,508    21    

   18,101    16,395    10    

 

2026 Outlook  

 

 The Company targets total stores of over 20,000, or more than 1,900 net new stores, and capital expenditures in 

the range of approximately $600 million to $700 million. 

 The Company anticipates 40-50% franchise mix of net new stores for both KFC and Pizza Hut. 

 The Company plans to return $1.5 billion to shareholders. 

 

Non-GAAP Measures 

 

In addition to the results provided in accordance with GAAP throughout this MD&A, the Company provides the following 

non-GAAP measures: 

 Measures adjusted for Special Items, which include Adjusted Operating Profit, Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted 

Earnings Per Common Share (“EPS”), Adjusted Effective Tax Rate and Adjusted EBITDA;  

 Company Restaurant Profit (“Restaurant profit”) and Restaurant margin;  

 Core Operating Profit and Core OP margin, which exclude Special Items, and further adjusted for Items Affecting 

Comparability and the impact of F/X; 

 

These non-GAAP measures are not intended to replace the presentation of our financial results in accordance with 

GAAP.  Rather, the Company believes that the presentation of these non-GAAP measures provides additional information to 

investors to facilitate the comparison of past and present results, excluding those items that the Company does not believe 

are indicative of our core operations.  

 

With respect to non-GAAP measures adjusted for Special Items, the Company excludes impact from Special Items for the 

purpose of evaluating performance internally and uses them as factors in determining compensation for certain employees. 

Special Items are not included in any of our segment results.  
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Adjusted EBITDA is defined as net income including noncontrolling interests adjusted for equity in net earnings (losses) 

from equity method investments, income tax, interest income, net, investment gain or loss, depreciation and amortization, 

store impairment charges, and Special Items. Store impairment charges included as an adjustment item in Adjusted EBITDA 

primarily resulted from our semi-annual impairment evaluation of long-lived assets of individual restaurants, and additional 

impairment evaluation whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the assets may not be 

recoverable. If these restaurant-level assets were not impaired, depreciation of the assets would have been recorded and 

included in EBITDA. Therefore, store impairment charges were a non-cash item similar to depreciation and amortization of 

our long-lived assets of restaurants. The Company believes that investors and analysts may find it useful in measuring 

operating performance without regard to such non-cash items.  

 

Restaurant profit is defined as Company sales less expenses incurred directly by our Company-owned restaurants in 

generating Company sales, including cost of food and paper, restaurant-level payroll and employee benefits, rent, depreciation 

and amortization of restaurant-level assets, advertising expenses, and other operating expenses. Company restaurant margin 

percentage is defined as Restaurant profit divided by Company sales. We also use Restaurant profit and Restaurant margin 

for the purpose of internally evaluating the performance of our Company-owned restaurants and we believe they provide 

useful information to investors as to the profitability of our Company-owned restaurants.  

 

Core Operating Profit is defined as Operating Profit adjusted for Special Items, and further excluding Items Affecting 

Comparability and the impact of F/X. We consider quantitative and qualitative factors in assessing whether to adjust for the 

impact of items that may be significant or that could affect an understanding of our ongoing financial and business 

performance or trends. Items such as charges, gains and accounting changes, which are viewed by management as 

significantly impacting the current period or the comparable period, due to changes in policy or other external factors, or non-

cash items pertaining to underlying activities that are different from or unrelated to our core operations, are generally 

considered “Items Affecting Comparability.” Examples of Items Affecting Comparability include, but are not limited to: 

temporary relief from landlords and government agencies; VAT deductions due to tax policy changes; and amortization of 

reacquired franchise rights recognized upon acquisitions. We believe presenting Core Operating Profit provides additional 

information to further enhance comparability of our operating results and we use this measure for purposes of evaluating the 

performance of our core operations. Core OP margin is defined as Core Operating Profit divided by Total revenues, excluding 

the impact of F/X. 

 

The following table sets forth the reconciliations of the most directly comparable GAAP financial measures to the non-GAAP 

financial measures: 

  

   

  2025   2024   

Reconciliation of Operating Profit to Adjusted Operating Profit        

Operating Profit  $ 1,290   $ 1,162   

Special Items, Operating Profit   —    —   

Adjusted Operating Profit  $ 1,290   $ 1,162   

Reconciliation of Net Income to Adjusted Net Income        

Net Income – Yum China Holdings, Inc.  $ 929   $ 911   

Special Items, Net Income – Yum China Holdings, Inc.   —    —   

Adjusted Net Income – Yum China Holdings, Inc.  $ 929   $ 911   

Reconciliation of EPS to Adjusted EPS        

Basic Earnings Per Common Share  $ 2.52   $ 2.34   

Special Items, Basic Earnings Per Common Share   —    —   

Adjusted Basic Earnings Per Common Share  $ 2.52   $ 2.34   

Diluted Earnings Per Common Share  $ 2.51   $ 2.33   
Special Items, Diluted Earnings Per Common Share   —    —   

Adjusted Diluted Earnings Per Common Share  $ 2.51   $ 2.33   

Reconciliation of Effective Tax Rate to Adjusted Effective Tax Rate        

Effective tax rate (See Note 14)   27.2 %   26.7 %  

Impact on effective tax rate as a result of Special Items   —    —   

Adjusted effective tax rate   27.2 %   26.7 %  
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Net income, along with the reconciliation to Adjusted EBITDA, is presented below: 

 

  2025   2024   

        

Net Income – Yum China Holdings, Inc.  $ 929   $ 911   

Net income – noncontrolling interests   75    69   

Equity in net (earnings) losses from  

   equity method investments   (15 )   (5 )  

Income tax provision   369    356   

Interest income, net   (92 )   (129 )  

Investment loss (gain)   24    (40 )  

Operating Profit   1,290    1,162   

Special Items, Operating Profit   —    —   

Adjusted Operating Profit   1,290    1,162   

Depreciation and amortization   448    476   

Store impairment charges   42    49   

Adjusted EBITDA  $ 1,780   $ 1,687   

 

Reconciliation of GAAP Operating Profit to Restaurant Profit is as follows: 

 

  2025  

  KFC   

Pizza 

Hut   

All Other 

Segments   

Corporate 

and 

Unallocated   Elimination   Total  

GAAP Operating Profit (Loss)  $ 1,285   $ 183   $ (1 )  $ (177 )  $ —   $ 1,290  

Less:                   

Franchise fees and income   81    10    13    —    —    104  

Revenues from transactions with 
franchisees   69    7    79    347    —    502  

Other revenues   4    25    802    71    (750 )   152  

Add:                   

General and administrative expenses   260    110    30    181    —    581  

Franchise expenses   36    4    1    —    —    41  

Expenses for transactions with franchisees   58    6    73    344    —    481  

Other operating costs and expenses   3    23    783    71    (748 )   132  

Closures and impairment expenses, net   26    8    3    —    —    37  

Other income, net   —    —    —    (1 )   —    (1 ) 

Restaurant profit (loss)  $ 1,514   $ 292   $ (5 )  $ —   $ 2   $ 1,803  

Company sales   8,717    2,282    40    —    —    11,039  

Restaurant margin (%)   17.4 %   12.8 %   (13.7 )%  N/A   N/A    16.3 % 
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  2024  

  KFC   

Pizza 

Hut   

All Other 

Segments   

Corporate 

and 

Unallocated   Elimination   Total  

GAAP Operating Profit (Loss)  $ 1,192   $ 153   $ (15 )  $ (168 )  $ —   $ 1,162  

Less:                   

Franchise fees and income   69    8    17    —    —    94  

Revenues from transactions with franchisees   55    5    71    289    —    420  

Other revenues   10    24    648    64    (608 )   138  

Add:                   

General and administrative expenses   248    110    37    173    —    568  

Franchise expenses   32    4    1    —    —    37  

Expenses for transactions with franchisees   49    4    65    286    —    404  

Other operating costs and expenses   8    22    635    63    (606 )   122  

Closures and impairment expenses, net   19    12    8    —    —    39  

Other income, net   —    —    —    (1 )   —    (1 ) 

Restaurant profit (loss)  $ 1,414   $ 268   $ (5 )  $ —   $ 2   $ 1,679  

Company sales   8,375    2,223    53    —    —    10,651  

Restaurant margin (%)   16.9 %   12.0 %   (12.1 )%  N/A   N/A    15.7 % 

 

Reconciliation of GAAP Operating Profit to Core Operating Profit is as follows: 

 

       % Change 

 2025   2024   B/(W) 

Operating Profit $ 1,290   $ 1,162    11   

Special Items, Operating Profit  —    —      

Adjusted Operating Profit $ 1,290   $ 1,162    11   

Items Affecting Comparability          

F/X impact  2    —      

Core Operating Profit $ 1,292   $ 1,162    11   

Total revenues  11,797    11,303    4   

F/X impact  (15 )   —      

Total revenues, excluding the impact of F/X $ 11,782   $ 11,303    4   

Core OP margin (%)  11.0 %   10.3 %   0.7  ppts. 

 

Reconciliation of GAAP Operating Profit to Core Operating Profit by segment is as follows: 
 

  2025  

  KFC   Pizza Hut   

All Other 

Segments   

Corporate 

and 

Unallocated   Elimination   Total  

GAAP Operating Profit (Loss)  $ 1,285   $ 183   $ (1 )  $ (177 )  $ —   $ 1,290  

Special Items, Operating Profit   —    —    —    —    —    —  

Adjusted Operating Profit (Loss)  $ 1,285   $ 183   $ (1 )  $ (177 )  $ —   $ 1,290  

Items Affecting Comparability   —    —    —    —    —    —  

F/X impact   —    1    —    1    —    2  

Core Operating Profit (Loss)  $ 1,285   $ 184   $ (1 )  $ (176 )  $ —   $ 1,292  
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  2024  

  KFC   Pizza Hut   

All Other 

Segments   

Corporate 

and 

Unallocated   Elimination   Total  

GAAP Operating Profit (Loss)  $ 1,192   $ 153   $ (15 )  $ (168 )  $ —   $ 1,162  

Special Items, Operating Profit   —    —    —    —    —    —  

Adjusted Operating Profit (Loss)  $ 1,192   $ 153   $ (15 )  $ (168 )  $ —   $ 1,162  

Items Affecting Comparability   —    —    —    —    —    —  

F/X impact   —    —    —    —    —    —  

Core Operating Profit (Loss)  $ 1,192   $ 153   $ (15 )  $ (168 )  $ —   $ 1,162  

 

Segment Results 

 

KFC 

 

KFC delivered strong performance in 2025 with increases in both total revenues and core operating profit. With flexible store 

models, KFC is expanding through both equity and franchise stores. Franchisees enable us to expand into remote areas, lower-

tier cities and strategic locations previously beyond our reach. KFC continued to focus on innovative products, creating 

abundant value for our customers, updating ingredients and tastes to meet Chinese consumers’ needs, as well as on 

introducing entry price point products. Our side-by-side modules, such as KCOFFEE Cafes and KPRO, have enabled us to 

broaden our addressable market and capture new customer demand. KFC also continued its digital and delivery initiatives to 

enhance customer experience. KFC’s loyalty program members exceeded 550 million at year-end 2025 and contributed 

approximately 61% of system sales at KFC in 2025. Delivery sales accounted for approximately 48% of Company sales at 

KFC in 2025 with store and city coverage of 92% and 98%, respectively, at the end of 2025. 

 

        % B/(W)  

  2025   2024   Reported  Ex F/X  

Company sales  $ 8,717   $ 8,375    4     4    

Franchise fees and income   81    69    16     16    

Revenues from transactions with franchisees   69    55    25     24    

Other revenues   4    10    (62 )    (62 )   

Total revenues  $ 8,871   $ 8,509    4     4    

Company restaurant expenses  $ 7,203   $ 6,961    (3 )    (3 )   

G&A expenses  $ 260   $ 248    (5 )    (4 )   

Franchise expenses  $ 36   $ 32    (11 )    (11 )   

Expenses for transactions with franchisees  $ 58   $ 49    (21 )    (21 )   

Other operating costs and expenses  $ 3   $ 8    69     69    

Closures and impairment expenses, net  $ 26   $ 19    (27 )    (26 )   

Operating Profit  $ 1,285   $ 1,192    8     8    

Core Operating Profit  $ 1,285   $ 1,192   NM     8    

OP margin (%)   14.5 %   14.0 %   0.5  ppts.   0.5  ppts.  

Restaurant profit  $ 1,514   $ 1,414    7     7    

Restaurant margin (%)   17.4 %   16.9 %   0.5  ppts.   0.5  ppts.  
 

  2025   

  % Change   

System Sales Growth   6 %  

System Sales Growth, excluding F/X   5 %  

Same-Store Sales Growth   1 %  

 

Unit Count  2025   2024   % Increase 

Company-owned   11,032    10,187    8   
Franchisees   1,965    1,461    34   

   12,997    11,648    12   
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  2024   New Builds   Closures   Acquired   Refranchised   2025  

Company-owned   10,187    1,177    (329 )   2    (5 )   11,032  

Franchisees   1,461    546    (45 )   (2 )   5    1,965  

Total   11,648    1,723    (374 )   —    —    12,997  

 

Company Sales and Restaurant Profit 

 

The changes in Company sales and Restaurant profit were as follows: 

 

Income (Expense)  2024   

Store Portfolio  

Actions   Other   F/X   2025  

Company sales  $ 8,375   $ 244   $ 87   $ 11   $ 8,717  

Cost of sales   (2,645 )   (80 )   39    (4 )   (2,690 ) 

Cost of labor   (2,146 )   (74 )   (115 )   (3 )   (2,338 ) 

Occupancy and other operating expenses   (2,170 )   (55 )   53    (3 )   (2,175 ) 

Restaurant profit  $ 1,414   $ 35   $ 64   $ 1   $ 1,514  

 

In 2025, the increase in Company sales, excluding the impact of F/X, was primarily driven by net unit growth and same-store 

sales growth. The increase in Restaurant profit, excluding the impact of F/X, was primarily driven by the increase in Company 

sales, favorable commodity prices and efficiency improvement from streamlined operations, partially offset by increased 

rider cost associated with higher delivery sales mix in the current year and value-for-money offerings. 

 

Franchise Fees and Income/Revenues from Transactions with Franchisees 

 

In 2025, the increase in Franchise fees and income and Revenues from transactions with franchisees, excluding the impact of 

F/X, was primarily driven by acceleration of franchise store openings. 

  

G&A Expenses 

  

In 2025, the increase in G&A expenses, excluding the impact of F/X, was primarily driven by higher performance-based 

compensation costs. 

  

Operating Profit 

  

In 2025, the increase in Operating profit, excluding the impact of F/X, was primarily driven by the increase in Restaurant 

profit, partially offset by higher G&A expenses. 
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Pizza Hut 

 

Pizza Hut delivered strong performance in 2025 by accelerating store expansion with healthy returns and expanding 

profitability. We are transforming Pizza Hut into a more mass-market brand by widening price ranges, expanding the menu, 

and introducing new store models like Pizza Hut WOW. During 2025, we continued to focus on investing in value-for-money 

strategy, strengthening digital capabilities, fortifying delivery, expanding into new occasions and consumer segments and 

enhancing our asset portfolio to drive growth. Pizza Hut’s loyalty program members exceeded 210 million at year-end 2025 

and contributed approximately 59% of system sales at Pizza Hut in 2025. Delivery sales accounted for approximately 47% 

of Company sales at Pizza Hut in 2025 with store and city coverage of 96% and 96%, respectively, at the end of 2025. 

 

        % B/(W)  

  2025   2024   Reported  Ex F/X  

Company sales  $ 2,282   $ 2,223    3     3    

Franchise fees and income   10    8    26     26    

Revenues from transactions with franchisees   7    5    50     50    

Other revenues   25    24    2     1    

Total revenues  $ 2,324   $ 2,260    3     3    

Company restaurant expenses  $ 1,990   $ 1,955    (2 )    (2 )   

G&A expenses  $ 110   $ 110    (1 )    (1 )   

Franchise expenses  $ 4   $ 4    (19 )    (19 )   

Expenses for transactions with franchisees  $ 6   $ 4    (35 )    (35 )   

Other operating costs and expenses  $ 23   $ 22    (3 )    (3 )   

Closures and impairment expenses, net  $ 8   $ 12    32     34    

Operating Profit  $ 183   $ 153    19     20    

Core Operating Profit  $ 184   $ 153   NM     20    

OP margin (%)   7.9 %   6.8 %   1.1  ppts.   1.1  ppts.  

Restaurant profit  $ 292   $ 268    9     9    

Restaurant margin (%)   12.8 %   12.0 %   0.8  ppts.   0.8  ppts.  

 

  2025   

  % Change   

System Sales Growth   4 %  

System Sales Growth, excluding F/X   4 %  

Same-Store Sales Growth   1 %  

 

Unit Count  2025   2024   % Increase 

Company-owned   3,830    3,525    9   

Franchisees   338    199    70   

   4,168    3,724    12   

 

  2024   New Builds   Closures   Refranchised   2025  

Company-owned   3,525    505    (199 )   (1 )   3,830  

Franchisees   199    150    (12 )   1    338  

Total   3,724    655    (211 )   —    4,168  
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Company Sales and Restaurant Profit 

 

The changes in Company sales and Restaurant profit were as follows: 

 

Income (Expense)  2024   

Store Portfolio 

Actions   Other   F/X   2025  

Company sales  $ 2,223   $ 44   $ 12   $ 3   $ 2,282  

Cost of sales   (727 )   (15 )   (9 )   (1 )   (752 ) 

Cost of labor   (628 )   (8 )   (3 )   (1 )   (640 ) 
Occupancy and other operating expenses   (600 )   (13 )   16    (1 )   (598 ) 

Restaurant profit  $ 268   $ 8   $ 16   $ —   $ 292  

 

In 2025, the increase in Company sales, excluding the impact of F/X, was primarily driven by net unit growth and same-

store sales growth. The increase in Restaurant profit, excluding the impact of F/X, was primarily driven by the increase in 

Company sales, favorable commodity prices and efficiency improvement from streamlined operations, partially offset by 

value-for-money offerings and increased delivery cost associated with higher delivery sales mix in the current year. 

 

Franchise Fees and Income/Revenues from Transactions with Franchisees 

 

In 2025, the increase in Franchise fees and income and Revenues from transactions with franchisees, excluding the impact 

of F/X, was primarily driven by acceleration of franchise store openings. 

 

Operating Profit 

 

In 2025, the increase in Operating profit, excluding the impact of F/X, was primarily driven by the increase in Restaurant 

profit. 

 

All Other Segments 

 

All Other Segments reflects the results of Lavazza, Huang Ji Huang, Little Sheep, Taco Bell and our delivery operating 

segment, and for 2024, also the e-commerce segment. 

 

        % B/(W)  

  2025   2024   Reported  Ex F/X  

Company sales  $ 40   $ 53    (25 )    (25 )   

Franchise fees and income   13    17    (19 )    (19 )   

Revenues from transactions with franchisees   79    71    11     11    

Other revenues   802    648    24     23    

Total revenues  $ 934   $ 789    18     18    

Company restaurant expenses  $ 45   $ 58    24     24    

G&A expenses  $ 30   $ 37    19     19    

Franchise expenses  $ 1   $ 1    (35 )    (35 )   

Expenses for transactions with franchisees  $ 73   $ 65    (13 )    (13 )   

Other operating costs and expenses  $ 783   $ 635    (23 )    (23 )   

Closure and impairment expenses, net  $ 3   $ 8    64     64    

Operating Loss  $ (1 )  $ (15 )   95     95    

OP margin (%)   (0.1 )%   (2.0 )%   1.9  ppts.   1.9  ppts.  

Restaurant loss  $ (5 )  $ (5 )   15     14    

Restaurant margin (%)   (13.7 )%   (12.1 )%   (1.6 ) ppts.   (1.6 ) ppts.  

 

Total Revenues 
 

In 2025, the increase in Total revenues, excluding the impact of F/X, was primarily driven by inter-segment revenue generated 

by our delivery team for services provided to Company-owned restaurants as a result of increased delivery sales, partially 

offset by decline in Company sales. 
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Operating Loss 

 

In 2025, the improvement in Operating loss, excluding the impact of F/X, was primarily driven by the decrease in Operating 

loss from certain emerging brands. 

 

Corporate and Unallocated 

 

        % B/(W)  

  2025   2024   Reported  Ex F/X  
Revenues from transactions with franchisees(a) 

 $ 347   $ 289    20     20    
Other revenues  $ 71   $ 64    10     10    
Expenses for transactions with franchisees(a) 

 $ 344   $ 286    (20 )    (20 )   

Other operating costs and expenses  $ 71   $ 63    (12 )    (12 )   
Corporate G&A expenses  $ 181   $ 173    (5 )    (4 )   
Other unallocated income, net  $ (1 )  $ (1 )   80     82    
Interest income, net  $ 92   $ 129    (29 )    (29 )   
Investment (loss) gain  $ (24 )  $ 40   NM    NM    
Income tax provision (See Note 14)  $ (369 )  $ (356 )   (4 )    (4 )   
Equity in net earnings (losses) from  

   equity method investments  $ 15   $ 5    198     196    
Effective tax rate (See Note 14)   27.2 %   26.7 %   (0.5 ) ppts   (0.5 ) ppts  
 

(a) Primarily includes revenues and associated expenses of transactions with franchisees derived from the Company’s 

central procurement model whereby food and paper products are centrally purchased and then mainly sold to KFC and 

Pizza Hut franchisees. Amounts have not been allocated to any segment for purposes of making operating decisions 

or assessing financial performance as the transactions are corporate revenues and expenses in nature. 

 

Revenues from Transactions with Franchisees 

  

In 2025, the increase in Revenues from transactions with franchisees, excluding the impact of F/X, was mainly due to the 

increase in system sales for franchisees primarily driven by acceleration of franchise store openings.   

  

Corporate G&A Expenses 

 

In 2025, the increase in Corporate G&A expenses, excluding the impact of F/X, was primarily driven by higher performance-

based compensation costs. 

 

Interest Income, Net 

 

In 2025, the decrease in interest income, excluding the impact of F/X, was primarily driven by lower interest rates and lower 

investment balance with cash used in return to shareholders. 

 

Investment (Loss) Gain 

 

The investment (loss) gain mainly relates to the change in fair value of our investment in Meituan Dianping (“Meituan”). See 

Note 3 for additional information. 
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Income Tax Provision 

 

Our income tax provision primarily includes tax on our earnings generally at the Chinese statutory tax rate of 25% with 

certain Chinese subsidiaries qualified for preferential tax rates, withholding tax on planned or actual repatriation of earnings 

outside of China, Hong Kong profits tax, and U.S. corporate income tax, if any. Our effective tax rate was 27.2% and 26.7% 

in 2025 and 2024, respectively. The higher effective tax rate in 2025 compared with that in 2024 was primarily due to higher 

withholding tax associated with higher planned repatriation of earnings outside of China and the impact from fair value 

change of our investment in Meituan. 

 

Key Balance Sheet Items 

  

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

  

As of December 31, 2025 and 2024, the Company’s cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the following currencies: 

 

  2025   2024  

RMB  $ 238   $ 199  

USD   264    519  

Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”)   3    4  

Euros   1    1  

Total  $ 506   $ 723  

 

For discussion of changes in Cash and Cash Equivalent, see Consolidated Cash Flows section below.  

 

Short-term Investments and Long-term Bank Deposits and Notes 

 

As of December 31, 2025, the decrease of short-term investments and long-term bank deposits and notes were primarily due 

to less purchase of these investments to fund return to shareholders. See Note 10 for details. 

 

Property, Plant and Equipment, net 

 

As of December 31, 2025, excluding the F/X impact, the increase of PP&E was mainly due to the increase in the number of 

our stores, partially offset by depreciation. 

 

Operating Lease Right-of-use (“ROU”) Assets and Liabilities 

 

As of December 31, 2025, excluding the F/X impact, ROU assets decreased, primarily due to the amortization of assets 

relating to existing leases with fixed lease payments and a higher portion of our leases with variable lease payments. The 

decrease of lease liabilities, excluding the F/X impact, was consistent with the decrease of ROU assets. 

 

Short-term Borrowings 

 

As of December 31, 2025, the decrease of short-term borrowings was due to the repayments of borrowings upon maturity. 
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Significant Known Events, Trends or Uncertainties Expected to Impact Future Results 

  

Tax Examination on Transfer Pricing  

  
We are subject to reviews, examinations and audits by Chinese tax authorities, the IRS and other tax authorities with respect  

to income and non-income based taxes. Since 2016, we have been under a national audit on transfer pricing by the STA in 

China regarding our related party transactions for the period from 2006 to 2015. The information and views currently 

exchanged with the tax authorities focus on our franchise arrangement with YUM. We continue to provide information 

requested by the tax authorities to the extent it is available to the Company. It is reasonably possible that there could be 

significant developments, including expert review and assessment by the STA, within the next 12 months. The ultimate 

assessment and decision of the STA will depend upon further review of the information provided, as well as ongoing technical 

and other discussions with the STA and in-charge local tax authorities, and therefore it is not possible to reasonably estimate 

the potential impact at this time. We will continue to defend our transfer pricing position. However, if the STA prevails in 

the assessment of additional tax due based on its ruling, the assessed tax, interest and penalties, if any, could have a material 

adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows. 

 

PRC Value-Added Tax (“VAT”) 

  
Effective May 1, 2016, a 6% output VAT replaced the 5% business tax (“BT”) previously applied to certain restaurant sales. 

Input VAT would be creditable to the aforementioned 6% output VAT. Our new retail business is generally subject to VAT 

rates at 9% or 13%. The latest VAT rates imposed on our purchase of materials and services mainly included 13%, 9% and 

6%, which were gradually changed from 17%, 13%, 11% and 6% since 2017. These rate changes impact our input VAT on 

all materials and certain services, mainly including construction, transportation and leasing. However, the impact on our 

operating results was insignificant. 

 
Entities that are general VAT taxpayers are permitted to offset qualified input VAT paid to suppliers against their output 

VAT upon receipt of appropriate supplier VAT invoices on an entity-by-entity basis. When the output VAT exceeds the input 

VAT, the difference is remitted to tax authorities, usually on a monthly basis; whereas when the input VAT exceeds the 

output VAT, the difference is treated as a VAT asset which can be carried forward indefinitely to offset future net VAT 

payables. VAT related to purchases and sales which have not been settled at the balance sheet date is disclosed separately as 

an asset and liability, respectively, on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. At each balance sheet date, the Company reviews the 

outstanding balance of any VAT asset for recoverability, giving consideration to the indefinite life of VAT assets as well as 

its forecasted operating results and capital spending, which inherently includes significant assumptions that are subject to 

change. As of December 31, 2025 and 2024, the Company has not made an allowance for the recoverability of VAT assets, 

as the balance is expected to be utilized to offset against VAT payables or be refunded in the future. 

 
In June 2022, the Chinese Ministry of Finance (“MOF”) and the STA jointly issued Announcement [2022] No. 21, to extend 

full VAT credit refunds to more sectors and increase the frequency for accepting taxpayers’ applications. Beginning on July 

1, 2022, entities engaged in providing catering services in China are allowed to apply for a lump sum refund of VAT assets 

accumulated prior to March 31, 2019. In addition, VAT assets accumulated after March 31, 2019 can be refunded on a 

monthly basis. In August 2025, the MOF and the STA jointly issued Announcement [2025] No. 7, amending the VAT refund 

policy. Effective September 1, 2025, certain industries (including the catering sector) are only eligible for a partial refund of 

VAT assets, subject to additional criteria stipulated in the announcement. 

 

As of December 31, 2025, current VAT assets of $142 million, non-current VAT assets of $14 million and net VAT payable 

of $6 million were recorded in Prepaid expenses and other current assets, Other assets and Accounts payable and other current 

liabilities, respectively, on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

 

The Company will continue to review the classification of VAT assets at each balance sheet date, giving consideration to 

different local implementation practices of refunding VAT assets and the outcome of potential administrative reviews.  
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We have been benefiting from the retail tax structure reform since it was implemented on May 1, 2016. However, the amount 

of our expected benefit from this VAT regime depends on a number of factors, some of which are outside of our control. The 

interpretation and application of the new VAT regime are not settled at some local governmental levels. On December 25, 

2024, China enacted the VAT Law, which came into effect on January 1, 2026 along with its implementation rules. In terms 

of tax rates, the VAT Law maintains the existing standard rates of 13%, 9%, and 6%. The Company will continue to monitor 

regulatory developments and evaluate any potential impact on our financial statements as further guidance becomes available. 

  

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate 

  

The reporting currency of the Company is the US$. Most of the revenues, costs, assets and liabilities of the Company are 

denominated in Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”). Any significant change in the exchange rate between US$ and RMB may 

materially affect the Company’s business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition, depending on the 

weakening or strengthening of RMB against the US$. See “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” for 

further discussion. 

  

Consolidated Cash Flows 

  

Net cash provided by operating activities was $1,466 million in 2025 as compared to $1,419 million in 2024. The increase 

was primarily driven by the increase in Operating profit along with working capital changes. 

 

Net cash used in investing activities was $5 million in 2025 as compared to $178 million in 2024. The decrease was mainly 

due to the net impact on cash flows resulting from purchases and maturities of short-term investments, long-term bank 

deposits and notes, and the decrease in capital spending.  

 

Net cash used in financing activities was $1,689 million in 2025 as compared to $1,636 million in 2024. The increase was 

primarily driven by the increase of cash dividends paid on common stock, the decrease in the net proceeds from short-term 

bank borrowings, partially offset by the fluctuation in share repurchases. 

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

 

Historically we have funded our operations through cash generated from the operation of our Company-owned stores and our 

franchise operations. Our global offering in September 2020 provided us with $2.2 billion in net proceeds. 

 

Our ability to fund our future operations and capital needs will primarily depend on our ongoing ability to generate cash from 

operations. We believe our principal uses of cash in the future will be primarily to fund our operations and capital expenditures 

for accelerating store network expansion and store remodeling, to step up investments in digitalization, automation and 

logistics infrastructure, to provide returns to our stockholders, as well as to explore opportunities for investments that build 

and support our ecosystem or strategic acquisitions. We believe that our future cash from operations, together with our funds 

on hand and access to the capital markets, will provide adequate resources to fund these uses of cash, and that our existing 

cash, net cash from operations and credit facilities will be sufficient to fund our operations and anticipated capital expenditures 

for the next 12 months. We currently expect our fiscal year 2026 capital expenditures to be in the range of approximately 

$600 million to $700 million. 

 

If our cash flows from operations are less than we require, we may need to access the capital markets to obtain financing. 

Our access to, and the availability of, financing on acceptable terms and conditions in the future or at all will be impacted by 

many factors, including, but not limited to: 

 our financial performance; 

 our credit ratings; 

 the liquidity of the overall capital markets and our access to capital markets; and 

 the state of the Chinese, U.S. and global economies, as well as relations between the Chinese and U.S. 

governments. 
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There can be no assurance that we will have access to the capital markets on terms acceptable to us or at all. 

  

Generally, our income is subject to the Chinese statutory tax rate of 25%. However, to the extent our cash flows from 

operations exceed our China cash requirements, the excess cash may be subject to an additional 10% withholding tax levied 

by the Chinese tax authority, subject to any reduction or exemption set forth in relevant tax treaties or tax arrangements. 

  

Share Repurchases and Dividends 

  

On December 11, 2025, our Board of Directors increased the share repurchase authorization by $1 billion to an aggregate of 

$5.4 billion, of which $1.2 billion remained available as of December 31, 2025. Yum China may repurchase shares under this 

program from time to time in the open market or, subject to applicable regulatory requirements, through privately negotiated 

transactions, block trades, accelerated share repurchase transactions and the use of Rule 10b5-1 trading plans. During the 

years ended December 31, 2025 and 2024, the Company repurchased 24.7 million shares of common stock for $1,136 million 

and 31.3 million shares of common stock for $1,242 million, respectively, under the repurchase program, excluding 

transaction costs and excise tax. 

  

The Company paid a cash dividend of $0.24 and $0.16 per share for each quarter of 2025 and 2024, respectively. Total cash 

dividends of $353 million and $248 million were paid to stockholders in 2025 and 2024, respectively.  

  

The Company plans to return $1.5 billion to shareholders in 2026, adding to both $1.5 billion it delivered to shareholders in 

2025 and 2024 in share repurchases and dividends. On February 4, 2026, the Board of Directors declared a 21% increase in 

the cash dividend, raising it to $0.29 per share, payable on March 25, 2026, to stockholders of record as of the close of 

business on March 4, 2026. The Company has entered into share repurchase agreements in the U.S. and Hong Kong for an 

aggregate repurchase amount of approximately $460 million through open market transactions for the first half of 2026. The 

share repurchase agreements include approximately $350 million under Rule 10b5-1 trading plans in the U.S. and 

approximately HK$880 million ($110 million) for a similar program in Hong Kong. 

 

The Company plans to return an average annual return of approximately $900 million to over $1 billion in 2027 and 2028, 

and to exceed $1 billion in 2028. 

 

Our plan of capital returns to shareholders is based on current expectations, which may change based on market conditions, 

capital needs or otherwise. Our ability to return capital to shareholders in the future is also subject to the factor described 

under “Forward-Looking Statements” included in the annual report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange 

Commission. In addition, our ability to declare and pay any dividends on our stock may be restricted by our earnings available 

for distribution under applicable Chinese laws. The laws, rules and regulations applicable to our Chinese subsidiaries permit 

payments of dividends only out of their accumulated profits, if any, determined in accordance with applicable Chinese 

accounting standards and regulations. Under Chinese laws, an enterprise incorporated in China is required to set aside at least 

10% of its after-tax profits each year, after making up previous years’ accumulated losses, if any, to fund statutory surplus 

reserve, until the aggregate amount of such a fund reaches 50% of its registered capital. As a result, our Chinese subsidiaries 

are restricted in their ability to transfer a portion of their net assets to us in the form of dividends. At the discretion of the 

board of directors, as an enterprise incorporated in China, each of our Chinese subsidiaries may allocate a portion of its after-

tax profits based on Chinese accounting standards to discretionary surplus reserve. These reserves are not distributable as 

cash dividends. 

 

Borrowing Capacity 

 

As of December 31, 2025, the Company had credit facilities of RMB10,495 million (approximately $1,502 million), 

comprised of onshore credit facilities in the aggregate amount of RMB7,700 million (approximately $1,102 million), offshore 

credit facilities in the aggregate amount of $200 million and a credit facility of $200 million that can be used for either onshore 

or offshore. 
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The credit facilities had remaining terms ranging from less than one year to three years as of December 31, 2025. Our credit 

facilities mainly include term loans, overdrafts, letters of credit, banker’s acceptance notes and bank guarantees. The credit 

facilities in general bear interest based on the Loan Prime Rate (“LPR”) published by the National Interbank Funding Centre 

of the PRC, or Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York. Each 

credit facility contains a cross-default provision whereby our failure to make any payment on a principal amount from any 

credit facility will constitute a default on other credit facilities. Some of the credit facilities contain covenants limiting, among 

other things, certain additional indebtedness and liens, and certain other transactions specified in the respective agreements. 

As of December 31, 2025, we had outstanding short-term bank borrowings of RMB210 million (approximately $30 million), 

mainly to manage working capital at our operating subsidiaries. Such bank borrowings are due within one year from their 

issuance dates. As of December 31, 2025, we also had outstanding bank guarantees of RMB296 million (approximately $42 

million) mainly to secure our lease payments to landlords for certain Company-owned restaurants, as well as outstanding 

bank guarantees of RMB360 million (approximately $52 million) to secure the balance of prepaid stored-value cards issued 

by the Company pursuant to regulatory requirements. Our credit facilities were therefore reduced by outstanding short-term 

bank borrowings, adjusted for unamortized interest and outstanding guarantees. As of December 31, 2025, the Company had 

unused credit facilities of approximately $1,378 million. 

 

Material Cash Requirements 

  

Our material short-term and long-term cash requirements as of December 31, 2025 included: 

 

  Total   

Less than 

1 Year   1-3 Years   3-5 Years   

More than 

5 Years  

Finance Leases(a)  $ 71   $ 8   $ 15   $ 14   $ 34  

Operating Leases(a)   2,592    516    825    565    686  

Short-term borrowings(b)   30    30    —    —    —  

Purchase Obligations(c)   271    22    186    29    34  

Total  $ 2,964   $ 576   $ 1,026   $ 608   $ 754  

 

(a) These obligations, which are shown on a nominal basis, relate primarily to approximately 15,000 Company-owned 

restaurants. See Note 9 for additional information. 

 

(b) This represents outstanding principal amount of short-term borrowings, by excluding the impact of debt discounts as 

of December 31, 2025. See Note 8 for additional information. 

 

(c) Purchase obligations relate primarily to capital expenditure commitment for infrastructure, as well as supply and service 

agreements. We have excluded agreements that are cancelable without penalty or have a remaining term not in excess 
of one year. Such commitments are generally near term in nature, will be funded from operating cash flows, and are 

not significant to the Company’s overall financial position. 

 

We have not included in the table above approximately $24 million of liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits related to the 

uncertainty with regard to the deductibility of certain business expenses incurred as well as related accrued interest and 

penalties. These liabilities may increase or decrease over time as a result of tax examinations, and given the status of the 

examinations, we cannot reliably estimate the period of any cash settlement with the respective taxing authorities. These 

liabilities exclude amounts that are temporary in nature and for which we anticipate that over time there will be no net cash 

outflow.  

 

Contingent Liabilities  

 

We had no material contingent obligations as of December 31, 2025. Please see Note 16 for further discussion. 

 

Gearing Ratio 

  

The gearing ratio of the Company, which was calculated by dividing total interest-bearing loans by total equity as of the end 

of the year, was 0.5% and 2.0% as of December 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively. 
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Pledge of Assets  

  

The Company is required to provide bank deposits, insurance or guarantees to secure the balance of prepaid stored-value 

cards issued by the Company pursuant to regulatory requirements. $29 million of time deposits in Short-term investments 

and $34 million of time deposits in Long-term bank deposits and notes as of December 31, 2025, and $60 million of time 

deposits in Long-term bank deposits and notes as of December 31, 2024, were restricted for use. Please see Note 10 for 

further discussion.  

 

Significant Investments Held 

  

None of our investments held constituted significant investments required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2 of the 

Hong Kong Listing Rules. Refer to Note 3 for our business acquisitions and equity investments. 
  

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital Assets 

  

We currently expect our fiscal year 2026 capital expenditures to be in the range of approximately $600 million to $700 

million. Please see Liquidity and Capital Resources section for further discussion.  

  

Material Acquisitions and Disposal of Subsidiaries and Joint Venture  

  

During the years ended December 31, 2025 and 2024, we did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries 

and joint venture. 

  

New Accounting Pronouncements 

 

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements 

 

See Note 2 for details of recently adopted accounting pronouncements. 

 

New Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted 

 

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03,  Income Statement-Reporting Comprehensive Income-Expense 

Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40) (“ASU 2024-03”), requiring public business entities to disclose in the notes 

to the financial statements, among other things, specific information about certain costs and expenses including purchases of 

inventory, employee compensation,  depreciation, amortization and depletion expenses for each caption on the income 

statement where such expenses are included.  ASU 2024-03 is effective for the Company for annual period from January 1, 

2027, and for interim periods from January 1, 2028, with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact 

the adoption of this standard may have on our financial statements. 

 

In July 2025, the FASB issued ASU 2025-05, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326), Measurement of Credit 
Losses for Accounts Receivable and Contract Assets (“ASU 2025-05”), which provides the option to elect a practical 

expedient to assume that the current conditions as of the balance sheet date will remain unchanged for the remaining life of 

the asset when developing a reasonable and supportable forecast as part of estimating expected credit losses on these 

assets. ASU 2025-05 is effective for the Company from January 1, 2026, with early adoption permitted. We will adopt this 

standard in the first quarter of 2026, and do not expect that the adoption of this standard will have a material impact on our 

financial statements. 

 

In September 2025, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2025-06, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other - Internal-

Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Targeted Improvements to the Accounting for Internal-Use Software" (“ASU 2025-06”), 

which  better aligns the accounting guidance to how software is developed by eliminating project stages from capitalization 

criteria, and further clarifies the threshold entities apply to begin capitalizing costs.  The amendment also enhances the 

disclosure requirements for internal-use software. ASU 2025-06 is effective for the Company from January 1, 2028, with 

early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact the adoption of this standard may have on our financial 

statements. 
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In December 2025, the FASB issued ASU 2025-10, Government Grants (Topic 832): Accounting for Government Grants 

Received by Business Entities (“ASU 2025-10”) to establish guidance on the recognition, measurement, and presentation of 

government grants received by business entities. The new standard leverages the principles in the accounting framework for 

government assistance in International Accounting Standard 20. ASU 2025-10 is effective for the Company for annual period 

from January 1, 2029, with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact the adoption of this standard 

may have on our financial statements. 
 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

 

Our reported results are impacted by the application of certain accounting policies that require us to make subjective or 

complex judgments. These judgments involve estimations of the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain and may 

significantly impact our quarterly or annual results of operations or financial condition. Changes in the estimates and 

judgments could significantly affect our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows in future years. A description 

of what we consider to be our most significant critical accounting policies and estimates follows. 

 

Loyalty Programs 

  

Each of the Company’s KFC and Pizza Hut reportable segments operates a loyalty program that allows registered members 

to earn points for each qualifying purchase. Points, which generally expire 18 months after being earned, may be redeemed 

for future purchases of KFC or Pizza Hut branded products or other products for free or at a discounted price. Points cannot 

be redeemed or exchanged for cash. The estimated value of points earned by the loyalty program members is recorded as a 

reduction of revenue at the time the points are earned, based on the percentage of points that are projected to be redeemed, 

with a corresponding deferred revenue liability included in Accounts payable and other current liabilities in the Consolidated 

Balance Sheets and subsequently recognized into revenue when the points are redeemed or expire. The Company estimates 

the value of the future redemption obligations based on the estimated value of the product for which points are expected to 

be redeemed and historical redemption patterns and reviews such estimates periodically based upon the latest available 

information regarding redemption and expiration patterns. 

  

Breakage Revenue 

  

We recognize revenues from prepaid stored-value products, including gift cards and product vouchers, when they are 

redeemed by the customer. Prepaid gift cards sold at any given point generally expire over the next 36 months, and product 

vouchers generally expire over a period of up to 12 months. We recognize breakage revenue, which is the amount of prepaid 

stored-value products that is not expected to be redeemed, either (1) proportionally in earnings as redemptions occur, in 

situations where the Company expects to be entitled to a breakage amount, or (2) when the likelihood of redemption is remote, 

in situations where the Company does not expect to be entitled to breakage, provided that there is no requirement for remitting 

balances to government agencies under unclaimed property laws. The Company reviews its breakage estimates at least 

annually based upon the latest available information regarding redemption and expiration patterns. 

  

Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets 

  

We review long-lived assets of restaurants (primarily operating lease right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment 

(“PP&E”)) semi-annually for impairment, or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 

of a restaurant may not be recoverable. We evaluate recoverability based on the restaurant’s forecasted undiscounted cash 

flows, which are based on our entity-specific assumptions, to the carrying value of such assets. The forecasted undiscounted 

cash flows incorporate our best estimate of sales growth based upon our operation plans for the unit and actual results at 

comparable restaurants. For restaurant assets that are deemed not to be recoverable, we write down the impaired restaurant 

to its estimated fair value. In determining the fair value of restaurant-level assets, we consider the highest and best use of the 

assets from market participants’ perspective, which is represented by the higher of the forecasted discounted cash flows of 

operating restaurants and the price market participants would pay to sub-lease the operating lease right-of-use assets and 

acquire remaining restaurant assets, even if that use differs from the current use by the Company. Key assumptions in the 

determination of fair value include reasonable sales growth assumption in generating after-tax cash flows that would be used 

by a franchisee in the determination of a purchase price for the restaurant, and market rental assumption for estimating the 

price market participants would pay to sub-lease the operating lease right-of-use assets. Estimates of forecasted cash flows 

of operating restaurants are highly subjective judgments and can be significantly impacted by changes in the business or 
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economic conditions. Estimates of the price market participants would pay to sub-lease the operating lease right-of-use assets 

are based on comparable market rental information that could be reasonably obtained for the property. In situations where 

the highest and best use of the restaurant-level assets from market participants’ perspective is represented by sub-leasing the 

operating lease right-of-use assets and acquiring the remaining restaurant assets, the Company continues to use these assets 

in operating its restaurant business, which is consistent with its long-term strategy of growing revenue through operating 

restaurant concepts. 

  

When we believe it is more likely than not a restaurant or groups of restaurants will be refranchised for a price less than their 

carrying value, but do not believe the restaurant(s) have met the criteria to be classified as held for sale, we review the 

restaurants for impairment. Expected net sales proceeds are generally based on actual bids from the buyer.  

  

The discount rate used in the fair value calculations is our estimate of the required rate-of-return that a franchisee would 

expect to receive when purchasing a similar restaurant or groups of restaurants and the related long-lived assets. 

  

We evaluate indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment on an annual basis or more often if an event occurs or 

circumstances change that indicates impairment might exist. We perform our annual test for impairment of our indefinite-

lived intangible assets at the beginning of our fourth quarter. When we evaluate these assets for impairment, we have the 

option to first perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether an intangible asset group is impaired.  If we believe, as 

a result of the qualitative assessment, that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the intangible asset group is less than 

its carrying amount, we will then perform a quantitative assessment. Fair value is an estimate of the price a willing buyer 

would pay for the intangible asset and is generally estimated by discounting the expected future after-tax cash flows associated 

with the intangible asset. The discount rate is our estimate of the required rate-of-return that a third-party buyer would expect 

to receive. These estimates are highly subjective, and our ability to achieve the forecasted cash is affected by factors such as 

changes in our operating performance and business strategies and changes in economic conditions. Our indefinite-lived 

intangible assets had a book value of $128 million and $123 million as of December 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively, 

representing two material indefinite-lived intangible assets, which are our Little Sheep and Huang Ji Huang trademarks.  

 

In the year ended December 31, 2025, we elected to perform the qualitative impairment assessment for the Little Sheep and 

Huang Ji Huang trademarks by evaluating all pertinent factors, including but not limited to macroeconomic conditions, 

industry and market conditions and financial performance and concluded that it was more likely than not that the assets were 

not impaired. No impairment charges on trademarks related to Little Sheep and Huang Ji Huang were recorded in 2025 and 

2024. 

  

Our finite-lived intangible assets that are not allocated to an individual restaurant are evaluated for impairment whenever 

events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the intangible asset may not be recoverable. An 

intangible asset that is deemed not recoverable on an undiscounted basis is written down to its estimated fair value, which is 

our estimate of the price a willing buyer would pay for the intangible asset based on discounted expected future after-tax cash 

flows. For purposes of our impairment analysis, we update the cash flows that were initially used to value the finite-lived 

intangible asset to reflect our current estimates and assumptions over the asset’s future remaining life. 

  

Impairment of Goodwill 

  

We evaluate goodwill for impairment on an annual basis as of the beginning of our fourth quarter or more often if an event 

occurs or circumstances change that indicates impairment might exist. When we evaluate goodwill for impairment, we have 

the option to first perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not the fair value of a reporting 

unit is less than its carrying amount. If we believe, as a result of the qualitative assessment, that it is more likely than not that 

the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, we will then perform a quantitative assessment. Our 

reporting units are our individual operating segments. Fair value is the price a willing buyer would pay for the reporting unit, 

and is generally estimated using discounted expected future after-tax cash flows from the business operation of the reporting 

unit. 

  

Future cash flow estimates and the discount rate are the key assumptions when estimating the fair value of a reporting unit. 

Future cash flows are based on growth expectations relative to recent historical performance and incorporate sales growth 

and margin improvement assumptions that we believe a third-party buyer would assume when determining a purchase price 
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for the reporting unit. The sales growth and margin improvement assumptions that factor into the discounted cash flows are 

highly correlated as cash flow growth can be achieved through various interrelated strategies such as product pricing and 

restaurant productivity initiatives. The discount rate is our estimate of the required rate-of-return that a third-party buyer 

would expect to receive when purchasing a business from us that constitutes a reporting unit. We believe the discount rate is 

commensurate with the risks and uncertainty inherent in the forecasted cash flows. These estimates are highly subjective, and 

our ability to achieve the forecasted cash is affected by factors such as changes in our operating performance and business 

strategies and changes in economic conditions. 

 

Our goodwill of $1,963 million as of December 31, 2025 was related to the KFC, Pizza Hut, Huang Ji Huang and Lavazza 

reporting units. In the year ended December 31, 2025, we elected to perform a qualitative impairment assessment for each of 

our individual reporting units of KFC, Pizza Hut, Huang Ji Huang and Lavazza. Based on our qualitative assessment, the 

Company concluded that no changes in events or circumstances have occurred that indicated impairment may exist and it 

was more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting units exceeds their carrying amount and therefore no quantitative 

assessment was required. No impairment charge on goodwill was recorded in 2025 and 2024.  

   

Share-Based Compensation 

  

We account for share awards issued to employees in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718 (“ASC 

718”), Compensation-Stock Compensation. Share-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the fair 

value of the award and is recognized as an expense, net of estimated forfeitures, over the requisite service period, which is 

generally the vesting period. We recognize share-based compensation expense for awards granted to employees and non-

employee directors using the straight-line method. 

  

We estimated the fair value of SARs at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model (“the BS model”). PSUs 

have market conditions that are based on the closing price of Yum China’s stock or relative total shareholder return against 

selected indices or the constituents of the indices measured over the performance period. The fair values of PSUs have been 

determined based on the outcome of a Monte-Carlo Simulation model (the “MCS model”). It should be noted that these 

pricing models require the input of highly subjective assumptions. Changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially 

affect the fair value estimate and, as a result, our operating profit and net income. 

  

Under the BS and MCS models, we made a number of assumptions regarding the fair value of the share-based awards, 

including: 

  

 the expected future volatility of the price of shares of Yum China common stock; 

 the risk-free interest rate; 

 the expected dividend yield; and 

 the expected term. 

  

We estimated the expected future volatility of the price of shares of Yum China common stock based on its historical 

volatility. The risk-free interest rate was based on the U.S. Treasury zero-coupon yield in effect with maturity terms equal to 

the expected term or performance measurement period of the awards. The dividend yield was estimated based on the 

Company’s dividend policy at the time of the grant. We use historical turnover data to estimate the expected forfeiture rate. 
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Income Taxes 

  

Uncertain Tax Positions 

 

We are subject to reviews, examinations and audits by Chinese tax authorities, the IRS and other tax authorities with respect  

to income and non-income based taxes. We recognize the benefit of positions taken or expected to be taken in our tax returns 

when it is more likely than not that the position would be sustained upon examination by these tax authorities. A recognized 

tax position is then measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement. 

At December 31, 2025 and 2024, we had $20 million and $19 million, respectively, of unrecognized tax benefits related to 

the uncertainty with regard to the deductibility of certain business expenses incurred. The ultimate outcome for a particular 

tax position may not be determined with certainty prior to the conclusion of a tax audit and, in some cases, appeal or litigation 

process. The actual benefits ultimately realized may differ from the Company’s estimates. We evaluate unrecognized tax 

benefits, including interest and penalty thereon, on a quarterly basis to ensure that they have been appropriately adjusted for 

events, including change or developments with respect to tax audits, audit settlements and expiration of the statute of 

limitation, which may impact our ultimate payment for such exposures.    

  

Since 2016, we have been under a national audit on transfer pricing by the STA in China regarding our related party 

transactions for the period from 2006 to 2015. The information and views currently exchanged with the tax authorities focus 

on our franchise arrangement with YUM. We continue to provide information requested by the tax authorities to the extent 

it is available to the Company. It is reasonably possible that there could be significant developments, including expert review 

and assessment by the STA, within the next 12 months. The ultimate assessment and decision of the STA will depend upon 

further review of the information provided, as well as ongoing technical and other discussions with the STA and in-charge 

local tax authorities, and therefore it is not possible to reasonably estimate the potential impact at this time. We will continue 

to defend our transfer pricing position. However, if the STA prevails in the assessment of additional tax due based on its 

ruling, the assessed tax, interest and penalties, if any, could have a material adverse impact on our financial position, results 

of operations and cash flows. 

  

Unremitted Earnings of Foreign Subsidiaries 
 

We have investments in our foreign subsidiaries where the carrying values for financial reporting exceed the tax basis. Except 

for the planned but yet to be distributed earnings, we have not provided deferred tax on the portion of the excess that we 

believe is indefinitely reinvested, as we have the ability and intent to indefinitely postpone the basis differences from reversing 

with a tax consequence. The Company’s separation from YUM was intended to qualify as a tax-free reorganization for U.S. 

income tax purposes resulting in the excess of financial reporting basis over tax basis in our investment in the China business 

continuing to be indefinitely reinvested. The excess of financial reporting basis over tax basis as of December 31, 2017 was 

subject to the one-time transition tax under the Tax Act as a deemed repatriation of accumulated undistributed earnings from 

the foreign subsidiaries. However, we continue to believe that the portion of the excess of financial reporting basis over tax 

basis (including earnings and profits subject to the one-time transition tax) is indefinitely reinvested in our foreign subsidiaries 

for foreign withholding tax purposes. We estimate that our total temporary difference for which we have not provided foreign 

withholding taxes is approximately $3 billion at December 31, 2025. The foreign withholding tax rate on this amount is 5% 

or 10% depending on the manner of repatriation, the applicable tax treaties or tax arrangements, as well as the interpretation 

in applying these treaties and arrangements.  

  

See Note 14 for a further discussion of our income taxes.  
 

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 
 

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk 
 

Changes in foreign currency exchange rates impact the translation of our reported foreign currency denominated earnings, 

cash flows and net investments in foreign operations, virtually all of which are denominated in RMB. While substantially all 

of our supply purchases are denominated in RMB, from time to time, we enter into agreements with third parties to purchase 

certain amount of goods and services sourced overseas and make payments in the corresponding local currencies at 

predetermined exchange rates when practical, to minimize the related foreign currency exposure with immaterial impact on 

our financial statements.  
  



 

83 

As substantially all of the Company’s operations are located in China, the Company is exposed to movements in the RMB 

foreign currency exchange rate. For the year ended December 31, 2025, the Company’s Operating profit would have 

decreased by approximately $120 million if the RMB weakened 10% relative to the U.S. dollar. This estimated reduction 

assumes no changes in sales volumes or local currency sales or input prices.  
 

Commodity Price Risk 
 

We are subject to volatility in food costs as a result of market risk associated with commodity prices. Our ability to recover 

increased costs through higher pricing is, at times, limited by the competitive environment in which we operate. We manage 

our exposure to this risk primarily through pricing agreements with our vendors. 
 

Investment Risk 
 

In September 2018, we invested $74 million in 8.4 million of Meituan’s ordinary shares. The Company sold 4.2 million of 

its ordinary shares of Meituan in the second quarter of 2020 for proceeds of approximately $54 million. Equity investment in 

Meituan is recorded at fair value, which is measured on a recurring basis and is subject to market price volatility. See Note 3 

for further discussion on our investment in Meituan. 

 

Other Information 

  

Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code 

  

The Board believes that good corporate governance is a critical factor in achieving business success and in fulfilling the 

Board’s responsibilities to stockholders. The Board has adopted corporate governance principles which are intended to 

embody the governance principles and procedures by which the Board functions. These principles are available on the 

Company’s website. Our corporate governance principles and practices are in line with the principles in the Corporate 

Governance Code as set out in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the Hong Kong Listing Rules (the “Corporate Governance Code”).  

  

During the year ended December 31, 2025, we have complied with all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance 

Code, save for the following. 

  

Code Provisions A.2.1, B.3.1, D.3.3, D.3.7 and E.1.2 of the Corporate Governance Code require the charters of the Audit 

Committee, the Compensation Committee and the Nominating and Governance Committee (collectively, the “Board 

Committees”) to include at least the terms as set out in such paragraphs. Currently, the charters of the Board Committees do 

not include certain of such terms. The Company has adopted the charters of the Board Committees in accordance with the 

NYSE listing rules and the rules of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (to the extent applicable), which in all 

material ways are similar to the terms of reference as required under the Corporate Governance Code despite different 

language being used. The relevant Board Committees have in practice carried out the relevant responsibilities as required 

under the Corporate Governance Code. 

  

Code Provisions E.1.2(a), (c) and (d) of the Corporate Governance Code require the remuneration committee to be responsible 

for directors’ remuneration. Currently, the Nominating and Governance Committee is responsible for reviewing and making 

recommendations to the Board with respect to the compensation and benefits of the directors. Given (i) it is customary for 

U.S. public companies to delegate this responsibility to either the Nominating and Governance Committee or the 

Compensation Committee, it is also common for U.S. listed companies to have the Nominating and Governance committee 

to carry out such responsibility; (ii) the Nominating and Governance Committee has been carrying out such responsibility 

since the Company’s listings on the NYSE and the HKEX; and (iii) the composition of the Nominating and Governance 

Committee also complies with the composition requirement of the remuneration committee as required under Rule 3.25 of 

the Hong Kong Listing Rules; the Board believes the current arrangement has achieved good corporate governance with 

respect to directors’ remuneration.  
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed Securities 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2025, the Company repurchased 24.7 million shares of common stock on the NYSE 

and the HKEX for an aggregate consideration of $1,136 million, excluding transaction costs and excise tax. Of the shares 

repurchased for the year ended December 31, 2025, 24.1 million shares were retired and resumed the status of authorized and 

unissued shares of common stock, and 0.6 million shares repurchased on the HKEX are expected to be retired subsequent to 

December 31, 2025 and included in Treasury stock in the Consolidated Financial Statements. We have used share repurchases 

as a means of returning cash to stockholders. 

 

Details of the shares repurchased on the NYSE are as follows: 

 

  No. of Shares   Price paid per share   Aggregate  

  Repurchased*   Highest   Lowest   Consideration  

Month of Repurchase  (thousands)   US$   US$   (US$ millions)  

January   968   $  47.56   $  41.78   $  43  

February   954     50.61     44.06     46  

March   988     53.97     48.24     50  

April   1,092     53.30     41.02     50  

May   1,144     46.99     41.96     50  

June   1,093     45.43     42.68     49  

July   1,490     49.35     45.36     70  

August   1,487     47.51     43.61     67  

September   2,794     45.47     42.59     124  

October   1,685     45.85     41.71     74  

November   2,811     48.93     43.08     132  

December   3,075     49.43     45.72     146  

                

Total   19,581           $  901  

 

Details of the shares repurchased on the HKEX are as follows: 

 

  No. of Shares   Price paid per share   Aggregate   Aggregate  

  Repurchased*   Highest   Lowest   Consideration(a)   Consideration(a)  

Month of 

Repurchase  (thousands)   HK$   HK$   (HK$ millions)   (US$ millions)  

January   231   HK$  360.40   HK$  325.80   HK$  80   $  10  

February   240     388.40     345.60     89     11  

March   230     420.20     374.20     90     12  

April   236     418.40     325.20     86     11  

May   270     366.00     329.80     93     12  

June   284     359.20     330.60     98     12  

July   370     389.00     353.40     138     18  

August   370     376.00     345.40     132     17  

September   667     356.60     332.40     231     30  

October   370     354.00     325.60     125     16  

November   1,068     380.40     334.80     393     51  

December   743     382.20     356.00     275     35  

                    

Total   5,079           HK$  1,830   $  235  

 

*: Shares may not add due to rounding 
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(a) Starting January 2024, the Company also repurchased shares of common stock through open market transactions on the 

HKEX. Aggregate consideration for shares repurchased on the HKEX have been converted into U.S. dollars at the exchange 

rate on the date of repurchase. 

 

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the 

Company’s listed securities during the year ended December 31, 2025. 

 

Audit Committee Review of Financial Statements  

  

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Consolidated Financial Statements and annual results of the Company for the year 

ended December 31, 2025. The Audit Committee has also discussed matters with respect to the accounting policies and 

practices adopted by the Company and internal control with members of senior management and the external auditor of the 

Company, KPMG. 

  

Scope of Work of the Company’s Auditor  

 

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company and its subsidiary companies for the year ended December 31, 2025 

prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP have been audited by the Company’s auditor, KPMG. The unqualified auditor’s 

report is set out on pages 2 to 6 of this announcement.  

  

Important Events after the Reporting Period 

  

Save as disclosed in Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, no important events affecting the Company occurred 

since December 31, 2025 and up to the date of this announcement. 

  

Publication of Annual Results and Annual Report 

  

This annual results announcement is published on the website of the HKEX (www.hkexnews.hk) and the website of the 

Company (http://ir.yumchina.com). The annual report of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2025 will be 

published on the aforesaid websites and dispatched to the Company’s shareholders in due course. 

  

Language 

  

If there is any inconsistency between the English version and Chinese version of this announcement, the English version shall 

prevail, provided that if there is any inconsistency between the Chinese names of the entities or enterprises established in the 

PRC mentioned in this announcement and their English translations, the Chinese names shall prevail. 


